The Vault

https://prism.ucalgary.ca

Open Theses and Dissertations

2018-07-06

Sensorimotor robotic changes of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children

Cole, Lauran

Cole, L. (2018). Sensorimotor robotic changes of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children (Master's thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca. doi:10.11575/PRISM/32328 http://hdl.handle.net/1880/107106 Downloaded from PRISM Repository, University of Calgary

UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Sensorimotor robotic changes of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children

by

Lauran Cole

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN NEUROSCIENCE

CALGARY, ALBERTA

JULY, 2018

© Lauran Cole 2018

Abstract

Non-invasive brain stimulation, such as transcranial direct-current stimulation (tDCS), can alter cortical excitability and human behavior but investigations to date have been limited in pediatrics. Emerging neurostimulation technologies such as high-definition tDCS (HD-tDCS) are unstudied in the developing brain. Application of tDCS can safely enhance motor skill acquisition in children but mechanisms are poorly understood. Robotics can objectively quantify sensorimotor function and may examine functional changes associated with motor learning and neurostimulation. We aimed to characterize the effects of tDCS and HD-tDCS on motor learning in healthy children. Our randomized, blinded, sham-controlled five day interventional trial demonstrated that both tDCS and HD-tDCS can enhance motor learning with medium to large effect sizes, lasting effects, and favorable safety and tolerability. To explore changes in sensorimotor function accompanying enhanced motor learning, a validated robotic protocol was performed before and after the trial. Motor training was associated with changes in sensory and motor function with less evident effects of stimulation. Both tDCS and HD-tDCS enhance motor learning in children while robotics can explore associated behavioural mechanisms, both of which promise to advance neurorehabilitation strategies in disabled children.

Preface

In fulfillment of a manuscript-based thesis, Chapter 2 has been submitted as, "Cole L^{*}, Giuffre A^{*}, Ciechanski P, Carlson HL, Zewdie E, Kuo H-C, & Kirton A. Effects of High-Definition and Conventional Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation on Motor Learning in Children. *Cerebral Cortex.* 2018" and "Cole L, Dukelow SP, Giuffre A, Nettel-Aguirre A, Metzler MJ, & Kirton A. Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children. *Neural plasticity.* 2018".

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my wonderful supervisor, Dr. Adam Kirton. It has been a pleasure being part of your supportive research team for the past five years. With your mentorship, I have grown from an eager summer student who had no idea where the motor cortex was to a MSc student whose project focused on motor cortex plasticity. Your guidance and support means the world to me. Thank you for always having an open door for questions, collaborations, and growing ideas. Thank you to Dr. Sean Dukelow and Dr. Carolyn Emery. I appreciate all of your thoughtful suggestions, guidance, and fostering my growth as a budding researcher. Thank you Dr. Patrick Ciechanski for all of your patience, encouragement, expertise, and for putting up with all of my "silly questions." Thank you to Adrianna Giuffre, Dr. Helen Carlson, Amy Webber, Chidera Nwaroh, Dr. Cherie Kuo, and Dr. Ephrem Zewdie for all the blood, sweat, and tears that went into AMPED. Thank you to the amazing Kirton lab. The past and present team members have shaped the lab into a place I loved working in everyday. Jacquie Hodge, Zeanna Jadavji, Dr. Amalia Floer, Dr. Alicia Hilderley, Asha Hollis, and Brandon Craig- you have made the lab a second home and I will miss you all dearly. Thank you to Megan Metzler, Mark Piitz, and Janice Yajure for fostering my KINARM skills. I would like to thank all of the children and their families who volunteered their time for the study. I would like to thank the Hotchkiss Brain Institute and Cumming School of Medicine for their support in pursing my passion for research.

Table of Contents		
Abstract	ii	
Preface	iii	
Acknowledgements	iv	
Table of Contents	v	
List of Table	vii	
List of Figures and Graphs	viii	
List of Symbols, Abbreviations and Nomenclature	xii	
Epigraph	1	
Chapter 1 – Introduction		
1.1 Thesis Goals	2	
1.2 Background	2	
1.2.1 Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation	2	
1.2.2 Neuroplasticity and motor learning	7	
1.2.3 Effects of tDCS and HD-tDCS on motor learning	13	
1.2.4 tDCS in Pediatric Populations	17	
1.2.5 Safety of tDCS and HD-tDCS	20	
1.2.6 Motor and Sensory System Anatomy	23	
1.2.7 Robotics	29	
1.2.8 Translational application of tDCS-enhanced motor learning:	33	
Perinatal stroke		
1.3 Rationale and Aims	35	
Chapter 2 – Effects of High-Definition and Conventional Transcranial		
Direct-Current Stimulation on Motor Learning in Children		
2.1 Abstract	37	
2.2 Introduction	37	
2.3 Materials and Methods	39	
2.4 Results	48	
2.5 Discussion	60	
2.6 Funding	66	

v

2.7 Acknowledgements	66
2.8 Bridge	67
Chapter 3 – Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS	
enhanced motor learning in children	
3.1 Abstract	69
3.2 Introduction	70
3.3 Materials and Methods	73
3.4 Results	82
3.4 Discussion	89
3.5 Data Availability	94
3.6 Conflicts of Interest	95
3.7 Funding Statement	95
3.8 Supplementary Material	95
Chapter 4 – Conclusions	
4.1 Summary of Main Findings	99
4.2 The effect of tDCS and HD-tDCS on motor learning	99
4.3 Safety of tDCS and HD-tDCS in a pediatric population	102
4.4 Robotic assessment of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning	103
4.5 Limitations	106
4.6 Study Implications	108
4.7 Future directions	108
4.8 References	110
Appendix A: Copy Right Permissions	128

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Participant demographics and baseline motor function by intervention groupTable 2.2 Group mean performance on the CNS Vital Signs neurocognitive batteryTable 3.1 Baseline demographics and motor function

List of Figures and Graphs

Figure 1.1 tDCS montages. (A) Conventional 1x1 tDCS montage of the right primary motor cortex with (B) the accompanying computational model of induced electric fields with tDCS. (C) HD-tDCS montage targeting the right M1 with (D) the accompanying computational model of induced electric fields.

Figure 2.1 AMPED protocol. (A) Participants received an MRI, complete tasks in a virtual reality KINARM robotic system, received TMS motor mapping (TMSMM), completed a series of motor assessments and then received training paired with non-invasive brain stimulation interventions. On days 2-4, subjects perform the PPT during intervention. Participants repeat the Day 1 tasks on Day 5 (with training) and at a six week retention testing follow up (RT). (B) PPT training is paired with stimulation by treatment groups with electrode montages (C) shown for tDCS (left) and HD-tDCS (right) where dark grey electrodes are anodes and light grey electrodes are cathodes. Black arrows represent the direction of current flow from anode to cathode(s).

Figure 2.2 Motor learning by treatment group. (A) The mean daily change from baseline (B) in left Purdue Pegboard (PPT_L) learning curves for sham (white triangles) were lower than both tDCS (grey circles) and HD-tDCS (black circles). Effects decayed by six week retention time (RT) for sham but not tDCS groups. (B) Daily mean scores per repetition of the PPT_L are shown for the same 3 groups. Error bars represent standard error. *p<0.05 for tDCS vs. sham, # p<0.05 for HD-tDCS vs. sham. **Figure 2.3** Online and offline learning effects on left hand Purdue Pegboard (PPT_L) for the three intervention groups. The online effects represent the difference in PPT_L score from the first and last training point of the day. The offline learning represents the difference between the last training time point of the day to the first training point of the following day. Error bars represent standard error. *p<0.05, **p<0.01

Figure 2.4 Effect of performance status on motor learning enhancement. (A) Low performers (baseline PPT_L below the median score) demonstrated marked separation of PPT_L learning curves with tDCS (grey circles) and HD-tDCS (black circles) outperforming sham (white triangles). (B) Treatment group effects were not observed for high performers. B refers to baseline. Error bars represent standard error. *p<0.05 for sham vs. tDCS, #p<0.05 for sham vs. HD-tDCS.

Figure 2.5 Secondary motor outcomes. (A) Change in Purdue Pegboard Test (PPT) scores at post-training and retention time (RT) demonstrated treatment group effects for PPT_A . PPT subtests are left (PPT_L), right (PPT_R), bimanual (PPT_{LR}), sum of scores (PPT_S), and assembly (PPT_A). *p<0.05. **(B)** Jebsen-Taylor Test of Hand Function left and right (JTT_L , JTT_R) demonstrated treatment group effects bilaterally at post-training and RT. **(C)** Serial Reaction Time Task (SRTT) curves with and without <200ms responses are shown. Blocks 1 and 6 are random while all others follow a 12-character sequence. **(D)** SRTT by intervention group with <200ms responses excluded. Error bars represent standard error.

Figure 2.6 Combined PPT_L training data for sham and tDCS groups over 3 days. (A) Sham (white triangles, n=14) learning curves were inferior to both tDCS (grey circles, n=14) and HDtDCS (black circles, n=8) groups. (B) Mean daily learning for the same three groups form the combined studies. Both the tDCS and HD-tDCS groups placed more pegs each day as compared to sham.

Figure 3.1 Pediatric KINARM robot tasks for visually guided reaching, kinesthesia, and position matching tasks for an exemplar 18 year old female. (A) Frontal view of the KINARM robotic apparatus. (B) Visually guided reaching performance for the left hand and speed profile for the movement out from the center to the bottom left target. (C) Visually guided reaching performance for the right hand and speed profile for the movement from the center out to the bottom left target. The participant reached out from a central target to one of the four peripheral targets and reached back to the center target. (D) Kinesthesia single direction hand paths. Blue lines represent the robot movement of the passive left arm, red lines represent the active arm path. Grey circles represent the location of robotic movement targets. Hand speed profile show the speed of the passive (blue) and active (red) arm. (E) End positions for the position matching task. Closed symbols represent the positions where the robot moved the participants' passive left arm. The solid green lines represent the border of the outer 8 targets. Open symbols on the right represent where the participant mirror matched with their active right arm. The ellipses represent variability of matching (1SD). Open symbols on the left are the mirrored representation of the subject's attempts to match so the readers can easily compare the two arms.

Figure 3.2 Visually guided reaching with the left hand. A) Scatterplot of baseline left hand Purdue Pegboard Task (PPT_L) score and baseline reaction time. B) Reaction time at pretraining (white), post-training (light grey), and follow-up (dark grey) across the three intervention groups: sham, tDCS, and HD-tDCS. C) Total movement time across the three intervention groups at pre-training, post-training, and follow-up. D) The number of speed peaks across the three intervention groups at pre-training, post-training, and follow-up.

Figure 3.3 Kinesthesia task. A) Scatter plot of age versus baseline initial direction error (IDE) (black circles) and variability of IDE (IDEv) (grey circles). B) The baseline IDE across the three intervention groups at pre-training (white), post-training (light grey), and follow-up (dark grey). C) The peak speed ratio (PSR) across the pre-training, post-training, and follow-up in the three intervention groups.

Figure 3.4 Position matching task endpoint variability (Var_{xy}). A) Scatter plot of baseline Var_{xy} and baseline left hand Purdue Pegboard score (PPT_L). The Var_{xy} across three intervention groups at pre-training (white), post-training (light grey), and follow-up (dark grey).

Figure 3.5 Object Hit task. A) The number of total hits with the left hand and B) number of total hits with the right hand across the three intervention groups at pre-training (white), post-training (light), and follow-up C) The hand bias hits across the three intervention groups at pre-training, post training, and follow-up. *p<0.05

Figure S3.1. Trial design

List of Symbols, Abbreviations and Nomenclature

Symbol	Definition
AMPED	Accelerated Motor Learning in Pediatrics
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
CIMT	Constraint-induced movement therapy
Cm	Centimeters
СР	Cerebral palsy
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CST	Corticospinal tract
DCML	Dorsal column medial lemniscus
FDI	First dorsal interosseous
fMRI	Functional magnetic resonance imaging
GABA	γ -aminobutyric acid
HD-tDCS	High-definition Transcranial Direct-Current
	Stimulation
HICCUP	Healthy Infant and Children Clinical Research
	Program
IDE	Initial direction error
IHI	Interhemispheric inhibition
JTT	Jebsen-Taylor Test

KINARM	Kinesiological Instrument for Normal and
	Altered Reaching Movements
LTP	Long-term potentiation
M1	Primary Motor cortex
MEP	Motor evoke potential
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MRS	Magnetic resonance spectroscopy
MT	Movement time
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NSP	Number of speed peaks
PLR	Path length ratio
PPT _A	Purdue Pegboard Test assembly
PPT _L	Left hand Purdue Pegboard Test
PPT _{LR}	Left and right hand Purdue Pegboard Test
PPT _R	Right hand Purdue Pegboard Test
PPTs	Purdue Pegboard Test sum of scores
PSR	Peak speed ratio
REDCap	Research Electronic Data Capture
RL	Response latency
RT	Retention time
rTMS	Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation
SEP	Somatosensory evoked potentials

Shift _{xy}	Systematic shift
SMA	Supplementary motor area
SRTT	Serial Reaction Time Test
SVIPT	Sequential visual isometric pinch-force task
TBI	Traumatic brain injury
tDCS	Transcranial direct-current stimulation
TMS	Transcranial magnetic stimulation
TMSMM	Transcranial magnetic stimulation motor
	mapping
Var _{xy}	Endpoint variability

Epigraph

A man who dares to waste one hour of time has not discovered the value of life.

- Charles Darwin

Chapter 1 - Introduction

1.1 Thesis Goals

Transcranial direct-current stimulation (tDCS) is a form of non-invasive brain stimulation with the potential to modulate cortical excitability and behaviour. There are promising advances in adult and pediatric literature suggesting the possible role of primary motor cortex (M1) targeting tDCS in the enhancement of motor learning. High-definition tDCS (HD-tDCS) has not been applied in a pediatric population and the safety, tolerability, and efficacy in motor learning requires exploration. The mechanisms underlying tDCS and HD-tDCS need to be defined in children to further optimize the effects of tDCS in clinical populations such as those with cerebral palsy (CP). The goals of this thesis are to determine: 1) the effects of tDCS and HDtDCS on motor learning in healthy children, 2) the sensorimotor functional changes induced by tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in healthy children, and 3) assess the safety and tolerability of HD-tDCS in a pediatric population.

1.2 Background

1.2.1 Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation

The first modern application of controlled polarized direct current across the scalp was performed by Priori and colleagues [1]. This group briefly applied current, which under certain paradigms, was capable of producing small changes in cortical excitability. This study motivated the seminal work of Nitsche and Paulus that established the modern approach to tDCS in 2000 [2]. Since this time, tDCS has been applied in a variety of clinical and behavioral contexts, such as stroke, CP, depression, Parkinson's disorder, and notably, motor skill enhancement. To date, over 33,000 sessions have been performed [3–7].

Early animal investigations suggested that the application of subthreshold current traveling from an anode to a cathode generated weak electric field in neurons in slice preparations [8–10]. These induced electric fields lead to a change in membrane potential and spontaneous neuronal firing patterns [2,11,12]. Different neurons were modulated to various extents. Importantly, layer V/VI pyramidal neurons may be depolarized or hyperpolarized [13].

Modern tDCS applied across the scalp also may shift cortical excitability resulting in a state of net excitation or inhibition [2,14,15]. The shift in cortical excitability is dependent on two important factors: the direction of current flow (polarity) and the amount of current (intensity). In the context of tDCS, polarity is typically classified by the terms anodal or cathodal stimulation. Anodal stimulation refers to placement of an anode over the targeted area on the scalp and a cathode over an inert location such as the supraorbital area or deltoid. The cathodal montage involves placing the cathode over the targeted brain region and the anode over an inert location. Anodal tDCS is thought to depolarize targeted neurons, whereas cathodal tDCS often hyperpolarizes the same neuronal populations. While this is a general rule of thumb, the precise relationship is complex and various exceptions to this rule have been recognized [14,16]. For example, under certain conditions these montages may have opposite effects on the excitability of the targeted region. Polarity-dependent effects are linked to neuronal-electric field interactions and may be explained by the direction of induced electric fields. When the electric fields are polarized in the direction of the dendrites towards the axons (as M1 neurons are in M1-targeting anodal tDCS), then the axon and soma will be depolarized and the dendritic tree will be hyperpolarized [13,17]. With cathodal stimulation, the opposite interaction is observed and the

electric field points from the axon to the dendrites, resulting in the axon and soma becoming hyperpolarized. The current intensity is also an important factor in determining tDCS effects, however a higher intensity of stimulation does not necessarily lead to larger changes in cortical excitability. Cathodal tDCS at 1mA has been found to decrease cortical excitability [14]. However, these effects are reversed at 2mA, where cathodal tDCS increases cortical excitability [14]. There are many other factors that complicate polarity-dependent effects of tDCS such as genetics, anatomy, sex, and hormones [18].

Various pharmacological investigations have probed the underlying mechanisms of tDCS. The modulatory effects of tDCS can be classified as immediate- or after-effects. Immediate effects refer to changes in neuronal excitability while the stimulation is being applied, whereas after-effects are still present after stimulation has been terminated. The immediate excitability modulating effects of anodal tDCS appear to be dependent on interactions with ion channels. The blockage of sodium channels with the application of carbamazepine, which reduces membrane permeability to sodium ions, completely abolishes changes in cortical excitability induced by anodal tDCS [19,20]. Likewise, the application of the calcium channel blocker flunarizine, reducing the permeability of calcium ions across them membrane, diminishes the cortical excitability increases seen with anodal tDCS [19,20]. In contrast, N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonists [20] or γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA)_A receptor agonists [21] do not influence immediate effects of anodal tDCS. Therefore, the interaction between electric fields and sodium and calcium channels appears to largely contribute to the immediate effects of anodal tDCS.

In addition to the immediate effects, there are lasting after-effects associated with tDCS [2,11]. These changes may be dependent on synaptic modulation of interneurons. The application of a partial NMDA agonist (D-cycloserine) extends the time of cortical excitability changes following the application of anodal tDCS [22]. Supporting the role of NMDA channels, the application of a NMDA receptor antagonist abolishes the after-effects observed of anodal stimulation [19]. GABA may also have a role in the lasting effects of tDCS. The addition of a GABA_A receptor agonist initially delayed, but then prolonged and enhanced anodal tDCS generated changes in cortical excitability [23]. Pharmacological investigations of the acute and late effects of tDCS have not been studied in children, partially due to less experience in this population and challenges of drug trials in pediatrics.

The anodal and cathodal tDCS montages described earlier are referred to as 'conventional tDCS montages.' Conventional montages traditionally use large sponge electrodes soaked in saline (Figure 1A). These large electrodes lead to diffuse current distribution that effects the target area (Figure 1B), but in the process, also modulates 'off-target' cortical regions and deeper brain structures [24]. Recently, high-definition tDCS (HD-tDCS) montages have been developed and have been used to distribute current more focally to target cortical regions. The HD-tDCS montage involves a central anode surrounded by four cathodes (4x1 anodal HD-tDCS) (Figure 1C). The 4x1 anodal HD-tDCS montage can apply current in a relatively focal manner with generation of stronger electric fields in the target region compared to conventional tDCS [25] (Figure 1D). Modeling studies have suggested the 4x1 ring electrode configuration results in maximal electric field strength under the target electrode and current flow is constrained by the ring radius, resulting in more restricted electric fields and less off-target stimulation [26]. HD-

tDCS can also induce bi-directional changes in cortical excitability and the principle effects are similar to those of conventional tDCS [26]. The neurophysiological effects of HD-tDCS may be comparable but are not likely equivalent to conventional tDCS. For example, with conventional anodal tDCS, cortico-spinal excitability is increased to a larger extent immediately after tDCS, but then gradually returns to baseline levels. However in HD-tDCS, the induced plasticity reaches the peak change in excitability around 30 minutes after stimulation, and furthermore the after-effects lasted 30 minutes longer than conventional tDCS [26].



Figure 1.1 tDCS montages. (A) Conventional 1x1 tDCS montage of the right primary motor cortex with (B) the accompanying computational model of induced electric fields with tDCS. (C) HD-tDCS montage targeting the right M1 with (D) the accompanying computational model of induced electric fields.

Advanced computational models have been utilized to understand electric field strength and its distribution in the brain [27–30]. The effects of tDCS are dependent on the electric field direction and strength at the neuronal level. These factors are dependent on the bioavailable dose, which is influenced by neuroanatomical factors such as skull thickness, electrode position, and precise gyral neuroanatomy [24,31,32]. Combining MRI with finite-element modeling shows how individual elements such as soft tissue, bone, air, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), white matter, and cortical and deep gray matter affect current flow. Current modeling studies confirm that

conventional tDCS has poorly focused current distribution with discrete clusters of electric field magnitude peaks [31]. The current maxima are often seen between electrodes, rather than under electrodes [33], and reflect idiosyncratic anatomical differences across individuals [34]. By using a restrictive electrode montage, such as that of HD-tDCS, the induced-electric fields are more limited to the target area under the active electrodes, and the peak electric fields fall within this region [27,34].

1.2.2 Neuroplasticity and motor learning

Neuroplasticity is the modulation and reorganization of neuronal connections that produce longlasting changes in brain function. For an intervention to have persistent effects on behavior, it must demonstrate the ability to induce a lasting functional change in the brain [35]. Synaptic plasticity mechanisms induce persistent functional changes but are poorly understood, especially in the developing brain. The Hebbian theory proposes that mechanisms underlying neuroplasticity include neurons that fire together will establish connections and become more efficient over time [36]. This efficiency may manifest as strengthened connections or formation of new connections. This theory has been expanded and many mechanisms for synaptic strength modulation have been identified. Long-term potentiation (LTP) is a well-established mechanism by which synaptic strength is increased by repeated activation of neuronal connections [37,38]. LTP has been classically defined in memory formation where original studies observed the effects in dentate nuclei of the hippocampus. More recently, groups have demonstrated a form of LTP prominent in the motor cortex and motor learning [38,39]. This form of plasticity in the motor cortex is referred to as LTP-like plasticity. The balance between neuronal excitation and inhibition is important in inducing LTP-like plasticity. Multiple neurotransmitter systems are implicated in these processes including glutamate and NMDA receptors. The induction of LTP-like plasticity is blocked when an NMDA receptor antagonist is applied, highlighting the role of glutamate in neuroplasticity [40]. Other neurotransmitters such as GABA are also important in the modulation of LTP-like plasticity in M1. Modulation of GABA may be necessary for LTP to occur [40], demonstrated through the induction of LTP-like plasticity when a GABA_A receptor antagonist is applied [41].

Functional MRI (fMRI) studies have suggested that neuroplastic changes occur during motor skill training, and this may be linked to changes in cortical activation in M1 and other motor regions [42]. Animal studies have identified that learning and practicing a new skill is associated with plastic changes in the brain, particularly an increased efficacy of horizontal connections within M1 [43]. Horizontal connections found in layer II and III of M1 are strengthened following multi-day motor training [43]. These connections allow for an expansion of motor representations into surrounding areas [44]. These horizontal connections may play a role in explaining why an induction of LTP-like plasticity is observed with reduction of GABA activity. With reduced GABA activity, there is a lack of suppression on these connections allowing them to be modulated and strengthened. Further evidence suggests that following motor training, the balance of plasticity may be shifted to a state of reduced LTP and increased long-term depression (LTD) in M1 layer II and III horizontal connections [45]. This shift in plasticity demonstrates the possible role of LTP-like mechanisms underlying motor learning. The neuroplastic changes following motor skill acquisition may also explain the phenomenon of skill ceilings, where additional training does not lead to further improvements in skill [45]. Because the available potential for LTP has been expanded by motor learning, the baseline level of M1 synaptic efficacy is already at the upper limit of the synaptic modification range. Therefore, further LTP cannot occur, occluding further skill gains.

Despite the recognition of these primary systems in motor learning and the ability to measure them in vivo with advanced imaging and neurophysiologic investigations, studies have been limited in pediatric populations.

The acquisition of new motor skills, and long-term retention of those skills, is crucial in our daily lives. Motor skill learning is defined as a process where repeated practice of movements leads to increased performance with greater speed and accuracy [46]. Motor learning is made up of skill acquisition and motor adaptation. Motor learning normally occurs in different phases. Often skills will develop fast initially and then progress at a more gradual improvement [47].

Skills may be acquired via two modes of learning, online and offline. Both online and offline learning processes can contribute to skill acquisition and long-term retention [48]. Online learning refers to skill learning within the task training period and is often associated with rapid, large improvements. The use of positron emission tomography and fMRI has explored rapid online learning in fast sequence learning task and identified an association between reaction time and activity in frontoparietal networks [49–51]. Online learning has been shown to change functional connectivity of the motor network and within session learning is mediated by

increased interconnectivity of the motor cortex, sensorimotor cortex, premotor cortex, and supplementary motor area (SMA) regions [51]. One study utilized motor sequence learning and MR spectroscopy (MRS) and identified a decrease in GABA in the sensorimotor cortex contralateral to the trained hand, which was associated with online learning of a motor sequence task [52]. Mouse models have suggested that a decrease in GABAergic inhibition has also been found to enhance LTP-like activity in the motor cortex [53,54]. Pharmacological studies have also suggested that plasticity in the sensorimotor cortex is modulated by local changes in GABA concentrations [55,56].

Motor sequence tasks are commonly used to examine online skill learning and further understand implicit and explicit learning paradigms. Explicit learning refers to conscious awareness of the task being learned while implicit learning occurs without recognition of the task. A neuroimaging study examined the diversity of brain regions associated with online explicit and implicit motor sequence learning [49]. They identified that explicit online learning was associated with increased activity in the posterior parietal cortex, premotor cortex, left SMA and left thalamus. Implicit online motor learning, however, was associated with increased activity in the sensorimotor cortex. The effects of implicit online learning were further explored and the same study identified increased activity in the premotor cortex and SMA [57]. This is a controversial topic, as a different study identified that with single session rapid learning there was a decrease, rather than an increase, in activity in the posterior parietal cortex, M1, and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex [50]. This diminished activity is thought to possibly reflect improved network efficiency, requiring recruitment of fewer neuronal resources.

Offline learning (consolidation) occurs after the training session has ended, is normally involved in skill stabilization or improvement, and is task dependent [58-60]. This stabilization involves neural network reorganization through changes in synaptic intracellular signal transduction cascades and neuronal protein synthesis [61]. M1 is thought to play an important role in adapting and modulating previously consolidated motor memories [62]. Evidence of this comes from an inability to modify previously consolidated motor memory after a temporary virtual lesion in M1 was created using transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) [62]. Sleep may be crucial in offline motor learning, as neuronal process that occur during sleep promote consolidation [63]. The effects of sleep on motor learning have been explored using sequential finger-tapping tasks, where a pattern is displayed and participants must tap the correct sequence on a keyboard as quickly as possible [60,64]. Explicit offline learning relied on sleep between training sessions, suggesting that higher order brain regions may be involved in consolidation [60,65,66]. However, sleep may not have a role in implicit offline motor learning [67]. When the serial reaction time task (SRTT), an implicit motor learning task, was administered in adults, offline learning depended on the passage of time between sessions [63]. Implicit learning reaction time was associated with increased activity in the primary sensorimotor cortex, compared to explicit motor learning that was correlated with activity of the frontoparietal network [49,68]. This difference between explicit and implicit offline learning may reflect differences in the modification of neural substrates [49,68].

Motor learning is not restricted to motor areas of the brain but may also involve changes to sensory areas. There are diverse connections between the M1 and somatosensory areas that may drive experience-dependent plasticity [69]. This study utilized a force field reaching task and

demonstrated changes in limb position sense [70]. There have been multiple studies examining the electrophysiological changes in sensory systems associated with motor learning. A study examining naïve monkeys trained in a novel tongue protrusion task found changes in orofacial somatosensory cortex activity following orofacial motor learning [71]. This study found rapid and long-lasting changes to both the M1 and the somatosensory cortex associated with behavioral improvements in task performance. Another study examined change in somatosensory-evoked potentials (SEP) following force-field learning in humans [70]. This group found that change in SEP magnitude was correlated with motor learning, where subjects who learned more showed greater changes in SEP magnitude. Others have examined changes in sensorimotor integration using SEP and concurrent performance changes following a repetitive task. They found that complex motor training led to an increase in sensorimotor integration processing [72]. Likewise, sensory training acts directly on the motor system to improve motor learning and increase the excitability of M1 [69].

The adaptation of internal models for new kinematic and dynamic experiences is also crucial in motor learning. Kinematic conditions refer to spatial information such as the angles of the arm or position of the hand. The dynamic experiences include forces acting on the joints during movement. With dynamic tasks, the brain adapts to forces by adjusting or reorganizing motor commands to generate new actions. There have been multiple behavioral, neurophysiological, and neuroimaging studies demonstrating that the acquisition of motor skills relies on sensory and motor plasticity [69].

There have also been novel neuroimaging studies exploring alterations in sensory areas of the

brain following motor learning. With force field adaptation training, there were resting-state network changes in the second somatosensory cortex, SMA, and ventral premotor cortex [73]. This finding possibly demonstrates a link between perceptual change and motor learning. Another study identified that the resting-state connectivity of the left supramarginal gyrus was strengthened after daily sequential finger movement training was performed for four weeks [74]. This study also identified an increase in resting-state functional connectivity in the right postcentral gyrus and right supramarginal gyrus in the first two weeks of training. These studies support that motor adaptation involves changes in both the motor and somatosensory systems. Other types of learning, such as perceptual learning, improve our ability to interpret sensory inputs [75]. Perceptual learning is driven by experience and is associated with plasticity of the sensory system. These plastic effects are dependent on afferent inputs from the periphery, as well as projections from motor areas [69]. Perceptual learning may produce changes in motor function and motor areas of the brain [69].

Measuring motor learning can be difficult as studies in the past have defined improvements as reduction in movement time, decrease in reaction time, or less variability. Robotics can be a useful tool in examining the effects of motor learning and this topic is discussed later.

1.2.3 Effects of tDCS and HD-tDCS on motor learning

When combined with behavioral tasks, tDCS may modulate task performance. There has been extensive literature describing the effects of tDCS on motor learning in the adult population. By altering cortical excitability concurrent to motor skill training, tDCS has been suggested to enhance motor learning in adults [2,76]. It has been shown that tDCS can be effective at

increasing the rate of skill acquisition in a variety of motor tasks [77]. The precise effect of tDCS on motor learning is dependent on montage, timing of application with motor task execution, and the type of training, among a host of factors [76]. There has been recent work examining the effects of tDCS in a pediatric population, which is discussed later, however most investigations are limited to adults.

Three different conventional tDCS montages are commonly used to modulate motor learning: anodal, cathodal, and bihemispheric tDCS. The montage used most frequently is anodal tDCS, where the anode is placed over the M1 contralateral to the trained hand and cathode over the supraorbital area. Anodal tDCS has been hypothesized to modulate LTP-like plasticity through NMDA receptors, resulting in an increase in postsynaptic calcium levels allowing for increased synaptic modification involved in motor learning [35]. The Hebbian plasticity models described earlier support that sustained improvements in a trained skill may be due to synaptic plasticity changes in M1 [36]. Therefore, by increasing the potential for synaptic modification, anodal tDCS may promote Hebbian plasticity. Enhancing motor learning requires certain crucial cortical or sub-cortical targets to be stimulated. For example, the application of anodal tDCS to the ipsilateral (dominant) M1 does not affect motor skill acquisition of the non-dominant hand, whereas application to the contralateral (non-dominant) M1 improves hand function [78]. This relationship may be dependent on the polarity of the stimulation, as application of cathodal tDCS over the ipsilateral M1 may also enhance skill acquisition [79]. Cathodal tDCS is thought to reduce M1 transcallosal inhibition, indirectly influencing the excitability of the contralateral (trained) M1 [76,79]. Both anodal and cathodal tDCS approaches have been combined into a

montage described as bihemispheric tDCS, which targets both M1. Bihemispheric tDCS has also been shown to improve motor skill learning [80].

The timing of when the task training occurs relative to tDCS application also influences the resulting effects. Motor training completed concurrent to tDCS or immediately after training has been shown to enhance motor performance [76]. Motor training paired before [81] and after [82] stimulation has been studied less frequently and results are mixed. Motor training is activity dependent and it is possible that homeostatic effects may occur in M1 when tDCS is applied directly before training [76].

Many studies have shown that tDCS enhances motor learning [83–85]. These studies have identified that targeting M1 with anodal tDCS, concurrent to hand training increases the rate of skill acquisition. Importantly, multiple days of a tDCS-paired training leads to larger effects than single day trials. The effects of tDCS on motor learning may be task-dependent. For example, fine motor skills may be more sensitive to improvement than gross motor skills [77]. The Purdue Pegboard Test (PPT) measures fine motor hand dexterity [86] and provides a unique tool to measure hand skill function. Kidgell et al.[87] paired the PPT with anodal tDCS and demonstrated hand skill improvements with anodal tDCS compared to sham. In their seminal study, Reis et al.[83] used a novel fine motor skill, the sequential visual isometric pinch-force task, to examine the effects of M1 anodal tDCS on skill acquisition. Unlike the single session studies, in this study participants trained for five days on this novel and challenging motor task. Compared to controls receiving sham tDCS, there were large improvements in skill in the anodal tDCS group, and these improvements persisted up to three months after the training. Importantly,

the effects of tDCS were observed predominantly in the form of consolidation (offline learning) rather than daily practice effects (online learning). Gross motor skills may show less improvement especially when performed with the dominant hand. Therefore, it is important to be cognizant of skill ceilings. Past studies have focused on using the non-dominant hand in motor learning studies to avoid this skill ceiling. The dominant hand skill may be closer to reaching this 'ceiling' at baseline, and therefore may have less potential to improve. These skill ceiling effects have been examined when anodal tDCS was applied during training of daily life tasks, assessed using the Jebsen-Taylor Hand Function Test (JTT). Improvements in score were only noted in the non-dominant hand and not the dominant hand [88]. Improved motor learning was also observed in the more difficult tasks that required speed and accuracy. This finding suggests that fine motor tasks may be more sensitive to change compared to gross motor tasks [88], especially over multiple days. Most multi-day motor learning studies have applied conventional tDCS, however bihemispheric M1 HD-tDCS paired with unimanual and bimanual motor training has also demonstrated bimanual hand dexterity improvements [89]. HD-tDCS has not been applied in a pediatric population in the context of motor learning.

The neurophysiological understanding of tDCS enhanced motor learning is growing but remains incompletely defined. TMS can be used to help elucidate changes in M1 cortical excitability induced by motor learning and tDCS. One TMS measure referred to as interhemispheric inhibition (IHI) is a measure of transcallosal inhibition from one M1 to the other. Changes in IHI may be linked to change in motor function. One study found that functional motor improvements of the non-dominant hand, measured using the JTT, were correlated with a decrease in IHI from the dominant to non-dominant hemisphere [90]. These findings suggested a greater activation of

the trained, non-dominant hemisphere compared to the untrained hemisphere. Advanced neuroimaging also provided insight on neuro-metabolic changes in M1 following tDCS. GABA-optimized MRS suggested the extent of GABA decrease in M1 by anodal tDCS was correlated with both the degree of motor learning and fMRI signal change within the left M1 [91]. Cellular investigations also help inform mechanisms of tDCS. Limited evidence suggests that brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) may play a role in the enhancement in motor learning seen with tDCS. Both animal and human subjects with a common BDNF polymorphism show impaired motor learning and response to tDCS [38], suggesting the importance of BDNF on neuroplasticity. While mechanisms are increasingly understood, there is an ongoing need for investigations of the underlying cellular and molecular mechanisms of tDCS.

1.2.4 tDCS in Pediatric Populations

Most tDCS investigations have been performed in adults and there is a lack of mechanistic investigations in the developing brain. Limited data indicates that tDCS effects are not identical between the two populations. Computational current modeling in the pediatric brain suggests increased strength of induced-electric fields compared to adults for the same tDCS dose [92]. Factors such as skull thickness, CSF volume, and head circumference may contribute to this difference. Current modeling in adults has suggested that the skull may impede current transmission by up to 50% [29]. Therefore, there is greater current transmission in the thinner skull of a developing child. CSF is highly conductive and allows for current to be shunted to different areas of the brain, as current often follows the path of least resistance. Children have reduced CSF volumes compared to adults and thus experience higher current densities due to reduced shunting. A pediatric tDCS modeling study looking at the peak current flow and

distribution across the brain of a single child with perinatal stroke found that tDCS at 0.7mA produced a peak brain current intensity comparable to an adult receiving 1.0mA with the same montage [93]. This finding suggests that tDCS current intensity may need to be reduced in a pediatric population. However, current intensity is a complex topic in children. The application of 0.7mA was applied in a bihemispheric montage in a pilot study in children with congenital hemiparesis, however there were no significant changes in TMS-assessed cortical excitability or behavioural data [94]. Electrode sizes comparable to adult studies are also used in pediatric studies, even though children have smaller head circumference, adding further complexity. Because the electrodes will occupy a larger relatively area of the head, this will lead to less focal and possibly more off-target stimulation [92]. The application of current using smaller electrodes in HD-tDCS may overcome this, allowing for a more targeted distribution of current.

Early neurophysiological investigations also suggest stronger electric fields in children. In a study of 19 healthy children and adolescents, both 1mA anodal and cathodal stimulation resulted in increased cortical excitability that was retained for one hour after stimulation ended [95]. A 1mA cathodal current will typically decrease cortical excitability in adults [11]. In contrast, 0.5mA cathodal tDCS decreased cortical excitability, suggesting that comparable stimulation intensities induce stronger electric fields in pediatrics. The precise relationship is complex however, as a 0.5mA anodal stimulation did not produce a change in cortical excitability [95]. Despite the findings that induced electric fields are stronger in children compared to adults, early studies suggest favorable safety in pediatric populations. This safety data will be discussed later.

The largest investigation of tDCS application in healthy children comes from our group. We conducted a double-blinded, randomized, sham-controlled trial to investigate the effect of tDCS on motor learning in children for the first time [96]. Participants were randomized into four intervention groups: 1mA anodal, 1mA cathodal, 2mA cathodal, or sham. Anodal stimulation was applied contralateral to the trained hand and cathodal stimulation was applied ipsilaterally. Over the course of three days, the groups receiving anodal or cathodal tDCS showed significant enhancement of motor learning compared to the sham group. These improvements persisted six weeks later. The anodal and cathodal tDCS groups appeared to have altered early and late elements of the learning curve, possibly facilitating enhanced skill acquisition. The sham group demonstrated clear learning but had a slower rate of early learning and reached a skill ceiling, where further improvements with training were limited. The dominant, untrained hand's skill also improved with tDCS stimulation with increased right hand PPT scores. In contrast, sham (training alone) did not significantly affect these scores. This study confirmed the safety and tolerability of tDCS in children. This early investigation suggested tDCS may be modulate both the motor networks.

There have also been multiple studies examining the effects of tDCS in pediatric clinical populations, despite the small number of tDCS studies in the healthy developing brain. The application of tDCS has been used in a diverse array of clinical populations such as perinatal stroke, CP, epilepsy, encephalitis, dystonia, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder, childhood-onset schizophrenia, and autism [94,97–104]. The use of tDCS in a clinical population has been applied most often in CP. Gillick et al.[94] demonstrated preliminary findings that tDCS was safe, feasible, and tolerable in children with hemiparesis. A pilot, double-blind, randomized,

sham-controlled clinical trial in children with diparesis combined anodal tDCS with virtual reality gait training [105]. The tDCS group showed improvement in gross motor function, mobility, gait velocity, and cadence. Another trial found that anodal tDCS might reduce CP-related spasticity but did not improve range of motion [104]. Similar studies examined the effects of tDCS paired with motor therapy in children with unilateral CP [106]. Both sham and tDCS groups demonstrated improvements in hand function after intervention, however there were no significant differences between the intervention groups. Our group performed a randomized, controlled, double-blind clinical trial examining the effect of tDCS in children with hemiparetic CP [97]. Contralesional M1 1mA cathodal tDCS was paired with 10 days of goal-directed occupational therapy. We demonstrated that application of tDCS was feasible and safe in this population. There were subjective gains in function associated with tDCS, however no objective motor functions were demonstrated, possibly due to an under-dosing of therapy. Currently a phase III clinical trial is in progress examining the possible efficacy of tDCS in this population.

HD-tDCS has only been applied in a single pediatric study. This case study applied 10 days of HD-tDCS in a 30-month child with early-onset epileptic encephalopathy. The cathode was placed over the brain region exhibiting possible epileptogenic activity. There was no effect of HD-tDCS on the frequency of clinical seizures, however at the post-intervention period there was a significant change in electrical features of the epileptogenic activity. There is a clear lack of high-quality, rigorous trials applying HD-tDCS in children. To refine and advance application of tDCS in clinical populations, there is a need for investigation of the mechanisms and effects of tDCS and HD-tDCS on healthy developing children.

1.2.5 Safety of tDCS and HD-tDCS

Safety and tolerability of tDCS are well defined in the adult population. However, pediatric populations have been neglected in tDCS research where <5% of published studies have studied the effects in the developing brain. The use of conventional tDCS has been applied in over 33,000 sessions and 10,000 subjects with no serious adverse effects or irreversible injury [7]. An evidence based review conducted by an expert opinion panel examined the safety of tDCS in adults and children. This review found that tDCS is not associated with any tissue damage, irreversible behavioral changes, or serious adverse effects. When examining tDCS safety, it is important to consider dose metrics, intensity, duration, and charge density. According to Peterchev et al., the dose is defined as "the waveform of a single sustained direct current" applied to the scalp [107]. The tDCS intensity is defined as "the steady state intensity applied to the anode." The duration refers to the "length of time current is at the steady state level" and does not include the ramp up and ramp down timing. The charge density is defined as "charge divided by the electrode area is used as an average metric (A/m²)".

Animal lesion studies have been used to support existing safety data. There have been multiple studies assessing histological damage in epicranial direct current stimulation in rodents [108,109]. Bikson et al. has scaled these results to humans and hypothesized that the predicted minimum induced current density for detected damage ranged from 6.3-12A/m² [7]. This group further scaled these results and predicted human damage to occur around 67-120mA. These scaled factors largely exceeded maximum current levels applied during tDCS in humans. There are inherent limitations in using animal histology thresholds to base human safety standards.
These limitations include possible susceptibility differences in animal and human tissue to damage, experimental limits on detecting various models of damage, difference in proportions from rodent to human gross anatomy, and difference in method of stimulation such as transdermal in humans and epicranial in rodents. The highest tDCS intensity in human studies to date has not exceeded 4mA. A phase I study performed single session bihemispheric tDCS in adult stroke patients with current intensity reaching up to 4mA. This study reported transient skin redness in 50% of their patients, and likewise they did not find any rise in temperature or destruction of the skin barrier [110].

There have been multiple reviews to support the safety of tDCS applied in controlled human trials [111,112]. Mild skin redness is common during tDCS and resolves after stimulation has ended [113]. A MRI study found that tDCS was not associated with any edema or pathological alterations of the blood brain barrier or cerebral tissue damage [114]. There is also no evidence of neuronal damage examined by serum neuron-specific enolase after tDCS application [12,20]. There are no pathological electroencephalography (EEG) waveforms or worsening of neurophysiological measures observed after frontal lobe stimulation with duration of stimulation up to 20 minutes [115].

The tolerability of tDCS is also favorable and can be further improved by changing the electrolyte buffer between the electrode and the skin. Adjusting the concentration of the saline which the electrodes are soaked in may be a way to improve the tolerability and decrease sensation severity [116]. As well, increasing the separation distance between electrodes may improve tolerability of scalp current in HD-tDCS, however, this diminishes current focality [27].

In children, tDCS has been applied in at least 2800 sessions across nearly 500 subjects [7]. Among diverse clinical populations, there have been no serious adverse events. However, there is need for further studies in pediatric populations. A recent tDCS safety review in children and adolescents reported that the most common sensation was tingling, itching, and redness under the site of the anode [117]. This review concluded that tDCS is safe in children and adolescents with a variety of neurological conditions. The application of tDCS in children with CP is a rapidly developing field and there have been multiple studies examining its safety and tolerability [94,99,103,104,118–120]. The most commonly reported minor adverse event was tingling or discomfort under the electrodes [7]. Our lab has not reported any serious adverse events with tDCS application in children [96,97]. Additional safety outcomes included no decrease in motor task skill in the trained or untrained hand following intervention. Participants reported tinging or itching of the scalp in 55% of applications [96]. The safety literature presented is promising, however it is crucial to further understand the safety and tolerability of tDCS in the developing brain.

1.2.6 Motor and Sensory System Anatomy

There are two different types of organization of the neocortex defined by layers and columns. The neocortex has six cortical layers. From most superficial to deepest, these layers are referred to as the: molecular layer, external granular layer, external pyramidal layer, internal granular layer, internal pyramidal layer, and multiform layer [121]. The molecular layer is the first layer (layer I) and includes dendritic branches most commonly originating from pyramidal cells and axons from the thalamus or either hemisphere. Deeper layer Martinotti cells can also contribute

axons. Layer II is defined as the external granular layer and is made up of many small pyramidal cells and interneurons. The external pyramidal layer, layer III, consists of pyramidal cells that increase in size from the external to internal borders. The pyramidal cells in this layer project to the contralateral cortex and long horizontal projections connect to the M1 and sensory cortex. Layer IV is defined as the internal granular layer and is mostly made up of stellate cells. There are a small number of other interneurons and pyramidal cells. This layer receives sensory input from the thalamus and is crucial in cortical areas responsible for sensory function such as the primary somatosensory cortex. The M1 is referred to as agranular cortex, as it lacks layer IV. The internal pyramidal layer, layer V, is made up of larger pyramidal cells and interneurons. These neurons project to subcortical areas such as the striatum, brain stem, and spinal cord. Large pyramidal cells, called Betz cells, only occur in M1 and a small number are located in Layer V. Inputs to this region are from other cortical motor areas, somatosensory cortex, and posterior division of the ventral lateral thalamic nucleus. Layer VI is the deepest layer and is defined as the multiform layer. This layer is made up of fusiform cells, and various shapes of pyramidal cells and interneurons. These neurons project to the thalamus. The neocortex can also be organized in columns defined as small areas of vertically orientated neurons. Neurons within a column will generally have similar function and properties.

The motor cortex is made up by anatomically and functionally distinct areas that operate together to generate and organize a targeted movement [122]. A number of neurophysiological and imaging studies have identified the roles of M1, premotor cortex and supplementary motor area, corticospinal tract pathways, cerebellum, and basal ganglia in motor function [123].

The M1 is located in the precentral gyrus and is important in the execution of voluntary movements [124]. Wilder Penfield and colleagues used focal stimulation to motor map the M1, and found that disproportionally large areas were responsible for finely controlled body parts such as the fingers and face [125]. This finding suggested that a larger number of neurons may be needed for fine motor control [125]. Further mapping studies have found that neurons controlling hand, finger, and distal arm muscles are located in a horseshoe-shaped structure around the central core, commonly referred to the hand knob [126]. The M1 is confined to Brodmann area 4 which occupies the precentral gyrus and is rostrally orientated to the central sulcus [127,128]. Neurons in M1 are responsible for encoding specific kinematic parameters of voluntary movement. Individual neurons may be involved in the control of multiple muscles and studies have found that activating a single neuron in M1 can evoke activity in multiple arm muscles [129]. The M1 neuronal population that control various fingers overlap but appear to have some level of organization [130]. As discussed earlier, the unique organization of M1 allows for the redistribution and generation of new neuronal connections. Through these neuroplastic mechanisms, the motor network can be modulated.

The modulation of muscle activity in the contralateral arm is through neurons originating in M1 as well as subdivisions of the premotor cortex. These neurons project their axons into the cervical enlargement of the spinal cord and continue to their corresponding spinal level. The M1 is the only location that contains neurons with axons that directly terminate on the spinal motor neurons in the most ventral and lateral part of the spinal ventral horn [131]. The M1 is also involved in higher-order sensorimotor processing as it receives input from the parietal and

frontal areas [132]. The thalamus is also important to relay direct somatosensory information from the periphery to M1.

The premotor area is involved in motor function through its reciprocal connections with M1 and is a source of pyramidal and other descending motor pathways [133]. It is found in Brodmann area 6, anterior to the M1. The premotor areas receive connections from the ventro-anterior and anterior subdivision of the ventral lateral nucleus of the thalamus and pallidum of the corpus striatum. The premotor area is involved in the intention to perform a target movement. The premotor area is also connected with the posterior parietal cortex. This important relationship allows for integration of visual, proprioceptive, and other sensory information in the planning of movement [121].

The SMA is located in part of Brodmann area 6, on the medial surface of the hemisphere. It also receives input from the ventro-anterior and anterior subdivision of the ventral lateral nucleus of the thalamus. Both the premotor cortex and SMA are important in voluntary skilled movement. These regions are involved in modifying instructions for previously learned movements and generating new instructions for novel movements.

The corticospinal tract (CST) is a crucial white matter pathway involved in voluntary movement. The CST is made up of large pyramidal neurons which predominately originate from layer V of M1. It develops in the first trimester and continues to develop throughout adolescence [134– 136]. The axons of the CST travel through the corona radiata, posterior limb of the internal capsule, and then the cerebral peduncles. Most CST axons cross the anatomical midline at the

junction between the brain stem and spinal cord, forming the pyramidal decussation, and enter the lateral aspect of the spinal cord to become the lateral CST (contralateral fibers). A small proportion of fibers remain uncrossed and descend anteriorly to the spinal cord (ipsilateral fibers). The contralateral fibers have been found to exert control over distal forearm and hand musculature [137]. The functional role of ipsilateral projections has not been well defined [138,139]. Abnormal persistence of these ipsilateral projections are a key element of CP models, discussed later. Several premotor and parietal cortical areas impact spinal motor function though their own corticospinal projections. The corticospinal fiber axons originating from M1, SMA, and cingulate motor areas terminate on interneuronal networks in the intermediate laminae of the spinal cord (Rexed laminae VI and VIII).

The sensory system begins with multiple peripheral receptors for different stimuli, including muscle spindles, joint receptors, cutaneous afferent fibers, and Golgi tendon organs. These peripheral receptors are crucial in proprioception. Neuronal cell bodies that mediate these afferent sensory inputs are found in the dorsal root ganglia, where they are classified as first-order neurons [140]. The dorsal root ganglion cells give rise to many peripheral axons, many of these being shorter axons that terminate in the dorsolateral spinal cord. These termination sites are oriented in a specific pattern to define unique sensory pathways within the central nervous system. One of these, the dorsal column medial lemniscus (DCML) pathway, carries proprioceptive information from mechanoreceptors in the periphery to the somatosensory cortex [140]. The second-order relay neuron in the dorsal column nuclei project their axons to the somatic sensory portion of the thalamus [140]. These neurons originate in the dorsal column nuclei and project into the dorsal side of the brain stem forming the internal arcuate tract. These

axons then cross the midline to form the medial lemniscus tract. When passing through the medulla, the ventral portion of the medial lemniscal axons carry information from the lower limbs, and the dorsal portion carries information from the upper limbs. The medial lemnsicus axons reach the ventral posterior lateral nucleus of the thalamus and from here are classified as the third order neurons of the DCML system. Another ascending tract involved in sensory perception is the spinocerebellar tract. The spinocerebellar tract carries proprioceptive information from the lower limb to the cerebellum.

The primary somatosensory cortex is located in the postcentral gyrus and is defined by Brodmann area 3a and b, 1, and 2 [121]. The ventral posterior nucleus is the main source of afferent fibers to the first somatosensory area. These thalamocortical projections travel through the internal capsule and cerebral white matter, carrying information for various sensations. The thalamocortical fibers for cutaneous sensation terminate preferentially in the first somatosensory area. Fibers for deep sensations, such as proprioception, end in more posterior aspects. The posterior parietal cortex, defined by Brodmann's area 7, also integrates this information [141]. The posterior parietal cortex is also important for visual-proprioceptive information integration. Lesion-to-function studies have identified that the parietal and temporal lobes are also important in the integration of proprioceptive information [142,143].

The primary somatosensory cortex and M1 have reciprocal connections that may be involved in coordinated movements [144]. U-shaped fibers running under the central sulcus connect the motor and somatosensory homunculi and follow topographic organization [145]. Previous investigations have identified a large number of connections between regions responsible for

finger movements compared to areas responsible for control of other body parts. These connections play an important role in motor control. The inactivation of the somatosensory cortex in monkeys resulted in deficits in fine motor control and an inaccurate control of grip forces [146,147]. When tactile sensation was removed through digital anesthesia in humans, there was inappropriate coordination of the thumb and finger movements demonstrating that connections between somatosensory cortex and M1 may play a crucial role in grasping movements [148]. Another study in humans demonstrated that the integrity of the somatosensory cortex and M1 connections correlated with motor skill performance on the PPT [149].

The cerebellum is involved in coordinating motor function and interpreting proprioceptive signals. Other structures such as the basal ganglia, which refers to a group of subcortical nuclei (corpus striatum, substantia nigra, and subthalamic nucleus), and cingulate motor areas are also involved in motor control [150].

1.2.7 Robotics

Understanding the behavioural effects of neuromodulation requires specific outcome measures. Clinical tools have been used in the past to quantify sensorimotor functions, however they suffer from many shortcomings including poor inter-rater reliability and a lack of sensitivity to small but important changes in function [151–153]. Modern robotic technology can now be used to more precisely quantify sensorimotor function in real time with a potentially profound impact on how we assess brain dysfunction and modulation [154–157].

The Kinesiological Instrument for Normal and Altered Reaching Movements (KINARM) can reliably monitor and manipulate upper limb movements [158]. This tool offers more accurate, objective, and reliable measures of arm sensorimotor function compared to clinical measures [151,154,155,157,159,160]. Additionally, this assessment tool provides continuous measures that appear to not have a ceiling or floor effects in contrast to current clinical measures. The KINARM has been described in a variety of adult clinical populations, most often stroke, where it has demonstrated utility in quantifying proprioceptive and other sensorimotor deficits [155,157].

The KINARM has a series of standardized assessments that can quantify proprioception. Proprioception can be quantified by the position matching and kinesthesia tasks. The position matching task can quantify position sense function through a variety of parameters such as variability, movement area, and spatial shift [155]. Participants passive arm (the arm being assessed) was moved to a variety of spatial locations and the active arm mirror matched the position [155]. This task can be performed with or without vision. Approximately half of stroke affected adults have position sense deficits, as assessed by the KINARM, demonstrating the need for rehabilitation [155]. The kinesthesia task quantifies a variety of kinesthetic functions such as spatial and temporal aspects such as response latency, peak speed ratio, initial direction error, and path length ratio [157]. The standard deviation across each parameter can be calculated to explore variability. In this task, the robot moves the passive arm to one of three spatial locations at a defined speed, direction, and magnitude, and the participants mirror match the speed and direction of this movement. In an adult stroke population, participants had difficulty matching the movement direction and magnitude [157]. Both tasks demonstrated good inter-rater

reliability [155,161]. A different robotic instruments using other tasks have also identified proprioceptive deficits in adult stroke participants compared to healthy controls [162]. Studies such as these demonstrate that the KINARM is a valuable tool that is capable of assessing and quantifying position sense.

The use of robotics to measure motor function in visually guided reaching has also been explored in the adult stroke population [154,163]. This task is highly correlated with activities of daily living scores such as the Functional Independence Measure [163,164], suggesting clinical relevance. The visually guided reaching task is capable of differentiating reaching movements into two components: initiating (feed-forward control) and corrective movements (feedback control). Visually guided reaching requires participants to stabilize their hand on a visual target and when prompted with a new visual target, move their hand into the new target location. Coderre et al.[154] examined the use of the KINARM visually guided task in subacute adult stroke participants and quantified differences in mild to moderate stroke severity compared to controls. This group found the task to have good inter-rater reliability. Past reports have suggested a link between position sense and motor recovery after stroke [165–167], however there has been conflicting results [168]. More recent work has identified that position sense deficits are independent from motor impairments [164].

A third task, the KINARM object hit task, also quantifies bilateral arm sensorimotor function. The task difficulty is increased over time to examine visuospatial attention and increased cognitive demand [169]. In the task, balls fall from the top of the screen and the participant hits

as many balls away from them as they can. Compared to healthy controls, the majority of adults suffering from stroke have impaired task performance [169].

There has been recent work examining the utility of the KINARM in quantifying the sensorimotor deficits of perinatal stroke affected children compared to typically developing controls [170-172]. There has been a large amount of research focused on motor deficits in this population, but accurately defining sensory dysfunction remains elusive. These studies identified that children with perinatal stroke have impaired position sense and kinesthesia when compared to healthy children [170,171]. Furthermore, children with arterial strokes showed more severe impairments than those with venous strokes. These impairments persisted when vision was restored. In perinatal stroke, the lesioned DCML tract integrity correlated with impairments in proprioception. This clear link between an anatomical and functional impairment suggests that the cortical sensory network may be a target for non-invasive brain stimulation [173]. Visually guided reaching is impaired in the affected limb of perinatal stroke children compared to controls [172]. The degree of impairment seen in both robotic and clinical measures in this population is correlated with diffusion properties in the lesioned CST. These findings highlight that the KINARM displays some degree of sensitivity in its ability to quantify and discriminate proprioceptive function, and therefore may be an appropriate tool in assessing sensorimotor function in children undergoing neuromodulation.

The utility of the KINARM has also been demonstrated in other clinical pediatric populations such as traumatic brain injury (TBI). Participants had impairments in object hit, suggesting possible impairment in their ability to shift attention to new visual stimuli [174]. Additionally,

participants with TBI tended to have problems in visually guided reaching such as difficulty in movement initiation. There were however no significant position sense impairments. A larger study utilizing the end-point KINARM robot explored sensorimotor and cognitive changes after concussion [156]. There was no overall difference of performance in children with concussion compared to controls. The re-test reliability was examined across the KINARM end-point robot in children [175]. This study identified intra-class coefficients ranging from moderate to high in most parameters. However, there was a significant learning effect observed in certain tasks such as the object hit task. These studies confirm that certain KINARM measures can be used to assess changes in proprioceptive function over time, without concern that changes in KINARM measures are attributed to learning of the KINARM tasks.

Robotic technology can also be used to apply novel mechanical loads to a limb in order to quantify how the limb learns to move with that load [176–179]. This force field adaptation is a form of motor learning. In these studies, the KINARM was used to examine the sensory and motor feedback from varying loads being applied to an elbow joint [179]. They identified an overlap between sensory input and motor output, which may be an important contributor to motor learning and adaption. Another study utilizing a KINARM force field reaching task examined the role of online visual feedback on acquiring and retaining motor skills [180]. This study found that online visual feedback may help increase the rate of learning and performance on reaching tasks. These studies demonstrate the utility of the KINARM in assessing physiological function in healthy subjects.

In summary, the KINARM provides a unique opportunity to quantify complex neurophysiological processes and sensorimotor functions in the developing brain. The KINARM appears to be sensitive in that it can detect small changes in proprioceptive function that differ across various clinical conditions. Additionally, the high intra-class and inter-rater correlations seen in certain tasks suggests that it can be a valid tool in interventional studies, where it can quantify baseline proprioceptive function, and then reexamine changes following an intervention. Therefore, the KINARM is a valuable tool that may be used to examine changes in proprioceptive function in children undergoing motor learning enhanced through tDCS.

1.2.8 Translational application of tDCS-enhanced motor learning: Perinatal stroke

The perinatal period ranges from 20 weeks gestation to the first 28 days of life and is a high period of risk for a focal vascular injury. The first week of life carries the most focused lifetime risk for ischemic stroke [181]. Perinatal stroke is the leading cause of hemiparetic CP affecting 10,000 Canadian children [182]. Most perinatal stroke survivors will suffer from motor impairments but sensory dysfunction is also common [170,183]. The consequence is lifelong physical disabilities, which have adverse effects on quality of life for both the child and family.

Currently, there are limited therapies for sensorimotor disabilities. Previous literature in adult stroke and congenital hemiplegia trials have demonstrated significant effects of constraint-induced motor therapy (CIMT) [184]. This therapy involves constraining the less affected or non-paretic arm through intensive, structured manual therapy [185]. However, the efficacy of CIMT in hemiparetic CP has modest effect sizes and the mechanism is not fully understood [186,187].

Early focal brain injury models in animals and humans have identified cortical targets for neuromodulation including the non-lesioned M1 [4,182]. A general strategy towards improving post-stroke reorganization includes enhancing activity in the lesioned M1 or inhibiting the influence of the contralesional M1. Non-invasive brain stimulation has demonstrated utility in modulating motor function in adults with stroke-induced hemiparesis. The use of low-frequency repetitive TMS (rTMS) of the contralesional M1 may improve motor function [188,189]. Combining therapies such as CIMT and rTMS, may work synergistically. For example, a perinatal stroke trial demonstrated improved motor function using CIMT and contralesional rTMS [187]. However, rTMS is limited in its use because it cannot be simultaneously applied with therapy.

As previously discussed, the use of tDCS can alter cortical excitability, enhance motor learning, and be paired with motor therapy [83]. The use of contralesional cathodal tDCS may improve motor function in adult stroke trials [190,191], and the efficacy of tDCS in perinatal stroke has promise. The combination of non-invasive brain stimulation, such as tDCS, with CIMT has potential to improve motor function [97]. The lack of a mechanistic understanding of how tDCS enhances motor learning has limited the optimization of stimulation parameters to improve function most effectively.

1.3 Rationale and Aims

We have recently demonstrated that tDCS is safe and can produce lasting enhancement in motor learning in children [96]. While exciting, there is limited understanding of how such

improvements occur such as alterations in sensory motor function. The effects of HD-tDCS on motor learning have not been investigated in children, and the efficacy and safety require further exploration. Understanding the effects and mechanisms of tDCS and HD-tDCS on motor learning in children will advance clinical trials and new therapies for disabled children with CP.

Therefore, we propose the following aims:

Aim 1: Characterize the effects of tDCS and HD-tDCS on motor learning in healthy children. Hypothesis 1: tDCS and HD-tDCS are associated with greater motor learning gains when compared to training alone (sham tDCS).

Aim 2: Characterize the changes in sensorimotor function induced by tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children.

Hypothesis 2: tDCS is associated with improved position sense as measured by end point variability in the position matching task. HD-tDCS is associated with improved motor function as measured by visually guided reaching.

Aim 3: Assess the safety and tolerability of HD-tDCS in children. Hypothesis 3: HD-tDCS is safe and well-tolerated in healthy children.

Chapter 2 – Effects of High-Definition and Conventional Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation on Motor Learning in Children

The following work was submitted to Cerebral Cortex (Cole L^{*}, Giuffre A^{*}, Ciechanski P, Carlson HL, Zewdie E, Kuo H-C, Kirton A)

Author LC's contribution to this study include: study design, participant recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and drafting and revising the manuscript. Author AG's contribution to this study include: study design, participant recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and drafting and revising the manuscript. Author PC's contribution to the study include: study design, data collection, data analysis, drafting and revising the manuscript. Author HC's contribution to the study include: data analysis, drafting and revising the manuscript. Author HC's contribution to the study include: data collection and revising the manuscript. Author HCK's contribution to this study include: data collection and revising the manuscript. Author HCK's contribution to the study include: data collection and revising the manuscript. Author AK's contribution to the study include: obtaining funding, study design, and revising the manuscript.

2.1 Abstract

This study examined the effects of transcranial direct-current stimulation (tDCS) and highdefinition tDCS (HD-tDCS) on motor learning in healthy children. Twenty-four children were recruited for a randomized, sham-controlled, double-blinded interventional trial to receive 1) right hemisphere (contralateral) primary motor cortex (M1) 1mA anodal conventional 1x1 tDCS (tDCS), 2) right M1 1mA anodal 4x1 HD-tDCS (HD-tDCS), or 3) sham. Over five consecutive days, participants trained their left hand using the Purdue Pegboard Test (PPT_L). The Jebsen-Taylor Test, Serial Reaction Time Task, and right hand and bimanual PPT were also tested at baseline, post-training, and 6-week retention time (RT). Both the tDCS and HD-tDCS groups demonstrated enhanced motor learning compared to sham (tDCS p=0.042, HD-tDCS p=0.049) with effects maintained at six weeks. Effect sizes were moderate-to-large for tDCS and HDtDCS groups at the end of day 4 (Cohen's d tDCS=0.960, HD-tDCS=0.766) and day 5 (tDCS=0.655, HD-tDCS=0.851). Enhanced motor learning effects were also seen in the untrained hand. HD-tDCS was well tolerated and safe with no adverse effects. HD-tDCS and tDCS may advance motor rehabilitation therapies for children with motor disabilities such as cerebral palsy.

2.2 Introduction

Transcranial direct stimulation (tDCS) is a form of non-invasive brain stimulation with the potential to modulate cortical excitability, human brain function, and behaviour. Such promise has advanced studies across diverse brain disorders with over 33 000 sessions completed [7]. Safety and tolerability are well defined but mechanisms are poorly understood though both preclinical and human evidence suggests long-term potentiation (LTP)-like mechanisms are

involved [35]. As is often the case with emerging therapeutics, pediatric populations have been neglected in tDCS research where <2% of published studies have been dedicated to the developing brain.

The primary motor cortex (M1) is a key structure in motor skill learning and can be purposefully modulated with brain stimulation [192]. The application of anodal tDCS over M1 increases cortical excitability [2] and, when paired with training of the contralateral hand, has been demonstrated to improve motor performance within single [79,193,194] and multiple [83] sessions. Cathodal stimulation of the ipsilateral M1 can also improve motor skill acquisition, presumably via effects on transcallosal, interhemispheric motor networks [4]. Recently, we demonstrated that such M1 tDCS approaches can also enhance motor learning in healthy schoolaged children over three days of training with retained effects and large effect sizes [195]. Stimulation was well-tolerated with no adverse events. Mechanistic investigations of tDCS in the developing brain have been lacking, however limited evidence suggests that the electric fields induced in the pediatric brain differ from those of adults [35,92,95,196].

Traditionally, tDCS has been applied using two large electrodes (1x1 tDCS). More recently, high-definition tDCS (HD-tDCS) montages have attempted to achieve more focal current delivery to better target functional cortical regions. By placing a central anode surrounded by four cathodes, such 4x1 HD-tDCS stimulation can be applied in a relatively focused manner with generation of stronger regional electric fields [25]. A recent adult study found that HD-tDCS M1 stimulation tended to increase motor adaptation within a single session [197]. A multi-day adult study applying bi-hemispheric M1 HD-tDCS paired with unimanual and bimanual motor training

also showed improvement in bimanual hand dexterity [89]. To date, HD-tDCS has not been examined in a pediatric population.

The ease of application and favorable tolerability of tDCS has promoted its early translation toward childhood disability and cerebral palsy (CP). Perinatal stroke is the leading cause of hemiparetic CP and affects more than 5 million people worldwide [198]. As a focal injury of defined timing in an otherwise healthy brain, perinatal stroke is an ideal human model of developmental plasticity where models have identified M1 as a potential target for therapeutic neuromodulation [199]. Most children with perinatal stroke suffer lifelong sensorimotor disabilities for which there are few effective treatments [183]. Although the underlying models are different, many trials in adult stroke hemiparesis suggest tDCS may facilitate motor rehabilitation [200,201]. Early trials of contralesional tDCS in children with perinatal stroke and hemiparesis have suggested favorable tolerability and safety with preliminary evidence of efficacy [97,106]. There is a pressing need to optimize tDCS-enhancement of motor learning in pediatrics to advance new therapies and better outcomes for disabled children.

We therefore conducted a sham-controlled, double-blind, randomized trial to compare the effects of M1 tDCS and HD-tDCS on motor learning in typically developing school-aged children.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Trial design and participants

Accelerated Motor Learning in Pediatrics (AMPED) was a randomized, double-blind, singlecenter, sham-controlled interventional trial. The study was registered at clinicaltrials.gov prior to consent of the first participant (NCT03193580). The study was approved by the University of Calgary Research Ethics Board (REB16-2474).

Participants were recruited through community and school outreach programs and the Healthy Infants and Children Clinical Research Program (HICCUP), a population-based research cohort. The inclusion criteria were: 1) age 12-18 years, 2) right handed (self/parent report and Edinburgh Handedness Inventory laterality index greater than -28), 3) typical neurodevelopment, 4) no major medical conditions, and 5) informed consent/assent. Persons with neuropsychological or developmental diagnoses, implanted metal or medical devices, or who were taking neuropsychiatric mediations were excluded. At the time of enrollment, all participants or their guardians provided written informed consent/assent forms and were screened to meet safety criteria for non-invasive brain stimulation [202].

Each participant underwent the same testing, training, and stimulation procedures over five consecutive days. The complete study design and flow is shown in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1 AMPED protocol. (A) Participants received an MRI, complete tasks in a virtual reality KINARM robotic system, received TMS motor mapping (TMSMM), completed a series of motor assessments and then received training paired with non-invasive brain stimulation interventions. On days 2-4, subjects perform the PPT during intervention. Participants repeat the Day 1 tasks on Day 5 (with training) and at a six week retention testing follow up (RT). (B) PPT training is paired with stimulation by treatment groups with electrode montages (C) shown for tDCS (left) and HD-tDCS (right) where dark grey electrodes are anodes and light grey electrodes are cathodes. Black arrows represent the direction of current flow from anode to cathode(s).

2.3.2 Randomization, blinding, and concealment

Following enrollment, participants underwent computer-generated randomization without stratification or minimization to one of three brain stimulation groups (1:1:1) using the Research

Electronic Data Capture randomization tool (REDCap). The groups were 1) right hemisphere (contralateral to the trained hand) M1 1mA anodal conventional 1x1 tDCS (tDCS), 2) right hemisphere M1 1mA anodal 4x1 HD-tDCS (HD-tDCS), and 3) sham. Participants and their parents were blinded to treatment assignment consistent with previous pediatric trials of tDCS [195]. A post-interventional questionnaire was administered requiring participants to guess which intervention they received and why. Only the investigator administering the stimulation was aware of the treatment group assigned. The remaining investigators were not present during stimulation and remained blinded during administration and scoring of all outcome measures. Treatment assignment remained blinded until study closure and final data analysis.

2.3.3 Motor learning measures

The primary motor learning measure was the Purdue Pegboard Task (PPT), a validated measure of hand dexterity commonly used in motor learning studies [86,203]. The PPT consists of four subtests, the first three requiring participants to place as many pegs as they can in a pegboard in 30 seconds with their left hand (PPT_L), right hand (PPT_R), and bimanually (PPT_{LR}). The total number of pegs was recorded. The final subtest was a bimanual assembly task where participants build as many structures as they can by placing a peg–washer–pin–washer complex in 60 seconds (PPT_A). The PPT_L was used to train and measure motor learning as it is a difficult enough task for children to learn without reaching a skill "ceiling" effect, producing optimal learning curves. The PPT_R was both a safety outcome (to ensure no decrease in function from receiving tDCS or HD-tDCS) and a measure of possible "spill-over" effects to the untrained hand. Secondary motor outcomes assessed different components of motor function that were not trained. The Jebsen-Taylor Test of Hand Function (JTT) was used to assess six subtests of unimanual hand functions performed during daily activities: 1) card turning, 2) picking up small objects (pennies, paper clips, and bottle caps) and placing them in a container, 3) stacking checkers, 4) simulating feeding, 5) moving light objects, and 6) moving heavy objects. The fourth test is considered to be highly variable between individuals, and was therefore excluded from final analysis [204]. The six subtests were performed with the left hand first, followed by the right hand. All subtests are timed (seconds) and summed to generate a total score with lower scores corresponding to better motor function.

The Serial Reaction Time Task (SRTT) was used to measure reaction time and implicit motor learning [49,205]. The SRTT used was custom built using PsychoPy software [206]. Participants were seated in front of a computer and instructed to place the four fingers of their left hand on the keyboard buttons A, S, D, and F. A visual cue (green box) would appear at any one of the four positions on the computer screen corresponding to a keyboard button, which the participants were instructed to press as fast as possible. The test is divided into a total of eight trials, each containing 96 keystrokes. Trials 1 and 6 are a randomly generated string of keys, whereas trials 2-5, 7, and 8 have a 12 characters pattern that repeats itself eight times. A 250ms delay separated the keystrokes. Reaction times <200ms were excluded, as these may not indicate reaction based responses consistent with previous studies [193] Additionally, we also included all values in a separate analysis to explore potential differences that may have occurred in reaction times <200ms.

2.3.4 Intervention: tDCS and HD-tDCS

Participants received direct-current stimulation or sham during each training session using either a conventional 1x1 tDCS or a 4x1 HD-tDCS system (Soterix Medical Inc., New York, USA). Each participant's right M1 was localized and marked using neuronavigation (Brainsight2, Rouge Research Inc., Montreal, Canada). Robotic single-pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) was used to localize the "hotspot" for the first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscle of the left hand using established criteria [207]. The scalp location corresponding to the hotspot was marked and re-marked each day using a felt pen for consistent electrode placement.

For tDCS and sham, two saline-soaked sponge electrodes (25 cm², SNAPpad, Soterix Medical Inc., New York, USA) were applied to the scalp with the anode centered over the localized right M1 while the reference electrode (cathode) was placed over the contralateral supraorbital area (Figure 1C). The electrodes were held in place with a light plastic "headband" (SNAPstrap, Soterix Medical Inc., New York, USA) sized for pediatric subjects. This was the same montage targeting training of the left hand described in both adult and pediatric tDCS motor learning studies [76,79,83,195]. The electrodes were then connected to a 1x1 DC SMARTscan Stimulator (Soterix Medical Inc., New York, USA).

For HD-tDCS, the montage targeted the same right M1 as described elsewhere [208–210]. The investigator applied a "cap" with pre-existing electrode holes on the participant's head. The active electrode (anode) was centered over the right M1 with the four return electrodes (cathode) spaced \sim 5 cm away to establish a ring-like orientation (Figure 1C) [26,27,211]. Such a 4x1 electrode ring has been predicted to target stimulation with maximal electric field strength under

the target electrode [209]. The electrodes were then connected to a 4x1 HD-tDCS Adaptor and a SMARTscan Stimulator (Soterix Medical Inc., New York, USA).

During active stimulation for both groups, current was initially ramped up to 1mA over 30 seconds. Stimulation was maintained for 20 minutes with automatic continuous current-control by the Soterix system (current control) and expert personnel. The current was then ramped down to 0mA over 30 seconds. Current density was 0.04mA/cm² (1.0mA of current intensity), and was current-controlled, based on sampling of resistance and changing the voltage to maintain a constant current. In the sham group, current was also initially ramped to 1mA over 30 seconds but then returned to 0mA where it remained for 20 minutes. During the final 30 seconds, the current ramped up to 1mA and back to 0mA. This sham procedure produces the same initial transient scalp sensations and has been validated in subjects naïve to tDCS in adults [212].

2.3.5 Training protocol

The sequence of motor measures, motor training, and stimulation are summarized in Figure 1B. Participants had the option to complete all tasks within a single session on Day 1 (~8 hours) or could split up Day 1 into two consecutive days (~4 hours each), always ending with stimulation. On Day 1, baseline skill was measured by completing all three motor tasks. Participants first performed all subtests of the PPT, followed by the JTT and the SRTT. Each participant then trained the PPT_L while receiving either tDCS, HD-tDCS, or sham at the end of Day 1. Training occurred over 20 minutes of stimulation, consisting of three trials per epoch performed at minute 5, 10, and 15. After stimulation, the electrodes were removed and participants completed a safety

and tolerability questionnaire (below). The PPT_L was then performed again (with no stimulation device worn).

On days 2, 3, and 4, participants performed the same PPT_L sequence, beginning with a baseline test followed by the same 20-minute training protocol during stimulation. On Day 5, participants repeated all assessments performed on Day 1, starting with the same training protocol. Participants returned 6+/-1 weeks later and performed the same order of assessments as Day 1.

Each assessment was video-taped and re-scored again by a blinded study team member for quality assurance and inter-rater reliability assessments. Videos only recorded the individual's hands, so the stimulation montage could not be identified by the rater. Learning curves generated for the PPT_L compared the score difference at each training point with the baseline score measured on Day 1. Skill decay was measured by comparing the 6-week follow-up average score with the Day 5 post-training score. Online effects (within-day training) were determined by comparing baseline and final scores of each day. Offline effects (consolidation) were measured by comparing baseline scores each day to the final score from the previous day. Average scores were also calculated as the average change in PPT_L score from Day 1 baseline for each day.

2.3.6 Safety and tolerability

Participants completed a modified pediatric non-invasive brain stimulation safety and tolerability questionnaire (Garvey et al. 2001) immediately following each training session (days 1-5). The duration and severity of any symptoms were reported including headache, neck pain, unpleasant tingling, itching, burning, fatigue, nausea, and lightheadedness. In addition, participants were

asked to rank the tolerability of their tDCS session compared to seven common childhood experiences. As the first study of HD-tDCS in children, a neuropsychological battery was also completed at baseline and following the final stimulation session. A validated, computerized neurocognitive assessment software (CNS Vital Signs) evaluated the neurocognitive of status of the participants throughout the study [215]. An interim safety analysis was conducted by two blinded researchers after the first eight subjects to exclude any drop-in motor function (reduction of PPT score) of either hand or serious adverse events possibly associated with intervention.

2.3.7 Sample size

Previously published evidence of tDCS-enhanced motor learning in children [195] suggested moderate-to-large effect sizes of tDCS while defining typical means and variances for learning curves. In this study, participants in the sham condition improved their PPT_L by 1.83 pegs and participants in the anodal tDCS condition improved by 1.5 to 2-fold compared to sham. The mean standard deviation for this sample was 0.71. Combining these with α =0.05 and power of 85% estimated a total requirement of 24 participants (8 per stimulation group).

2.3.8 Statistical analysis

For the primary hypothesis that change in PPT score would be greater in tDCS compared to HDtDCS and sham, a linear mixed model analysis was employed (SPSS, IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). A linear mixed effects model for PPT_L score was performed with fixed effects for Group, Day, and the interaction of Group and Day and covariate for Subjects to account for repeated measures. Analysis for secondary outcomes (SigmaPlot 12.5, Systat Software Inc; San Jose, USA) for continuous variables included one-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) and Chisquare/Fischer exact test (for dichotomous variables) to compare group demographics, baseline motor scores, and tolerability ratings. Paired t-tests analyzed differences in left and right-hand baseline motor scores, skill decay between final training block versus six week follow-up, and online versus offline effects. Effect sizes were reported as Cohen's *d*. Repeated measures ANOVA was used to analyze changes in JTT and SRTT scores. Tolerability scores across groups were compared using a one-way ANOVA. Holm-Sidak post-hoc corrections were performed to correct for multiple comparisons. To examine possible effects of baseline function on intervention susceptibility, participants were divided into high and low performers based on baseline PPT_L score falling above or below the median.

2.3.9 Replication

To evaluate replicability of previous studies while increasing the power of the current study, we also combined our data with that of a previous, similar trial [195]. Both studies had the same inclusion criteria and applied right M1 tDCS (1mA) or sham during 20 minutes of PPT_L training over three consecutive days. Accordingly, learning curves over three days of training from sham controls and anodal tDCS groups were combined (n=14 for both groups). The linear mixed modeling analysis described above was repeated with the combined data.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Population characteristics

Twenty-four participants were recruited (median age 15.5 years, range 12-18, 52% female). All participants completed all stages and outcome assessments with no drop-outs. Demographics and baseline motor function across intervention groups are shown in Table 1. Age, sex, handedness,

and baseline PPT, JTT, and SRTT scores did not differ between intervention groups (all p>0.3).

All groups demonstrated higher PPT_R compared to PPT_L scores (p<0.001).

	Age (Years)	Laterality Index	Sex F:M	Baseline PPT Scores			Baseline JTT Scores				
Stimulation Group				Left Hand	Right Hand	Left vs Right <i>p</i> value	Left Hand	Right Hand	Left vs Right <i>p</i> value	Baseline Reaction Time Excluded (ms)	Baseline Reaction Time Included (ms)
HD-tDCS	14.77 (+/-2.0)	81.25 (+/-14.7)	4:4	13.91 (+/-1.9)	15.79 (+/-1.55)	<i>p</i> <0.001	21.91 (+/-2.1)	20.23 (+/-2.2)	<i>p</i> =0.053	540 (+/-82.6)	540 (+/-82.6)
tDCS	15.94 (+/-1.5)	82.5 (+/-13.1)	3:5	13.50 (+/-1.3)	15.21 (+/-1.9)	<i>p</i> =0.011	22.92 (+/-3.1)	20.63 (+/-2.9)	<i>p</i> <0.001	525 (+/-99.0)	525 (+/-98.7)
Sham	15.81 (+/-1.3)	81.9 (+/-22.8)	6:2	13.83 (+/-1.3)	15.16 (+/-1.9)	<i>P</i> =0.013	21.09 (+/-2.9)	18.92 (+/-1.9)	<i>p</i> =0.003	538 (+/-78.5)	550 (+/-99.2)
Mean	15.51 (+/-1.7)	81.88 (+/-16.6)	13:11	13.75 (+/-1.5)	15.4 (+/-1.7)	<i>p</i> <0.001	21.97 (+/-2.7)	19.92 (+/-2.4)	<i>p</i> <0.001	540 (+/-84.7)	544 (+/-91.8)
Between group	<i>p</i> =0.324	p=0.879	<i>p</i> =0.309	<i>p</i> =0.846	<i>p</i> =0.741		<i>p</i> =0.424	<i>p</i> =0.342		<i>p</i> =0.924	<i>p</i> =0.859

Table 2.1 Participant demographics and baseline motor function by intervention group

Purdue Pegboard Test (PPT), Jebsen-Taylor Test of Hand Function (JTT), Serial Reaction Time Test (SRTT). Values are group mean +/standard deviation

2.4.2 Motor learning

Learning curves of similar overall morphology were generated across subjects and groups. Daily motor learning and daily average learning curves by intervention group are shown in Figure 2. Regardless of intervention, participants demonstrated motor learning over the five training days with the rate of learning dissipating over time (p<0.001). Linear mixed effects modeling demonstrated a significant interaction effect of day and intervention on the rate of learning. The model suggested that both active stimulation groups had enhanced learning (increase in pegs per day) compared to sham over the training period (tDCS p=0.042, HD-tDCS p=0.049). The sham group improved their PPT_L score by 0.508+/-0.190 pegs per day as compared to 0.703+/-0.269

for the tDCS group and 0.697+/-0.269 for the HD-tDCS group. At both day 4 and 5, the tDCS and HD-tDCS groups had larger improvements in the daily average PPT_L score compared to sham (both p<0.05). Moderate to large effect sizes were observed in the tDCS and HD-tDCS groups at the end of day 4 (Cohen's *d* tDCS=0.960, HD-tDCS=0.766) and day 5 (Cohen's *d* tDCS=0.655, HD-tDCS=0.851).



Figure 2.2 Motor learning by treatment group. (A) The mean daily change from baseline (B) in left Purdue Pegboard (PPT_L) learning curves for sham (white triangles) were lower than both tDCS (grey circles) and HD-tDCS (black circles). Effects decayed by six week retention time (RT) for sham but not tDCS groups. (B) Daily mean scores per repetition of the PPT_L are shown

for the same 3 groups. Error bars represent standard error. p<0.05 for tDCS vs. sham, # p<0.05 for HD-tDCS vs. sham.

2.4.3 Retention

Learning effects were retained in the tDCS and HD-tDCS groups with no significant decrease in skill performance between end of training and the retention assessment. In contrast, significant skill decay in PPT_L scores was observed in the sham group (p=0.034). All groups scored higher at retention testing on the PPT_L compared with baseline (all p<0.003). At retention testing, there was no significant difference in PPT_L scores between intervention groups.

2.4.4 Online/Offline learning

Participants showed improvements in performance primarily through online learning (Figure 3). There were no differences seen between tDCS or HD-tDCS and sham in the amount of online learning. There was significantly more online learning compared to offline learning in all three groups (all p<0.003). Offline effects contributed to a significant loss of skill in the sham and HD-tDCS group (sham p=0.004, HD-tDCS p=0.046) but not the tDCS group (p=0.140).



Figure 2.3 Online and offline learning effects on left hand Purdue Pegboard (PPT_L) for the three intervention groups. The online effects represent the difference in PPT_L score from the first and last training point of the day. The offline learning represents the difference between the last training time point of the day to the first training point of the following day. Error bars represent standard error. *p<0.05, **p<0.01

2.4.5 Low versus high performers

Participants were divided into high and low performers to explore if baseline motor skill was associated with response to intervention. The median baseline PPT_L score for all participants was 13.33 pegs. Eleven participants were above this score and classified as the high performer group and the remaining participants were classified as the low performer group (Figure 4). In the low performance group, participants in the tDCS and HD-tDCS groups demonstrated greater

improvements compared to sham. There was a significant difference between sham and HDtDCS for all days of training (all p<0.05). The tDCS group had significantly more improvement compared to sham at days 2, 3, 4 and 5 (all p<0.044). There was a significant time effect over the five days of training in all intervention groups (p<0.001). The high performer group did not show any difference in learning across groups.





2.4.6 Secondary, untrained motor outcomes

The effects of intervention group on the secondary measures of hand function are shown in Figure 5. At post-training and RT, there was no difference in raw PPT_L versus PPT_R score for all groups despite the laterality seen at baseline. PPT_R scores increased following training in the tDCS and HD-tDCS groups (both p<0.042) but did not change in the sham group (Figure 5A, p=0.076). PPT_R scores were not correlated with PPT_L improvements (r=0.266, p=0.208). There was no decay in PPT_R scores at retention testing in all groups.



Figure 2.5 Secondary motor outcomes. (A) Change in Purdue Pegboard Test (PPT) scores at post-training and retention time (RT) demonstrated treatment group effects for PPT_A . PPT subtests are left (PPT_L), right (PPT_R), bimanual (PPT_{LR}), sum of scores (PPT_S), and assembly (PPT_A). *p<0.05. (**B**) Jebsen-Taylor Test of Hand Function left and right (JTT_L, JTT_R) demonstrated treatment group effects bilaterally at post-training and RT. (**C**) Serial Reaction

Time Task (SRTT) curves with and without <200ms responses are shown. Blocks 1 and 6 are random while all others follow a 12-character sequence. (D) SRTT by intervention group with <200ms responses excluded. Error bars represent standard error.

PPT_{LR} scores improved in all groups: sham (p=0.016), tDCS (p=0.003), and HD-tDCS groups (p<0.001) with no skill decay at six weeks. There was no significant difference between the three groups at post-training (p=0.664). PPT_{LR} scores at post-training were correlated with change in PPT_L (r=0.564, p=0.004). Regardless of group, participants showed improvements in PPT_S scores (all p<0.006), again without decay. There was also a significant improvement in PPT_A for all groups (all p<0.03) and no skill decay at retention testing. There was no significant difference between the intervention groups for change in PPT_A score (p=0.506). There was a significant improvement in PPT_A from post-training to retention in the tDCS group (p=0.05). There was no correlation between PPT_A and PPT_L improvements (r=-0.032, p=0.881).

Training effects on JTT performance are summarized in Figure 5B. There was a significant learning effect in the JTT_L across all treatment groups (all p<0.008). All three treatment groups improved their JTT_L scores from baseline to post-training (p<0.003) and baseline to retention testing (p<0.019).

In the untrained hand, JTT_R scores improved over time from baseline to post-training (p=0.005) and from baseline to retention testing (p=0.019). JTT_R scores significantly improved in the tDCS group from baseline to post-training (p=0.016) and in the HD-tDCS group from baseline to retention testing (p=0.026). However, in the sham group, there were no significant improvements in JTT_R scores (p=0.857).

The baseline SRTT curves with and without <200ms measures are summarized in Figure 5C, where a shift downward in the SRTT curves indicates improved reaction time. A negative correlation was observed between baseline reaction time and age (r=-0.488, p=0.016). To correct for age effects, the reaction time of each block was standardized to baseline Block 1 reaction time. When reaction times <200ms were excluded from the analysis, there was a significant learning effect from baseline to post training (both p<0.051) and baseline to retention (both p<0.036) in the sham and tDCS groups. When reaction times <200ms were included in the analysis, there was a visible downward shift in SRTT curves of all groups. There was a significant learning effect from baseline to post-training (both p<0.010) and baseline to retention (both p<0.009) in the sham and tDCS groups. Regardless of whether reaction times <200ms were excluded or included, there was no significant learning effect in the HD-tDCS group. There was no decay in reaction time seen at any time-point or in any stimulation group.

2.4.7 Replication

The results of the combined PPT_L dataset for three days of training for sham (n=14), tDCS (n=14) and HD-tDCS (n=8) are shown in Figure 6. There was no significant difference in learning between either the sham groups (p=0.402) or 1x1 tDCS (p=0.980) groups from both studies. For the combined data, linear mixed modeling showed a significant interaction effect of day and intervention group (rate of learning). Effect sizes were larger than the primary study alone with sham participants placing 0.666+/-0.226 more pegs each day compared to 1.04+/- 0.375 more pegs for tDCS and 1.00+/-0.320 more pegs for HD-tDCS. The tDCS and HD-tDCS group outperformed the sham group in terms of the rate of pegs placed over the course of three
days (tDCS p=0.001, HD-tDCS p=0.012). Effect sizes for the combined group at the end of Day 3 were large for tDCS (Cohen's *d*=1.265) and HD-tDCS group (Cohen's *d*=0.995).



Figure 2.6 Combined PPT_L training data for sham and tDCS groups over 3 days. (A) Sham (white triangles, n=14) learning curves were inferior to both tDCS (grey circles, n=14) and HD-tDCS (black circles, n=8) groups. (B) Mean daily learning for the same three groups form the combined studies. Both the tDCS and HD-tDCS groups placed more pegs each day as compared to sham. Error bars represent standard error.

2.4.8 Inter-rater assessment correlation

A high degree of reliability was observed between raters in PPT and JTT scoring. The average intraclass correlation was 0.996 [95% CI: 0.994-0.988 (F(29,58)=276.265, p<0.001)]. A similar degree of reliability was observed between raters of the JTT where average intraclass correlation was 0.974 [95% CI: 0.960-0.983 (F(59,118)=38.136, p<0.001)].

2.4.9 Safety and tolerability

A total of 120 tDCS sessions were performed without any complications or serious adverse events. The most common reported sensation was itching (56%) ranging from mild (75%) to moderate (25%) in severity. Itching was more common with tDCS (78%) compared to sham (48%, p=0.006) and HD-tDCS (43%, p=0.001). Additional sensations included: unpleasant tingling 24% (mild in 90%) and burning 37% (mild in 80%), neither of which differed by treatment group. In the sham group, most sensations (90%) lasted less than 2 minutes. Sensations reported in tDCS and HD-tDCS persisted for the duration of the stimulation in 23% of tDCS and 3% of HD-tDCS sessions. One HD-tDCS participant reported a headache lasting less than 2 minutes. One tDCS participant felt mildly nauseated in a single session. The tolerability ranking of sham was 3.8+/-1.1, tDCS was 4.1+/-1.0 and HD-tDCS was 3.9+/-1.2 on an 8-point scale, comparable to watching TV (2.4+/-1.0) or a long car ride (4.9+/-1.2). There was no significant difference in tolerability scores between the three intervention groups (p=0.51). Participants were unable to correctly predict their treatment group (56% accuracy, where 50% indicates a chance guess). All participants completed all cognitive assessments (Table 2). Baseline cognitive performance in all three domains was comparable across groups (all p>0.70). No changes in

cognitive function were found over the three time points for any group (all p>0.07) with the single largest drop being in visual memory for the sham group from post-training to retention testing.

Neurocognitive Domain	Participant group					
Time point	Sham	tDCS	HD-tDCS			
Visual memory						
Baseline	65.4 (20.0) [32-92]	67.4 (26.6) [18-92]	67.9 (25.2) [25-96]			
Post	69.1 (19.9) [37-92]	75.0 (20.7) [45-96]	59.6 (24.7) [25-95]			
Follow-up	43.5 (27.0) [7-92]	61.4 (26.3) [10-97]	65.3 (28.0) [14-88]			
Reaction time						
Baseline	61.6 (35.0) [2-95]	53.9 (36.5) [3-95]	72.0 (17.4) [37-87]			
Post	78.4 (12.3) [53-96]	61.3 (26.6) [30-96]	80.4 (18.9) [45-98]			
Follow-up	68.1 (26.6) [10-96]	59.4 (34.1) [12-90]	66.4 (25.0) [14-94]			
Simple attention						
Baseline	62.4 (19.0) [23-79]	60.4 (27.6) [13-79]	69.4 (11.1) [50-79]			
Post	60.8 (19.5) [23-79]	57.5 (32.6) [2-79]	60.9 (24.2) [13-79]			
Follow-up	56.4 (26.1) [1-79]	49.8 (32.0) [1-79]	73.4 (11.0) [50-79]			

Table 2.2 Group mean performance on the CNS Vital Signs neurocognitive battery

Values are mean percentiles with (SD) and [range], higher values indicate better performance. tDCS: conventional anodal tDCS, HD-tDCS: high-definition tDCS.

2.5 Discussion

We evaluated the ability of anodal conventional and HD-tDCS to enhance motor learning in healthy school aged children. Our findings suggest that application of both conventional and HDtDCS is feasible, safe, and tolerable in children. We demonstrated that pairing non-dominant hand training with either tDCS or HD-tDCS of the contralateral M1 can enhance skill learning compared to training alone. Children with lower performance at baseline appeared to be more responsive to the effects of tDCS. Skill enhancement was not restricted to the trained hand or task, with spillover to untrained tasks and the untrained hand.

Improvement in motor learning with tDCS has been well established in adults. Multiple studies support that both single and multi-day application of tDCS concurrent to skill training produce extensive effects on motor learning [83–85]. Despite these promising findings, studies of pediatric applications of tDCS are limited. We identified a faster rate of learning in the tDCS and HD-tDCS group compared to sham. Our findings suggest that anodal conventional and HD-tDCS have a moderate effect on potentiating non-dominant hand skill learning. Training alone, as characterized by our sham tDCS group, demonstrated clear learning, however a skill ceiling was reach by the 4th day of training. Furthermore, skill decay was observed six weeks following training in this group. These findings have not been reported previously [195] and suggest that PPT performance improvements may be susceptible to decay when trained without active tDCS. The concurrent application of anodal conventional or HD-tDCS appeared to prevent this decay of skill, as participants showed retention at the six-week follow-up.

Our findings suggest that conventional and HD-tDCS may enhance motor skill learning with retained effects. Motor learning is a process that involves both online and offline skill gains, where online effects are those that occur within the period of active training and/or stimulation while offline effects occur between training sessions (consolidation). Previous studies in adults suggested that motor learning occurs mainly through online effects but tDCS enhancement acted more selectively on offline consolidation [83]. Limited work in pediatric populations suggests that tDCS may enhance motor learning more by modulating online motor learning systems [195]. Our findings here may occupy a middle ground between these bodies of evidence whereby some degree of offline effect was suggested for tDCS and possibly HD-tDCS where between session decay appeared to be less pronounced as compared to sham. Extension of previous adult studies demonstrating effects of tDCS administered *after* training [82] have not been replicated in children and represent a potential avenue to further elucidate potential mechanisms.

Mechanisms of tDCS are difficult to study in humans with current knowledge being even more limited in the developing brain. Anodal tDCS may modulate neuronal excitability leading to increased spontaneous neuronal firing rates [8,12]. Such LTP-like enhancement and strengthening of neuronal activity between stimulated and distal locations, may be similar to natural motor learning processes [9]. Human studies suggest that tDCS paired with motor training may improve the efficacy of synaptic connections with lasting effects on cortical networks [38]. GABA systems are likely crucial in motor learning [35] and anodal tDCS may modulate M1 GABA in adults [91]. The use of advanced imaging before and after such trials may shed further light on the mechanisms of tDCS enhanced motor learning in children.

Motor learning and stimulation effects were not limited to the trained hand. Increases in motor cortical excitability [2], facilitation of motor performance [88,193,194,216] potentiation of the formation of motor memories [217], and improvement in motor learning of the contralateral hand have all been reported after application of tDCS over M1. Functional motor improvements of the untrained hand could be secondary to various mechanisms. The "callosal access" and "bilateral access" hypothesis proposes that practice-induced motor engrams developed in the dominant hemisphere that underlie performance of the trained hand are located in homologous regions that the opposite motor cortex can access via the corpus callosum, facilitating performance in the untrained limb (Anguera et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2010). Others have suggested that the improvement in the untrained hand reflects an increase of excitatory (or decrease of inhibitory) drive towards M1 [221]. Supporting evidence comes from studies using paired-pulse TMS to demonstrate suppression of intracortical inhibitory system after tDCS [221]. MR spectroscopy imaging studies have also shown a decrease in GABA at rest after tDCS applied over M1 [222]. Increases in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) induced by tDCS have also been hypothesized to modulate neuroplastic potential with possible effects on the untrained hand [221].

Both pediatric and adult studies have also shown tDCS-related improvements in the untrained hand in hemiparetic and healthy individuals using the JTT [195,223,224]. Schambra et al, conducted a study where subjects received tDCS over the left or right M1 and trained the sequential visual isometric pinch task (SVIPT) and the SRTT [84]. Left M1 tDCS had moderate effects in the right and left hand while right M1 tDCS showed a moderate effect in the left hand and a small negative effect in the right hand. Pediatric data is limited but we have previously

shown that M1 tDCS is associated with improvements in both the trained task in the untrained hand as well as spillover to other untrained motor tasks [195]. Our findings in the current study further suggest that stimulation-enhanced training effects may be transferred to the untrained hand and bimanual skills. This transfer of skill was evident only in the anodal conventional and HD-tDCS groups, suggesting that cortical modulation may be necessary for the process to occur. Even though right hand assessments were performed hours after stimulation, changes in neuronal excitability may be sustained and play a role in affecting the untrained task [12,95]. Another possible theory for a transfer of skill included mirror visual feedback that affects M1 plasticity and enhances motor function [225,226]. These phenomena have been described in conventional tDCS but require further study, particularly in HD-tDCS and other emerging neurostimulation approaches.

The development of computational current models assists in understanding brain electric field strengths as well as important potential differences of tDCS in children (Datta et al. 2009; Kessler et al. 2013). Differences may be attributable to tissue structure of the skull and age-dependent differences in grey and white matter content and CSF volume that change dynamically through development [227]. Pediatric current modeling suggests that electrodes placed on M1 produce diffuse cortical effects including contralateral M1 and bilateral premotor and supplementary motor areas [92](Ciechanski et al. *under review*). In contrast, HD-tDCS has been found to produce more focal stimulation with peak electric fields approximating functional cortical targets directly under the active electrode [27]. Despite this potentially increased specificity, there have been few studies of HD-tDCS in motor learning and none in children that we are aware of. Improvement in motor behaviours in single [197] and multiday [89] HD-tDCS

training studies appear consistent with our findings here. Our direct comparison of conventional to HD-tDCS provides further insight, though implications for mechanism remain speculative. One simple interpretation would be that stimulation of M1 is most important for enhancing motor learning effects as both montages accomplished this, likely to a comparable degree. A different hypothesis was that the stimulation of larger areas of the motor network (e.g. premotor and supplementary motor areas) and other frontal regions (prefrontal cortex) might be mediating the previously described effect of 1X1 tDCS. If this was the case, we would have expected the tDCS group to outperform the HD-tDCS group. That this did not occur provides indirect but informative evidence suggesting that M1 remains a major target for motor system neuromodulation approaches. We cannot rule out however that these other motor regions, or other areas such as primary sensory cortex, were not involved in the tDCS effects observed here.

Our study adds new safety data for both HD-tDCS and children. tDCS has been applied to thousands of subjects and a diverse array of brain disorders without evidence of harm [7]. Given that the distribution of conventional tDCS-induced electric fields is thought to be quite wide-spread across the brain and there were no previous HD-tDCS studies in children, we conducted screening tests of cognitive function before and after intervention. We observed no changes in neurocognition over the course of the study and this supports safety of both applications in children as well as the standing premise of functional targeting; neurostimulation likely modulates neurophysiological processes that are themselves undergoing plastic change. In our population, tDCS was well-tolerated with itching and tingling being common as reported previously [195]. HD-tDCS had comparable sensations and tolerability to tDCS. Adjusting saline concentration may be a method to improve tolerability and decrease sensation severity in

children for conventional tDCS [116]. Increasing the separation distance between stimulation electrode may improve the tolerability of increased scalp current with HD-tDCS but diminishes focality [27]. While most sensations reported in the sham group lasted less than two minutes, this did not appear to influence the ability to correctly distinguish their treatment group.

The AMPED trial served as a replication and validation of previous work [195]. In both studies, participants received 20 minutes of 1mA tDCS or sham; HD-tDCS was specific to the AMPED trial. The learning curves in each study were similar though our sham group may have outperformed that of the previous study, perhaps contributing to smaller effect sizes. Both alone and in combination, these studies support the principle that M1 stimulation can enhance motor learning in children. This important result should promote future research using non-invasive stimulation to modulate neuronal networks involved in motor learning in children.

The translational significance of our findings is evident for the 17 million people in the world living with CP, the leading cause of lifelong disability [198]. With M1 as the primary target, four early phase clinical trials of non-invasive stimulation paired with intensive motor therapy have shown evidence of safety and possibly efficacy in children with hemiparetic CP [97,106,187,228]. That lower baseline skill level was also predictive of responding to stimulation-enhanced motor learning in our study is consistent with previous results in young adults [229] and also potentially therapeutically relevant if in fact those with poor motor skills may be more responsive. Clinical trials of neurostimulation in disabled pediatric populations require special considerations [199] but should be driven by the first principles established in healthy populations as presented here.

Several important limitations are noted. Our study was limited by our modest sample size which was evidence based but we encountered higher variability in outcomes than anticipated, limiting our power to somewhat less than intended. This in turn may have decreased our ability to fully define the efficacy of, and any potential differences between, tDCS and HD-tDCS. There are many known factors that may dictate differences in both motor learning and response to neurostimulation including genetics (e.g. BDNF genotype), gender, age, past experience, and other environmental influences [38]. Fatigue is one such factor and our study protocol was very intense for young participants. We took extensive measures to ensure consistency in the protocol with multiple set breaks to try to diminish possible fatigue effects but these cannot be excluded.

In conclusion, tDCS and HD-tDCS of the primary motor cortex can enhance motor learning in children over days with lasting effects. Trials of existing and emerging neurostimulation approaches can be safe, are imminently feasible, and are required to define and expand therapeutic potential for children suffering from cerebral palsy and other motor disabilities.

2.6 Funding

This study was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research. The authors have no conflict of interest to report.

2.7 Acknowledgements

The expert statistical support of Dr. Alberto Nettel-Aguirre is gratefully acknowledged.

2.8 Bridge

We demonstrated lasting improvements in motor learning with both tDCS and HD-tDCS. However, the possible changes in sensorimotor function underlying this improved motor skill is unknown and warrants further study. To investigate this, we used the KINARM robot to quantify sensorimotor changes associated with tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning.

Chapter 3 – Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children

The following work was submitted to Neural Plasticity (Cole L, Dukelow SP, Giuffre A, Nettel-Aguirre A, Metzler M, and Kirton A)

Author LC's contribution to this study include: study design, participant recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and drafting and revising the manuscript. Author SPD's contribution to this study include: study design, data analysis, and revising the manuscript. Author AG's contribution to this study include: participant recruitment, data collection, data analysis, and revising the manuscript. Author ANA's contribution to the study include: data analysis and revising the manuscript. Author MM's contribution included technical support and revising the manuscript. Author AK's contribution to the study include: obtaining funding, study design, and revising the manuscript.

3.1 Abstract

Transcranial direct-current stimulation (tDCS) enhances motor learning in adults. We have demonstrated that anodal tDCS and high-definition (HD)-tDCS of the motor cortex can enhance motor skill acquisition in children but behavioral mechanisms remain unknown. Robotics can objectively quantify complex sensorimotor functions to better understand mechanisms of motor learning. We aimed to characterize changes in sensorimotor function induced by tDCS and HDtDCS paired motor learning in children within an interventional trial. Healthy, right-handed children (12-18y) were randomized to anodal tDCS, HD-tDCS, or sham targeting the right primary motor cortex during left hand Purdue Pegboard Test (PPT) training over five consecutive days. A KINARM robotic protocol quantifying proprioception, kinesthesia, visually guided reaching, and an object hit task was completed at baseline, post-training, and six weeks later. Effects of treatment group and training on changes in sensorimotor parameters were explored. Twenty-four children (median 15.5 years, 52% female) completed all measures. Compared to sham, both tDCS and HD-tDCS demonstrated enhanced motor learning with medium effect sizes. At baseline, multiple KINARM measures correlated with PPT performance. Following training, visually-guided reaching in all groups was faster and required less corrective movements in the trained arm (p=0.010). Aspects of kinesthesia including initial direction error improved across groups with sustained effects at follow-up (p=0.011). No changes with training or stimulation were observed for position sense. For the object hit task, the HD-tDCS group moved more quickly with the right hand compared to sham at post-training (p=0.044). Robotics can quantify complex sensorimotor function within neuromodulator motor learning trials in children. Correlations with PPT performance suggest KINARM metrics can assess motor learning effects. Understanding how tDCS and HD-tDCS enhance motor learning may be

improved with robotic outcomes though specific mechanisms remain to be defined. Exploring the mechanisms of neuromodulation may advance therapeutic approaches in children with cerebral palsy and other disabilities.

3.2 Introduction

Transcranial direct-current stimulation (tDCS) is a form of non-invasive brain stimulation that can modulate cortical excitability with associated behavioral changes [2]. Conventional tDCS has traditionally been applied using two large sponge electrodes (1x1 tDCS), inducing broad electric fields between the anode and cathode. More recently, modified montages have created options for high-definition tDCS (HD-tDCS) with more focal application of current to targeted cortical areas. Such montages may involve a central anode surrounded by 4 cathodes (4x1 HDtDCS). There are many reasons to suspect that tDCS effects differ in the developing brain including current modeling investigations that suggest more intense and diffuse electric fields are induced by tDCS in children [92]. Therefore, there is a need to investigate tDCS applications and mechanisms in the developing brain.

One of the most well studied effects of tDCS is its ability to enhance motor learning [76]. When paired with training of the contralateral hand, anodal tDCS centered on the primary motor cortex may improve motor acquisition and retention of skill. We have demonstrated in healthy school aged children that M1-targetted tDCS over three consecutive days of training enhances motor learning as assessed by improvements on the Purdue pegboard task (PPT) [195]. These improvements were retained six weeks later. HD-tDCS has not been commonly applied in the context of motor learning but one adult study suggests that M1 HD-tDCS may increase visuo-

motor adaptation assessed through tracing time and accuracy in several mirror drawing tasks within a single session [230]. Bi-hemispheric M1 HD-tDCS paired with unimanual and bimanual motor training for three consecutive days also showed improvements in bimanual hand dexterity [89]. Recently, we described similar effects of both anodal 1x1 tDCS and high definition tDCS (HD-tDCS) motor cortex stimulation over five days of training in healthy school-aged children [231].

Importantly, understanding the mechanisms that underlie tDCS modulation are limited [35] and virtually unstudied in the developing brains of children. While progress continues at the preclinical, cellular, imaging, and other systems level approaches, few studies have examined the behavioral mechanisms by which tDCS might enhance motor learning [83,193,196,232]. Reaching is a crucial function for everyday life that requires intricate integration between motor and sensory systems. Strong connections are evident between M1 and the somatosensory cortex, and the stimulation of M1 may impact somatosensory processing [144]. The integrity of M1 and somatosensory cortex connections have also been previously correlated with PPT scores [149]. Studies of the effects of motor learning on sensory function suggest direct interactions between M1 and the primary sensory cortex [69]. Training on motor tasks not only improves motor performance but may also enhance sensory function [70]. Position sense is independent of reaching task performance, however its integration is functionally relevant for therapeutic applications [164]. Proprioception is a composite of position sense, which refers to the static sense of limb position, and kinesthesia, the dynamic sense of limb motion [233–235]. Functional proprioception is vital in providing feedback required for motor control, coordination, and

learning. How all of these elements change during motor learning and neuromodulator are unknown in children.

The question of how sensorimotor performance changes with learning and interventions like brain stimulation can be more accurately investigated using robotics. Robotic tools have been used extensively to examine motor learning for the last few decades [236,237]. Robotic tools improve on many of the observer based clinical tools that are historically utilized to quantify sensory and motor function. Most of these clinical tools have short-comings, including a lack of sensitivity to small changes in function and poor inter-rater reliability [151–153]. Members of our team have helped develop more accurate, objective, and reliable measures of upper limb sensory and motor function using robotic technology [151,154,155,157,159,160]. We have used this technology to study healthy adults, clinical-populations, and more recently, to quantify sensorimotor function in children [170-172]. KINARM measures have been correlated with evidence-based functional outcomes and imaging biomarkers, confirming clinical relevance [172]. The KINARM provides a unique opportunity to quantify complex changes in sensorimotor function during motor learning and its neuromodulation. Such studies serve to investigate the mechanisms of motor learning, as well as increase our understanding of how tDCS influences motor and sensory function in the developing brain.

An improved understanding of motor learning neuromodulation mechanisms has immediate translational relevance for clinical populations. For example, perinatal stroke is the leading cause of hemiparetic cerebral palsy [238] where sensorimotor dysfunction results in lifelong disability [170,183]. Robotic measures of visually guided reaching, kinesthesia, and position sense in

affected children have defined mechanisms of disability, imaging biomarkers, and novel therapeutic targets [170–173]. The improved models of sensorimotor development that result from these studies inform novel targets for neuromodulation including translation into multiple recent controlled trials [94,239]. The ability to measure detailed sensorimotor functions with robotics before and after such interventions has the potential to further inform mechanisms of interventional plasticity.

Here, we aimed to characterize sensorimotor changes within a blinded, controlled interventional trial of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor training in healthy children. We hypothesized that both motor and sensory measures would change with motor learning, with tDCS specifically conferring an improvement in position sense.

3.3 Materials and Methods

Participants

Participants were recruited from our population-based Healthy Infant and Children Clinical Research Program (HICCUP) and from the community. Inclusion criteria were: 1) typical neurodevelopment, 2) right handed (Modified Edinburgh Handedness Inventory was applied at enrollment to confirm a laterality index of \geq -28), 3) healthy (no major medical condition). Exclusion criteria were: 1) neuroactive medications, or 2) non-invasive brain stimulation [202] or MRI contraindications. The Research Ethics Board at the University of Calgary approved all experimental procedures. All participants provided written consent and assent if applicable.

Study design

Accelerated Motor Learning in Pediatrics (AMPED) was a double blind, randomized, sham controlled interventional trial to determine the effects of tDCS and HD-tDCS on motor learning in children (ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03193580). Participants were computer randomized into one of three intervention groups: 1) sham, 2) right (contralateral to the trained hand) hemisphere 1mA anodal tDCS (tDCS), or 3) right (contralateral) hemisphere 1mA anodal HD-tDCS (HD-tDCS). Participants completed a series of assessments, including KINARM measures (see below) at baseline (pre-training), post-training, and at a six week follow up (follow-up). Training consisted of five consecutive days of left hand training paired with stimulation. Details of the protocol are described elsewhere [231] and summarized in the Supplementary Figure.

Motor training and transcranial direct-current stimulation

Participants trained their left, non-dominant hand on the Purdue Pegboard Test (PPT_L) for 20 minutes for five consecutive days. The PPT is a validated measure of hand dexterity [86]. Participants have 30 seconds to place as many pegs as they can with their left hand (PPT_L). The average total number of pegs placed over three trials was scored. The non-dominant hand was used to assess motor learning to achieve a steeper learning curve and avoid a possible "skill ceiling." The PPT_L was performed prior to stimulation each day. After stimulation began, the PPT_L was completed 5, 10, and 15 minutes into the stimulation period, and again after stimulation ended (three repetitions per time point). The same training was repeated on days 2 to 5. After the final training block on Day 5, participants underwent the same series of assessments as Day 1. Participants returned six weeks later and repeated all assessments to examine retention of acquired motor skills.

Non-invasive brain stimulation was administered by experienced personnel according to established tDCS methods in adult and pediatric populations [83,97,195]. Participants' 'hotspot' (region of the M1 that evoked maximum response of the first dorsal interosseous muscle) was identified using transcranial magnetic stimulation (Magstim, Cardiff UK and Axilum Robotics, Strasbourg, France). This location was co-registered to each participants' neuroanatomical T1 MRI and marked on the scalp. Participants randomized to tDCS or sham had two saline-soaked sponge electrodes (25 cm² EASYpads, Soterix Medical Inc., NY, USA) placed on the scalp and held in place by a commercially available light plastic headband sized for children (SNAPstrap, Soterix Medical Inc., NY, USA). The anode was centered over the 'hotspot' with the cathode over the contralateral supraorbital area. Electric current was applied using a Soterix 1x1 Stimulator (Soterix Medical Inc., NY, USA). For participants randomized to the HD-tDCS group, an EEG cap with a ring of four cathodes surrounding a single anode (SMARTscan Stimulator, HD-tDCS Adaptor, Electrodes, electrode holder, and gel; Soterix Medical Inc., NY, USA) was placed over the right M1. Electrodes were connected to a 1x1 stimulator attached to a 4x1 HD-tDCS Adapter (Soterix Medical Inc.). In all conditions, the strength of current applied was 1mA. For participants receiving tDCS or HD-tDCS, the current was ramped up from 0 to 1mA over 30 seconds, held at 1mA for 20 minutes, and then ramped down to 0mA over 30 seconds. For participants randomized to sham, current was also ramped up from 0 to 1mA over 30 seconds, and then immediately ramped down to 0mA. This sham protocol produces similar sensations to active forms of tDCS, however it does not induce any lasting changes in cortical excitability[240].

Robotic assessment of sensorimotor function

The primary outcomes of the current study were derived from a standardized assessment of sensorimotor function using the KINARM robot. Robotic assessments were performed at Alberta Children's Hospital using the KINARM robotic exoskeleton (BKIN Technologies Ltd., Kingston, Ontario, Canada) to measure a variety of sensorimotor tasks as previously described in healthy and stroke affected adults [154,155,157] and children [170,171]. Participants sat in a modified wheelchair base with each arm supported in the horizontal plane by the exoskeleton [158]. To achieve comparable arm positioning for smaller children, modifications were made by adding up to 5 cm of padding under the seat cushion. After the participant was set-up in the KINARM, they were wheeled into an augmented reality work station where virtual targets were projected through a semi-transparent screen (see Figure 1). Four tasks were completed in a standardized sequence.



Figure 3.1 Pediatric KINARM robot tasks for visually guided reaching, kinesthesia, and position matching tasks for an exemplar 18 year old female. (A) Frontal view of the KINARM robotic apparatus. (B) Visually guided reaching performance for the left hand and speed profile for the movement out from the center to the bottom left target. (C) Visually guided reaching performance for the right hand and speed profile for the movement from the center out to the bottom left target. The participant reached out from a central target to one of the four peripheral targets and reached back to the center target. (D) Kinesthesia single direction hand paths. Blue lines represent the robot movement of the passive left arm, red lines represent the active arm path. Grey circles represent the location of robotic movement targets. Hand speed profile show the speed of the passive (blue) and active (red) arm. (E) End positions for the position matching task. Closed symbols represent the positions where the robot moved the participants' passive left arm. The solid green lines represent the border of the outer 8 targets. Open symbols on the right represent where the participant mirror matched with their active right arm. The ellipses represent variability of matching (1SD). Open symbols on the left are the mirrored representation of the subject's attempts to match so the readers can easily compare the two arms.

A. Visually guided reaching

In a unimanual visually guided reaching task [154,164], participants were instructed to reach as quickly and accurately from a fixed central target (2 cm diameter) to one of four peripheral circular targets (2 cm diameter) located 6 cm away. The robot did not assist or provide resistance. Participants first completed the task with their dominant arm, followed by the non-dominant arm. We analyzed performance in the non-dominant arm. A total of 20 reaches were completed with each arm (five reaches per target). Targets were presented in a pseudo-randomized order. The task was identical to previous work and used the same metrics described elsewhere [172]. Performance was quantified by six parameters:

- Postural hand speed: A measure of upper limb postural control while trying to hold at the center target, measured by mean hand speed for 500ms before the peripheral target appears (cm/s).
- 2. Reaction time: The time between appearance of peripheral target and onset of movement (seconds).
- 3. Initial direction error (IDE): The angular deviation between a straight line from the central target to peripheral target and the actual path taken in the initial phase of movement (degrees).
- 4. Number of speed peaks per movement (NSP): The number of hand speed maxima between movement onset and movement offset.
- 5. Total movement time (MT): The total movement time measured in seconds.
- 6. Maximum hand speed: the maximum speed reached in the task (cm/s).

B. Kinesthesia task

The kinesthesia task assessed participants' sense of upper limb motion. With vision of the arms occluded, the participants' arms were brought into a mirrored starting position at one of three possible positions. To do this, the robot moved the non-dominant arm passively to a position, the subject then placed the index finger of their opposite active arm, represented by a white circle in the virtual environment, into a red target presented in a mirrored position in the workspace. When the subject placed the white circle in the red target, a trial was initiated [157]. The target then disappeared from the workspace and the robot initiated the movement of the non-dominant (passive) arm at 0.18m/s for 12 cm to one of the other 2 targets in the workspace. As soon as participants felt the initiation of movement, they were asked to mirror match the speed,

amplitude, and direction of movement with their dominant (active) arm. The order of targets was pseudo-randomized, and participants completed six blocks of six trials. The task was completed with vision of the arms occluded. The task was identical to previous work [171], and the parameters have been thoroughly described elsewhere [157,171,241]. Task performance was measured by eight parameters:

- 1. Response latency (RL): The time to initiate a matching movement in response to the robotic movement (milliseconds).
- Initial direction error (IDE): The angular deviation from the direction of the robotic movement and active arm length (degrees).
- 3. Peak speed ratio (PSR): The ratio of how well the participant matched the peak speed of the active arm to that of the robotic arm. Ratios <1 indicate movement slower than the robot, >1 indicates faster than the robot.
- 4. Path length ratio (PLR): The ratio of the length of active arm movement relative to the length of the robot moved passive arm.

The standard deviations across all movements were also classified as the variability of each parameter: RLv, IDEv, PSRv, and PLRv.

C. Position matching task

The arm-position matching task measured position sense ability [155]. With bell-shaped velocity, the robot moved the participants' non-dominant (passive) arm to one of nine spatial targets, each separated by 6 cm. When the movement was complete, participants were instructed to match their dominant (active) arm to the mirror-image location of the passive arm. A total of 54 movements were performed involving six blocks of trials where the targets were pseudo-

randomized. This task was identical to previous work [170] and the parameters are described elsewhere [155,170]. The task was completed with vision occluded. The performance was quantified by three parameters:

- 1. Variability (Var_{xy}): Endpoint variability (mean standard deviation) of the active arm position in the matched location, measured in centimeters.
- Contraction/expansion: The ratio of area moved over by active hand relative to the area moved over by the passive hand (values <1 demonstrate contraction).
- 3. Systematic shift (Shift_{xy}): The spatial translation of the workspace between the passive and active hands, measured in centimeters.

D. Object hit task

The KINARM object hit task assessed rapid visuomotor function, decision-making skills, and bilateral motor control [169]. Virtual balls fell from the top of the workspace towards the participant who used 5 cm virtual paddles located at their hands to hit the balls away. A total of 300 balls fell from 10 bins separated equally across the top of the workspace [156]. As the task continued, the difficulty increased, where balls fell at greater speeds and appeared more often. Twelve parameters were collected as previously described [169]. A learning effect has been observed in children and this effect was diminished after performing the task twice [175]. Therefore, a practice effect trial was completed at the beginning of each assessment. Performance was quantified with seven variables:

- 1. Total balls hit: total number of balls successfully hit throughout task.
- 2. Total balls with left or right hand: total balls hit with either left or right hand.

- 3. Median error: the percentage of the task that is complete at the time subjects make 50% of their errors (percentage).
- Mean hand speed for the right and left hands: the average hand speed for each hand (cm/s).
- 5. Hand bias hits: quantifies hand dominance in balls hit. Calculated as:

Total_RightHand_Hits-Total_LeftHand_Hits Total_RightHand_Hits+Total_LeftHand_Hits

- 6. Hand movement bias area: quantifies differences in size of workspace of each hand.
- 7. Hand bias speed: quantifies the difference between mean hand speeds of the left and right hand.

Statistical analysis

Non-parametric statistics were used to examine differences in KINARM task scores due to relatively small sample size and the lack of knowledge on whether the true distribution of the measurements were normal. Shapiro-Wilk tests determined the normality of the sampled data distributions. Spearman correlation was used to identify associations between baseline robotic scores, PPT performance, and age. Kruskal-Wallis One-way Analysis of Variance on Ranks was used to examine possible differences in baseline scores across intervention groups, and examine intervention effects at each time point. Post-hoc analysis employed Dunn's test. One-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) and Chi-square/Fischer Exact tests compared group demographics and baseline PPT_L score. Paired t-tests examined the differences in the left and right-hand baseline PPT scores. Significance values were adjusted for multiple comparisons

using Bonferroni corrections. The Friedman test was used to explore training effects within and across intervention groups with post-hoc Wilcoxon-Signed Rank test Analysis was performed using SigmaPlot 12.5 (Systat Software Inc.; San Jose USA) and SPSS (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA).

3.4 Results

Population characteristics

Twenty-four children were recruited and completed all training and robotic measures (median age 15.5 years, range 12-18 years, 52% female). Age, sex distribution, self-reported handedness, and baseline clinical function measures did not differ between intervention groups (p>0.323). All groups demonstrated a higher PPT_R compared to PPT_L scores (p<0.001). Baseline KINARM robotic scores did not differ between groups (p>0.05). Population characteristics by intervention group are summarized in Table 1.

Stimulation group	Age (SD)	Laterality Index (SD)	Sex F:M	Baseline PPT _L (SD)	Baseline PPT _R (SD)	Baseline PPT _L vs. PPT _R
Sham	15.8 (1.3)	81.9 (22.8)	3:5	13.8 (1.3)	15.2 (1.9)	p=0.013
tDCS	15.9 (1.5)	82.5 (13.1)	6:2	13.5 (1.3)	15.2 (1.9)	p=0.011
HD-tDCS	14.8 (2.0)	81.3 (14.6)	4:4	13.9 (1.9)	15.8 (1.6)	p<0.001
Mean	15.5 (1.7)	81.9 (16.6)	13:11	13.8 (1.5)	15.4 (1.7)	p<0.001
Between groups	p=0.324	p=0.879	p=0.309	p=0.846	p=0.741	

Table 3.1 Baseline demographics and motor function

Age = age in years at enrollment, laterality index measured through the Modified Edinburgh Handedness Inventory, Baseline $PPT_L =$ left hand Purdue pegboard score measured at baseline, Baseline $PPT_R =$ right hand Purdue pegboard score measured at baseline.

Motor learning

The effects of intervention on motor learning were described in detail elsewhere [231]. In summary, all participants demonstrated an increased number of pegs placed over the five days of training on the primary training task (PPT_L), regardless of intervention group (p<0.001). Participants receiving tDCS or HD-tDCS had significantly enhanced rates of learning compared to sham (tDCS p=0.042, HD-tDCS p=0.049) with moderate to large effect sizes (Cohen's d tDCS=0.655, HD-tDCS=0.851) and sustained effects at 6 weeks.

Visually guided reaching

Outcomes for left hand visually guided reaching are summarized in Figure 2. At baseline, no associations were observed with age in any of the six robotic parameters (all r<0.209, all p>0.072). Baseline left hand visually guided reaching reaction time was negatively correlated with baseline PPT_L score (r=-0.582, p=0.003) (Figure 2A), where quicker reaction times correlated with higher PPT_L score. Reaction time in the left hand was not significantly altered by training or intervention (both factors p>0.214) (Figure 2B). Movement time with the left hand

across all groups decreased over the training period (p=0.010) (Figure 2C), where post-hoc comparisons identified a significant reduction from pre-training to follow-up (p=0.042). There was also an overall significant effect of training in the number of speed peaks (p=0.019) (Figure 2D), meaning subjects tended to make less sub-movements during left hand reaching. Post-hoc comparisons identified a marginal reduction from pre-training to follow-up (p=0.063). The left hand visually guided reaching initial direction error, postural speed, and left hand maximum speed were not significantly affected by training or intervention group (all p>0.05).



Figure 3.2 Visually guided reaching with the left hand. A) Scatterplot of baseline left hand Purdue Pegboard Task (PPT_L) score and baseline reaction time. B) Reaction time at pretraining (white), post-training (light grey), and follow-up (dark grey) across the three intervention groups: sham, tDCS, and HD-tDCS. C) Total movement time across the three intervention groups at pre-training, post-training, and follow-up. D) The number of speed peaks across the three intervention groups at pre-training, post-training, post-training, and follow-up.

Kinesthesia

Figure 3 summarizes the kinesthesia outcomes. Baseline IDE (r=-0.544, p=0.006) and IDEv (r=-0.461, p=-0.024) were correlated with age (Figure 3A). Baseline PSRv showed a weak correlation with age (r=-0.399, p=0.053). There was a significant effect of training on IDE (p=0.011), where post-hoc comparisons revealed a decrease in IDE between pre-training vs post-training (p=0.028) and pre-training vs follow-up (p=0.028) (Figure 3B). Thus, the ability to mirror match the direction of movement with the untrained hand in the kinesthesia task improved with training across all groups. There was no significant effect of training on IDEv (p=0.093) (Figure 3A). There was an overall marginal training effect seen in PSR (p=0.093) (Figure 3C). There were no differences in PSR between intervention groups (p>0.542). There was no significant effect of training (all p>0.207) time (p=0.353) effects on PLR. A significant interaction effect of intervention and training was found (p=0.036). However, there was an overall effect of training within the HD-tDCS group (p=0.005), with a significant increase in PLR from baseline to follow-up (p=0.003). There was no effect of training or intervention on response latency (both p>0.05).



Figure 3.3 Kinesthesia task. A) Scatter plot of age versus baseline initial direction error (IDE) (black circles) and variability of IDE (IDEv) (grey circles). B) The baseline IDE across the three intervention groups at pre-training (white), post-training (light grey), and follow-up (dark grey). *C) The peak speed ratio (PSR) across the pre-training, post-training, and follow-up in the three intervention groups.*

Position matching

Outcomes for the position matching task are summarized in Figure 4. None of the three measures of Var_{xy} , Shift_{xy}, or contraction/expansion correlated with age (all r>0.290, p>0.077). The primary position matching outcome of Var_{xy} correlated with baseline PPT_L (r=-0.540, p=0.006), where lower variability was correlated with higher (better) PPT_L scores (Figure 4A). Var_{xy} performance did not improve with training (p=0.687) (Figure 4B). There was no significant effect of training or intervention group on Var_{xy} , Shift_{xy} or contraction/expansion (all p>0.05).



Figure 3.4 Position matching task endpoint variability (Var_{xy}). A) Scatter plot of baseline Var_{xy} and baseline left hand Purdue Pegboard score (PPT_L). The Var_{xy} across three intervention groups at pre-training (white), post-training (light grey), and follow-up (dark grey).

Object hit

Figure 5 summarizes the outcomes for the object hit task. There was a significant correlation between baseline total hits and age (r=0.428, p=0.037) where older participants hit more balls. There was a modest correlation between baseline PPT_L score and total hits (r=0.385, p=0.062), where higher PPT_L scores correlated with more objects hit. There was no significant effect of training or intervention group on total balls hit (all p>0.05). There was an overall training effect on the number of balls hit with the left hand at post-training (p=0.041) (Figure 5A). However, post-hoc comparisons did not demonstrate a difference between time points. A Benjamini-Hochberg procedure was performed to further examine post-hoc comparisons and there was a significant difference between pre-training and follow-up (p=0.017) and post-training compared to follow-up (p=0.033). Baseline total hits with the right hand were correlated with age (r=0.410, p=0.046). There was no training effect on number of balls hit with the right hand (p=0.131) (Figure 5B). A significant intervention effect at post-training was identified (p=0.038) where post-hoc analysis suggested that the HD-tDCS group hit more balls with the right hand at posttraining compared to sham (p=0.032).

The hand hit bias marginally shifted towards 0 over training demonstrating an increased use of their left hand, regardless of laterality index measured at baseline (p=0.072) (Figure 5C). There was a significant difference between intervention groups for hand hit bias (p<0.027) at both post-training and follow-up where the sham group had a smaller bias compared to the HD-tDCS

group (p=0.024 and p=0.027, respectively). Baseline left hand speed correlated with baseline PPT_L score (p=0.407, r=0.048), where faster movements correlated with higher PPT_L score. Left hand speed did not increase over training (p=0.214) or across intervention groups (all p>0.692). Untrained right hand speed also did not change over training (p=0.747). There was however an overall difference in right hand speed across intervention groups at post (p=0.044) and follow-up (p=0.005) where post-hoc comparisons identified a significant increase from pre- to post-training in the HD-tDCS group compared to sham (p=0.044). At follow-up, the HD-tDCS group had higher right also a significant training effect on hand speed bias at post-training (p=0.046) and follow-up (p=0.038) where the HD-tDCS group showed higher hand speed bias at both training points compared to sham (p=0.049 and p=0.033, respectively).



Figure 3.5 Object Hit task. A) The number of total hits with the left hand and B) number of total hits with the right hand across the three intervention groups at pre-training (white), post-training (light), and follow-up C) The hand bias hits across the three intervention groups at pre-training, post training, and follow-up. *p<0.05

3.5 Discussion

We quantified changes in sensorimotor function induced by tDCS-enhanced motor learning in children using robotics. We demonstrated coherence between baseline function and improvements in the trained task and multiple robotic measures. Improvements in specific components of visually guided reaching and kinesthesia were observed with motor learning across intervention groups. Intervention-specific effects were not as clear. Our findings demonstrate the ability of robotics to explore motor learning and its modulation by non-invasive neurostimulation in children.

Robotics have been a vital tool to understand motor learning in adults including defining specific metrics such as the corrective responses important in motor learning of goal direct reaching [242]. Long latency responses are important in corrective movements and have been shown to be correlated with reaching errors during learning [243]. Motor learning requires both feedforward and feedback models. Feed forward models utilize state estimation of limb position and are highly involved in goal directed reaching [244]. Feedback mechanisms are modulated by GABA interneurons in the spinal cord, and ablation of these neurons involved in proprioceptive afferents result in forelimb oscillations in reaching [245]. Robotics can also be utilized as a training tool in motor learning [236]. Robotic applied force fields can alter movement trajectory and assess forces of corrective motions [246]. We believe our results add a novel component to these diverse explorations of motor learning mechanisms by expanding into the realm of noninvasive neuromodulation in pediatrics.

The correlations we observed between KINARM metrics and PPT performance at baseline supports the use of this robotic tool in studying the mechanisms of motor learning in children performing this task. The KINARM robot is a validated, well-studied, objective measure of sensorimotor function. Previous studies have demonstrated that the re-test reliability of visually guided reaching [154,175], kinesthesia [161], and position matching [155,175] tasks is strong. The re-test reliability of the object hit may be more variable, as re-test reliability is high in adults, [169] but a learning effect is seen in pediatric population [175]. To overcome learning effects on the object hit task, we opted to add a practice session at the beginning of the KINARM assessments, which was not included in the analysis. Given the strong re-test reliability of our KINARM assessments, we postulate that that the sensorimotor changes we observed are not related to a learning effect on the KINARM. Rather, these changes can be attributed to hand dexterity training or a combination of training and intervention.

Robot technologies have also been utilized in tDCS studies in adults and pediatric disease populations. A case study of an adult participant with unilateral spastic CP found that reaching accuracy on a robotic task was improved when conventional anodal tDCS was applied over multiple sessions combined with robotic therapy [247]. Another single session trial of children with CP receiving ipsilesional M1 tDCS or sham, combined with functional training, examined changes in spatiotemporal variables associated with upper arm reaching movement [248]. This study described a reduction in total and returning movement durations in both the paretic and non-paretic limbs in the tDCS group but not the sham controls. Here, we observed that after five days of hand training, overall reaching movements were faster and less corrective movements were made. In our study, only a modest number of specific effects possibly related to tDCS

intervention were suggested. This finding may be due to our participants having intact sensorimotor function, where it may be difficult to detect small functional changes. This is in contrast to studies of clinical populations such as CP, which have pronounced sensorimotor deficits that may be more sensitive to change.

Few tDCS motor learning studies have examined sensorimotor functional correlates. One pilot study of five adult stroke or traumatic brain injury participants applied bihemispheric tDCS paired with upper extremity physical therapy, and examined effects on PPT scores and the KINARM visually guided reaching and object hit tasks [249]. Findings suggested possible effects on path length ratio and the miss bias of the object hit task at post-training compared to baseline. However, the same study did not report changes in PPT scores, which may be due to the study design that focused on gross motor training. Our study identified a marginal shift in hand hit bias across training but not a change in the miss bias over training or intervention. The observed shift in hand hit bias may be attributed to the intensive non-dominant hand training that participants underwent, which may have assisted in improving left hand function. Taken together, there is a clear need to synergize both measurement and training tasks to understand the meaning of alterations in robotic measures of sensorimotor function.

Motor learning is not a unidirectional process but rather requires constant sensory signals to inform the motor system. A controlled study of children and adults with CP performing fine motor training through piano playing for four consecutive weeks demonstrated an improved ability to sense and perceive local vibrations [250]. Another study found that a motor learning paradigm involving velocity-dependent force fields improved proprioceptive estimates of hand
position in space [70]. These studies support our findings that hand dexterity training can alter proprioceptive function. The object hit task also required visuospatial attentiveness. We demonstrated improved bimanual motor ability including a possible shift in hand hit bias, where both hands were used more equally. Interestingly, despite showing enhanced motor learning, the HD-tDCS group showed a significant increase in hand hit bias towards the right hand. Whether this finding is due to changes in visuospatial attention or motor function requires further study. As well, these effects suggest that HD-tDCS may have differential effects on sensory motor function, highlighting a need for mechanistic studies in adults and children.

The results obtained here contribute novel data to the growing, but limited, field of non-invasive neuromodulation in children. Unlike long-standing adult evidence, the proof of principle study which showed that conventional tDCS of motor cortex can enhance motor learning in healthy school-aged children was only recently completed [195]. Also, unlike much of the adult evidence to date, these findings have recently been replicated within the larger trial on which the current study is based, demonstrating that both conventional and HD-tDCS can enhance motor skill acquisition [231]. Safety data for tDCS applications in children is increasingly established but still represents a very small proportion of the published evidence [7,251]. The KINARM data presented here adds to and further reinforces the favourable safety profile of tDCS in the developing brain by demonstrating no decreases in detailed metrics of sensory and motor function within a controlled study.

Our study explored possible sensory and motor effects of anodal tDCS and HD-tDCS targeting M1. In addition to motor control, M1 may also be involved in aspects of proprioception, such as

position sense and kinesthesia. Neuroimaging studies have demonstrated activations during kinesthesia-related tasks in Brodmann areas 4a, 4p, 6 and SMA during kinesthetic illusions [252]. Brodmann area 2, which is more classically involved in kinesthesia, was also activated. Such studies have demonstrated that kinesthesia is associated with motor areas and robust connections exist throughout the frontal and parietal cortex, all of which may have been influenced by tDCS and, less likely, by HD-tDCS. Our inability to identify any large effects of tDCS or HD-tDCS on kinesthesia may relate to multiple factors.

Our study examined correlations between baseline KINARM sensorimotor function across age groups and motor function. In both healthy control and stroke-affected adults, visually guided reaching and position matching task variables have been correlated with PPT [164]. In healthy children, however, PPT score may not correlate with Var_{xy} or Shift_{xy} [170], suggesting age-specific differences. This previous finding is inconsistent with our work, where we showed that baseline Var_{xy} was significantly correlated with baseline PPT_L. We identified a correlation between baseline reaction time and baseline PPT_L, with no correlation to the remaining variables. A pediatric study of healthy controls and concussion patients found non-dominant hand PPT scores and hits with their non-dominant hand in the object hit task. We did not identify such a correlation with non-dominant hand PPT scores and baseline total hits with the left hand. Therefore, our study was able to reproduce some but not all correlations of previous studies.

Previous work by our lab suggested that perinatal stroke populations show dysfunction in position sense, kinesthesia, and visually guided reaching [170–172]. The application of tDCS paired with motor therapy as a possible treatment to improve sensorimotor function in this clinical population was supported by two early clinical trials [94,97]. The addition of detailed behavioral outcomes has been suggested as an important outcome in the design of such childhood disability trials as they move forward [199]. Our results here support the feasibility of this approach while also helping to define the potential and limitations of the ability of such measures to demonstrate intervention-induced change.

Our study has important limitations. Our ability to fully define the effects of tDCS and HD-tDCS on robotic outcomes may have been restricted by our modest sample size, which was powered on the primary clinical outcome [231]. Our age range spans a group of children and adolescents that are developmentally unique, possibly contributing to substantial variability in response. Our study excluded younger children, who are also in need of investigation. The differential effects of tDCS on various age groups are poorly understood. We had a comprehensive and consistent protocol with multiple set breaks to minimize fatigue effects, but these cannot be excluded and likely varied across subjects. There are other known factors that may dictate responsiveness to brain stimulation that we could not control including sleep, experience, and genetics.

In conclusion, robotics can quantify task-specific sensorimotor functions before and after motor training and neurostimulation interventions in children. Hand motor training may be mediated by specific improvements in elements of visually guided reaching and kinesthesia. Although tDCS

and HD-tDCS can enhance such motor learning, the robotic sensorimotor correlates of such neuromodulation may require more powerful studies to be defined.

3.5 Data Availability

The data used to support the findings of this study are included within the article and available from the corresponding author upon request.

3.6 Conflicts of Interest

The authors have no conflict of interest to report.

3.7 Funding Statement

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research.

3.8 Supplementary Material



Figure S3.1. Trial design

Chapter 4 - Conclusion

4.1 Summary of Main Findings

Here we investigated the effects of tDCS and HD-tDCS on motor learning and sensorimotor function in healthy children. Our study was the first to systematically apply HD-tDCS in a pediatric population, providing novel evidence of the safety and tolerability of HD-tDCS. Our findings suggest comparable enhancement of motor learning with HD-tDCS and conventional tDCS montages. We observed no decline of other motor or neurocognitive functions, contributing to growing evidence of safety and favorable tolerability of direct-current stimulation in children. We further demonstrated the ability of robotics to quantify sensorimotor changes associated with motor training and neurostimulation in children and adolescents. We observed improvements in specific elements including visually guided reaching and kinesthesia in the trained arm. Our findings advance neurostimulation applications and the measurement of their effects in children, including those with disabilities such as cerebral palsy.

4.2 The effect of tDCS and HD-tDCS on motor learning

We demonstrated that both tDCS and HD-tDCS increased the rate of motor learning as assessed by the PPT. Retention testing suggested that this improvement in skill was retained up to six weeks later. In contrast, training alone demonstrated skill decay after six weeks. This difference in retention of skill between intervention groups was not previously described [96] and may reflect differences in the training dose between comparable studies. Despite both methods passing weak current through the brain, the patterns of electric field induced by tDCS and HD-tDCS differ. The targeting of tDCS over M1 has been shown to produce diffuse cortical effects, with current maxima lying between the anode and cathode, rather than directly under the electrodes [33,92]. In contrast, the HD-tDCS has current maxima more focused under the active electrode [28,34,92] which may lead to relatively more targeted stimulation. Despite the differences in electric field patterns induced by these unique montages, very similar motor learning improvements were observed in our study. This finding may be explained by the hypothesis that stimulation of M1 is crucial in enhancing motor learning. While HD-tDCS was considered as more focal, the conventional tDCS montage applied likely stimulates other cortical areas such as the premotor cortex, SMA, and primary somatosensory cortex. That both almost certainly stimulate M1 and produced nearly identical effects suggests that such stimulation may be sufficient to enhance motor learning. Another hypothesis proposes that diffuse stimulation of larger networks, possibly involving fontal regions, may be necessary for conventional tDCS improvements in motor learning. This idea of diffuse stimulation of networks is supported by current modeling studies [92] but not our findings. Future studies are warranted to investigate what specific regions of the brain must be stimulated to enhance motor learning. Advances in HD-tDCS technology may facilitate such studies.

This trial replicated and validated a previous similar investigation by our team, which applied the same tDCS montage, current strength, and training task [96]. Unlike the previous study, we also investigated the novel effects of HD-tDCS in children, where we demonstrated enhanced motor learning. The learning curves of the anodal conventional tDCS groups of these two studies showed similar trends though overall we observed smaller effect sizes than the previous study.

This finding may be due to the AMPED study sham group outperforming the previous study's sham group with increased variance between subjects. In combination, the AMPED study and previous work further demonstrated that tDCS and HD-tDCS targeting the M1 can enhance motor learning in children. Validation studies of neurostimulation have been rare and are an important step to responsibly advance the field. We hope our efforts will ultimately facilitate the advancement of pediatric non-invasive brain stimulation efforts.

The field of determining inter-individual differences in the susceptibility to tDCS and other noninvasive neurostimulation effects is poorly defined but increasingly emphasized [18]. Baseline skill may be an important factor in understanding the effects of anodal tDCS on an array of tasks. For example, one study of anodal tDCS targeting the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex found that novice musicians benefited from active stimulation compared to expert musicians that had hindered performance with active stimulation [253]. Another recent study examined the effect of tDCS on surgical skill learning in medical students and found that low-skill performers receiving tDCS improved tumor resection ability more than both the low-skill participants receiving sham and the high-skill performers receiving tDCS [229]. This study supported our findings that baseline skill may influence the extent of motor skill enhancement seen with tDCS. The low performer group in our study showed significantly enhanced motor learning with tDCS and HDtDCS compared to sham, whereas our high performer intervention groups appeared to show no effects of stimulation whatsoever. This finding is novel in pediatric neurostimulation research and further study is needed to determine if baseline skill dictates response to stimulation. This dichotomy suggests that basal levels of skill should be considered in the design of future trials.

4.3 Safety of tDCS and HD-tDCS in a pediatric population

We demonstrated that both conventional tDCS and HD-tDCS was feasible, safe, and tolerable in healthy school-aged children. These findings align with larger safety data in adults and children [7]. We did not observe any scalp damage, seizure activity, or abnormal cognitive states. The use of neurophysiological testing as a safety outcome was novel in pediatric tDCS research and a valuable adjunct to the first study of HD-tDCS in children. We found no decline in neurocognitive function across the three intervention groups as anticipated. We also did not observe any decrease in hand function on either side, as measured by the PPT and JTT. A decrease in performance on these tasks may have been an indicator of unexpected modulation of motor networks. Using the KINARM robot, we also did not observe decrease in detailed tests of sensorimotor function across groups. The HD-tDCS group demonstrated an increased right hand-hit bias in the object hit task however this group did not show any consistent decrease in left hand function.

Current modeling studies have suggested that when identical stimulation montages were applied, children experienced stronger electric field strengths at the neuronal level [92]. This finding has implications for the safety of tDCS and HD-tDCS application in children, in which stimulation parameters are often based on adult studies. Adult investigations have commonly applied a standard of 1 to 2mA currents. Recently, an adult stroke study applied 4mA bihemispheric tDCS in a single session and reported no adverse events. In a pediatric population, commonly applied current strengths may lead to the induction of electric fields that surpass those seen in the strongest currents applied in adults. We cannot rule out that electric fields induced in pediatric populations may induce electric fields comparable to those of 4mA tDCS, the strongest applied

in adult trials with dedicated safety outcomes. Additional rigorous safety studies are necessary to examine changes in complex neurological processes, as well as long-term investigations of the effect of tDCS and HD-tDCS in the developing brain.

4.4 Robotic assessment of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning

The findings of our study suggest that robotics can assess changes in sensorimotor function following a multi-day neurostimulation-paired motor training paradigm in children. Robotics have previously been used as a training task in a variety of motor learning paradigms. Force field paradigms allow for movement to be unexpectedly altered, which induces adaption over a short timescale [236]. Robot-assisted motor training with force fields can demonstrate movement adaptation and feedforward control of movement [246]. Mechanical perturbations in goal directed reaching have also demonstrated the importance of online feedback responses and adaption [243]. There have been multiple studies exploring the use of robotics as an outcome measure to explore changes in motor learning, however pediatric literature is limited. While robotics hold potential to examine sensorimotor changes associated with motor learning, other sensory assessing modalities can also be used. A study examined the effect of fine motor training, through piano playing, in children and adults with CP and demonstrated improved sensory perception [250]. Our study further demonstrated the utility of robotics to quantify sensorimotor changes resulting from fine motor training in children.

Robotics have been used as a training tool in trials of non-invasive brain stimulation-paired motor learning. Robotics have been combined with tDCS in chronic adult stroke cases for upper

limb rehabilitation [254]. There has been promising results of clinical improvements when tDCS is applied concurrently to robotic therapy, compared to robotic therapy alone [255–257]. Our small number of specific effects associated with active stimulation may be explained by a variety of factors such as the modest power of our convenience sample, functional changes, the specific anatomical regions stimulated, or other elements. The use of tDCS and robotics has also been utilized in clinical populations such as children with CP and have shown improved reaching accuracy on robotic reaching tasks over single sessions [248]. In our study, we did not observe a significant benefit of tDCS or HD-tDCS on reaching, despite a larger dose of training compared to previous investigations. This finding may be due to a difficultly in detecting small functional changes in healthy children, who already have high function, in contrast to pronounced deficits observed in the CP population.

Lesion-to-function studies utilizing robotics as an outcome measure have also identified specific regions of the brain involved in proprioception. The posterior parietal cortex, transverse temporal gyrus, and arcuate fasciculus have demonstrated a possible involvement in position sense function [142]. The networks involved in position sense ability are complex however this previous study highlighted possible targets for non-invasive brain stimulation. Our tDCS and HD-tDCS montage may not have been optimized to reach these areas, limiting the changes seen in position sense. Current modeling of tDCS and HD-tDCS demonstrate that a low amount of diffuse current may be reaching the posterior parietal region [92] but this stimulation may be too weak to contribute to functional improvements.

Not surprisingly, different brain regions are responsible for specific deficits in aspects of kinesthesia function [258]. Robotic assessment paired with neuroimaging in adult stroke identified the bilateral post-central and supramarginal gyri are involved in interpreting movement direction. In our study, we saw improvements in initial direction error with training, regardless of intervention. Current modeling can also inform such understanding. Previous work has demonstrated that motor cortex tDCS and even HD-tDCS electric fields may reach more remote locations such as the supramarginal gyrus [92], however it is unknown how cortical excitability may change in this region. Likewise, it is unknown how simply stimulating this region relates to functional changes, as the relationship between neuronal polarization by tDCS and neurological function is complex. Our sham and tDCS groups showed marginal improvements in path length ratio. In contrast, the HD-tDCS group had an increase in path length ratio (the participants' matched movement length was longer than the robots) from baseline to follow-up. The previously described studies suggest that impairments in path length ratio were associated with lesions in the right superior and middle temporal gyri, anterior insula, supramarginal gyrus, and bilateral parietal opercula. Current modeling of M1-targeting HD-tDCS shows that inducedelectric field stimulate the supramarginal gyrus and anterior insula. It has not been described how cortical excitability may be affected by HD-tDCS in these regions, however this may contribute to why we observe a decreased ability to optimize path-length ratios. Robotics are a valuable tool for assessing sensorimotor functional changes associated with motor learning and tDCS. Our results are encouraging for future studies to examine further sensorimotor changes resulting from motor learning in children. Integrating advanced imaging to trials such as ours may further inform additional anatomical or functional specificity of mechanisms of motor learning and its enhancement with tDCS.

4.5 Limitations

Our findings suggest that motor learning was improved by tDCS and HD-tDCS in healthy school aged children but there were inherent limitations that must be considered in the interpretation of our results. Importantly, we were limited by our informed but modest sample size and this may have decreased our ability to fully define the efficacy of, or any potential differences between, tDCS and HD-tDCS, as well as robotic-assessed sensorimotor outcomes. Our trial was powered to demonstrate changes in the primary trial outcome, change in PPT_L score but we encountered higher than expected variance and performance in the sham group with implications for both the primary and secondary sensorimotor function analyses. An important limitation of motor learning studies involving repeated motor training was a possible skill ceiling effect that may be reached. Once this ceiling is reached, no further improvements may be observed with additional practice, limiting the continued effects of tDCS on motor learning. The ceiling effect of PPT has not been well-established but our learning curves suggested ongoing gains even at day five. Participants performed the PPT_L a total of 81 times throughout the study. The non-dominant hand was used to try to diminish the possibility of reaching a skill plateau. We have had success using PPT as the main motor outcome in tDCS motor learning in the past [96], however it is important to note that almost half the number of repetitions was performed.

Another important limitation relates to fatigue. We had an extensive and consistent protocol with multiple set breaks to try to diminish possible fatigue effects. The KINARM assessment was completed at the beginning of the day to try to diminish mental fatigue. In addition to fatigue, there are known factors that may lead to tDCS variability such as common polymorphisms in the

BDNF gene that adds heterogeneity to our sample [38]. Our study did not genotype individuals, therefore a portion of our sample may have shown differential responses to tDCS and motor learning. Other limitations pertaining to secondary outcomes include that the SRTT has not been commonly applied in children in the past to measure implicit motor learning [193,259,260]. Children may have a hard time focusing for the task's duration but there are 30 second breaks after each trial. We have had success using SRTT in our previous study who had a younger median age [96]. The KINARM also has some limitations. The KINARM manipulates the shoulder and elbow joint, therefore limiting the ability to extrapolate results to complicated 3D movements that include fine motor skills in the hand which are clearly involved in some components of the PPT. The KINARM also operates exclusively in the horizontal plane, limiting its ability to assess the wrist and intrinsic hand function. However, previous adult and pediatric studies have demonstrated that the KINARM is more sensitive in quantifying sensorimotor function change compared to traditional clinical measures [154,155,157,170,171].

4.6 Study Implications

This study has direct implications for the use of tDCS and HD-tDCS in motor learning in children. It provided further safety data in healthy, typically developing children to inform practice in clinical populations such as pediatric CP. This study demonstrated a possible effect of intense motor training improving aspects of visually guided reaching and kinesthesia function. Robotics have defined kinesthesia and visually guided reaching deficits in children with CP [171,172] and our findings may be important in motivating further trials children with CP to combat these deficits. We did not observe an intervention effect to improve sensorimotor

function. However, there may be utility for tDCS and HD-tDCS in CP where there is pronounced sensorimotor deficits that may be more sensitive to change.

4.7 Future directions

In the future, larger studies dedicated to examining possible robotic sensorimotor changes associated with tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children are needed. It is crucial to further optimize tDCS and HD-tDCS protocols while exploring the mechanism of action in pediatrics. This step is necessary to advance the therapeutic application of tDCS and HD-tDCS in children with CP and other motor disabilities. The use of robotics as a training tool may be an important next step in children. The application of tDCS and HD-tDCS during robotic tasks such as visually guided reaching or force-field adaptation may allow for further sensorimotor motor gains in both control and clinical pediatric populations. Future studies involving EEG may be an important tool in further understanding the effect of tDCS in the developing brain. The use of this tool may be vital in characterizing post-synaptic activity in the brain and has utility in examining tDCS effects in children with Autism Spectrum Disorder [261]. The use of cerebellar tDCS to improve motor function in CP is a developing field [262]. The use of this montage to enhance motor coordination in larger studies of healthy and CP affected children is warranted.

There are many complex factors affecting an individual's capacity for tDCS enhanced motor learning, as observed in our low and high performers' susceptibility for neurostimulationenhanced motor learning. Others have demonstrated that non-responders to tDCS have a decreased capacity for motor learning, however there was no difference in cortical excitability changes found between responders and non-responders [263]. Further studies need to be

dedicated to understand the possible neurophysiological variability between individuals and this variability's effect on neuroplasticity [38]. A future direction would be to examine BDNF polymorphisms in the context of neuroplasticity in children, which may alter their response to tDCS.

Computational modeling is a crucial tool in understanding strength of electric field differences between adults and children, as well as differences between children at differing developmental stages. This field of research is expanding and there are multiple factors that may contribute to differences between participants, such variations in grey and white matter and CSF volume, which change throughout development [27,92]. There is a need to characterize inter-individual differences to therefore optimize a more individualized approach to tDCS application.

In conclusion, tDCS and HD-tDCS can safely enhance motor learning in healthy children. Motor training on the PPT may be accompanied by specific functional sensorimotor changes. Our findings promise to advance stimulation protocols and outcome measures to advance therapeutic options for children with motor disabilities such as cerebral palsy.

4.8 References

- [1] Priori A, Berardelli A, Rona S, Accornero N, Manfredi M. Polarization of the human motor cortex through the scalp. Neuroreport 1998;9:2257–60.
- [2] Nitsche MA, Paulus W. Excitability changes induced in the human motor cortex by weak transcranial direct current stimulation. JPhysiol 2000;527 Pt 3:633–9.
- [3] Elsner B, Kugler J, Pohl M, Mehrholz J. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) for improving health -related quality of life, disability and impairment in patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease. In: The Cochrane Collaboration, editor. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev., Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2014.
- [4] Fregni F, Pascual-Leone A. Technology insight: noninvasive brain stimulation in neurology-perspectives on the therapeutic potential of rTMS and tDCS. NatClinPractNeurol 2007;3:383–93.
- [5] Gillick BT, Feyma T, Menk J, Krach LE, Usset M, Vaith A, et al. Safety and Feasibility of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Pediatric Hemiparesis: A Randomized Controlled Pilot Study. Phys Ther 2014. doi:10.2522/ptj.20130565.
- [6] Palm U, Ayache SS, Padberg F, Lefaucheur J-P. [Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) for depression: Results of nearly a decade of clinical research]. L'Encephale 2016;42:39–47. doi:10.1016/j.encep.2015.06.003.
- [7] Bikson M, Grossman P, Thomas C, Zannou AL, Jiang J, Adnan T, et al. Safety of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation: Evidence Based Update 2016. Brain Stimulat 2016. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2016.06.004.
- [8] Bindman LJ, Lippold OC, Redfearn JW. THE ACTION OF BRIEF POLARIZING CURRENTS ON THE CEREBRAL CORTEX OF THE RAT (1) DURING CURRENT FLOW AND (2) IN THE PRODUCTION OF LONG-LASTING AFTER-EFFECTS. J Physiol 1964;172:369–82.
- [9] Bindman LJ, Lippold OC, Redfearn JW. Long-lasting changes in the level of the electrical activity of the cerebral cortex produced bypolarizing currents. Nature 1962;196:584–5.
- [10] Purpura DP, Mcmurtry JG. INTRACELLULAR ACTIVITIES AND EVOKED POTENTIAL CHANGES DURING POLARIZATION OF MOTOR CORTEX. J Neurophysiol 1965;28:166–85.
- [11] Nitsche MA, Nitsche MS, Klein CC, Tergau F, Rothwell JC, Paulus W. Level of action of cathodal DC polarisation induced inhibition of the human motor cortex. ClinNeurophysiol 2003;114:600–4.
- [12] Nitsche MA, Paulus W. Sustained excitability elevations induced by transcranial DC motor cortex stimulation in humans. Neurology 2001;57:1899–901.
- [13] Radman T, Datta A, Ramos RL, Brumberg JC, Bikson M. One-dimensional representation of a neuron in a uniform electric field. Conf Proc Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc Annu Conf 2009;2009:6481–4. doi:10.1109/IEMBS.2009.5333586.
- [14] Batsikadze G, Moliadze V, Paulus W, Kuo M-F, Nitsche MA. Partially non-linear stimulation intensity-dependent effects of direct current stimulation on motor cortex excitability in humans. J Physiol 2013;591:1987–2000. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2012.249730.

- [15] Lang N, Nitsche MA, Paulus W, Rothwell JC, Lemon RN. Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation over the human motor cortex on corticospinal and transcallosal excitability. Exp Brain Res 2004;156:439–43. doi:10.1007/s00221-003-1800-2.
- [16] Monte-Silva K, Kuo M-F, Hessenthaler S, Fresnoza S, Liebetanz D, Paulus W, et al. Induction of Late LTP-Like Plasticity in the Human Motor Cortex by Repeated Non-Invasive Brain Stimulation. Brain Stimulat 2013;6:424–32. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2012.04.011.
- [17] Radman T, Ramos RL, Brumberg JC, Bikson M. Role of cortical cell type and morphology in subthreshold and suprathreshold uniform electric field stimulation in vitro. Brain Stimulat 2009;2:215–28, 228.e1-3. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2009.03.007.
- [18] Ridding MC, Ziemann U. Determinants of the induction of cortical plasticity by noninvasive brain stimulation in healthy subjects. J Physiol 2010;588:2291–304. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2010.190314.
- [19] Liebetanz D, Nitsche MA, Tergau F, Paulus W. Pharmacological approach to the mechanisms of transcranial DC-stimulation-induced after-effects of human motor cortex excitability. Brain 2002;125:2238–2247.
- [20] Nitsche MA, Fricke K, Henschke U, Schlitterlau A, Liebetanz D, Lang N, et al. Pharmacological modulation of cortical excitability shifts induced by transcranial direct current stimulation in humans. JPhysiol 2003;553:293–301.
- [21] Nitsche MA. Catecholaminergic Consolidation of Motor Cortical Neuroplasticity in Humans. Cereb Cortex 2004;14:1240–5. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhh085.
- [22] Nitsche MA, Jaussi W, Liebetanz D, Lang N, Tergau F, Paulus W. Consolidation of Human Motor Cortical Neuroplasticity by D-Cycloserine. Neuropsychopharmacology 2004;29:1573–8. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300517.
- [23] Nitsche MA, Liebetanz D, Schlitterlau A, Henschke U, Fricke K, Frommann K, et al. GABAergic modulation of DC stimulation-induced motor cortex excitability shifts in humans. Eur J Neurosci 2004;19:2720–6. doi:10.1111/j.0953-816X.2004.03398.x.
- [24] Datta A, Truong D, Minhas P, Parra LC, Bikson M. Inter-Individual Variation during Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation and Normalization of Dose Using MRI-Derived Computational Models. Front Psychiatry 2012;3. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2012.00091.
- [25] Dmochowski JP, Datta A, Bikson M, Su Y, Parra LC. Optimized multi-electrode stimulation increases focality and intensity at target. J Neural Eng 2011;8:046011. doi:10.1088/1741-2560/8/4/046011.
- [26] Kuo H-I, Bikson M, Datta A, Minhas P, Paulus W, Kuo M-F, et al. Comparing Cortical Plasticity Induced by Conventional and High-Definition 4 × 1 Ring tDCS: A Neurophysiological Study. Brain Stimulat 2013;6:644–8. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2012.09.010.
- [27] Datta A, Bansal V, Diaz J, Patel J, Reato D, Bikson M. Gyri –precise head model of transcranial DC stimulation: Improved spatial focality using a ring electrode versus conventional rectangular pad. Brain Stimulat 2009;2:201. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2009.03.005.
- [28] Datta A, Elwassif M, Battaglia F, Bikson M. Transcranial current stimulation focality using disc and ring electrode configurations: FEM analysis. J Neural Eng 2008;5:163–74. doi:10.1088/1741-2560/5/2/007.
- [29] Miranda PC, Lomarev M, Hallett M. Modeling the current distribution during transcranial direct current stimulation. Clin Neurophysiol 2006;117:1623–9. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2006.04.009.

- [30] Wagner T, Fregni F, Fecteau S, Grodzinsky A, Zahn M, Pascual-Leone A. Transcranial direct current stimulation: A computer-based human model study. NeuroImage 2007;35:1113–24. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.01.027.
- [31] Laakso I, Tanaka S, Mikkonen M, Koyama S, Sadato N, Hirata A. Electric fields of motor and frontal tDCS in a standard brain space: A computer simulation study. NeuroImage 2016;137:140–51. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.05.032.
- [32] Laakso I, Tanaka S, Koyama S, De Santis V, Hirata A. Inter-subject Variability in Electric Fields of Motor Cortical tDCS. Brain Stimulat 2015;8:906–13. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2015.05.002.
- [33] Dasilva AF, Mendonca ME, Zaghi S, Lopes M, Dossantos MF, Spierings EL, et al. tDCSinduced analgesia and electrical fields in pain-related neural networks in chronic migraine. Headache 2012;52:1283–95. doi:10.1111/j.1526-4610.2012.02141.x.
- [34] Esmaeilpour Z, Marangolo P, Hampstead BM, Bestmann S, Galletta E, Knotkova H, et al. Incomplete evidence that increasing current intensity of tDCS boosts outcomes. Brain Stimulat 2018;11:310–21. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2017.12.002.
- [35] Stagg CJ, Nitsche MA. Physiological Basis of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation. The Neuroscientist 2011;17:37–53. doi:10.1177/1073858410386614.
- [36] Hebb DO. The organization of behavior: a neuropsychological theory. Wiley; 1949.
- [37] Bliss TV, Lomo T. Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. J Physiol 1973;232:331–56.
- [38] Fritsch B, Reis J, Martinowich K, Schambra HM, Ji Y, Cohen LG, et al. Direct current stimulation promotes BDNF-dependent synaptic plasticity: potential implications for motor learning. Neuron 2010;66:198–204.
- [39] Baranyi A, Szente MB, Woody CD. Properties of associative long-lasting potentiation induced by cellular conditioning in the motor cortex of conscious cats. Neuroscience 1991;42:321–34.
- [40] Hess G, Aizenman CD, Donoghue JP. Conditions for the induction of long-term potentiation in layer II/III horizontal connections of the rat motor cortex. J Neurophysiol 1996;75:1765–78.
- [41] Hess G, Donoghue JP. Long-term potentiation of horizontal connections provides a mechanism to reorganize cortical motor maps. J Neurophysiol 1994;71:2543–7.
- [42] Ungerleider LG, Doyon J, Karni A. Imaging brain plasticity during motor skill learning. Neurobiol Learn Mem 2002;78:553–64.
- [43] Rioult-Pedotti MS, Friedman D, Hess G, Donoghue JP. Strengthening of horizontal cortical connections following skill learning. Nat Neurosci 1998;1:230–4. doi:10.1038/678.
- [44] Ghosh S, Porter R. Morphology of pyramidal neurones in monkey motor cortex and the synaptic actions of their intracortical axon collaterals. J Physiol 1988;400:593–615.
- [45] Rioult-Pedotti MS, Friedman D, Donoghue JP. Learning-induced LTP in neocortex. Science 2000;290:533–6.
- [46] Shmuelof L, Krakauer JW, Mazzoni P. How is a motor skill learned? Change and invariance at the levels of task success and trajectory control. J Neurophysiol 2012;108:578–94. doi:10.1152/jn.00856.2011.
- [47] Doyon J, Benali H. Reorganization and plasticity in the adult brain during learning of motor skills. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2005;15:161–7. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2005.03.004.

- [48] Romano JC, Howard JH, Howard DV. One-year retention of general and sequence-specific skills in a probabilistic, serial reaction time task. Mem Hove Engl 2010;18:427–41. doi:10.1080/09658211003742680.
- [49] Honda M, Deiber MP, Ibáñez V, Pascual-Leone A, Zhuang P, Hallett M. Dynamic cortical involvement in implicit and explicit motor sequence learning. A PET study. Brain J Neurol 1998;121 (Pt 11):2159–73.
- [50] Floyer-Lea A, Matthews PM. Distinguishable brain activation networks for short- and long-term motor skill learning. J Neurophysiol 2005;94:512–8. doi:10.1152/jn.00717.2004.
- [51] Sun FT, Miller LM, Rao AA, D'Esposito M. Functional connectivity of cortical networks involved in bimanual motor sequence learning. Cereb Cortex N Y N 1991 2007;17:1227– 34. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhl033.
- [52] Floyer-Lea A, Wylezinska M, Kincses T, Matthews PM. Rapid modulation of GABA concentration in human sensorimotor cortex during motor learning. J Neurophysiol 2006;95:1639–44. doi:10.1152/jn.00346.2005.
- [53] Castro-Alamancos MA, Donoghue JP, Connors BW. Different forms of synaptic plasticity in somatosensory and motor areas of the neocortex. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 1995;15:5324–33.
- [54] Castro-Alamancos MA, Connors BW. Short-term synaptic enhancement and long-term potentiation in neocortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:1335–9.
- [55] Pleger B, Schwenkreis P, Dinse HR, Ragert P, Höffken O, Malin J-P, et al. Pharmacological suppression of plastic changes in human primary somatosensory cortex after motor learning. Exp Brain Res 2003;148:525–32. doi:10.1007/s00221-002-1324-1.
- [56] Bütefisch CM, Davis BC, Wise SP, Sawaki L, Kopylev L, Classen J, et al. Mechanisms of use-dependent plasticity in the human motor cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000;97:3661–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.050350297.
- [57] Grafton ST, Hazeltine E, Ivry RB. Motor sequence learning with the nondominant left hand. A PET functional imaging study. Exp Brain Res 2002;146:369–78. doi:10.1007/s00221-002-1181-y.
- [58] Fischer S, Nitschke MF, Melchert UH, Erdmann C, Born J. Motor memory consolidation in sleep shapes more effective neuronal representations. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 2005;25:11248–55. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1743-05.2005.
- [59] Korman M, Raz N, Flash T, Karni A. Multiple shifts in the representation of a motor sequence during the acquisition of skilled performance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:12492–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.2035019100.
- [60] Walker MP, Brakefield T, Morgan A, Hobson JA, Stickgold R. Practice with sleep makes perfect: sleep-dependent motor skill learning. Neuron 2002;35:205–11.
- [61] Dudai Y. The neurobiology of consolidations, or, how stable is the engram? Annu Rev Psychol 2004;55:51–86. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.142050.
- [62] Censor N, Dimyan MA, Cohen LG. Modification of existing human motor memories is enabled by primary cortical processing during memory reactivation. Curr Biol CB 2010;20:1545–9. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2010.07.047.
- [63] Robertson EM, Pascual-Leone A, Press DZ. Awareness modifies the skill-learning benefits of sleep. Curr Biol CB 2004;14:208–12. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.01.027.

- [64] Karni A, Meyer G, Jezzard P, Adams MM, Turner R, Ungerleider LG. Functional MRI evidence for adult motor cortex plasticity during motor skill learning. Nature 1995;377:155–8. doi:10.1038/377155a0.
- [65] Korman M, Doyon J, Doljansky J, Carrier J, Dagan Y, Karni A. Daytime sleep condenses the time course of motor memory consolidation. Nat Neurosci 2007;10:1206–13. doi:10.1038/nn1959.
- [66] Nishida M, Walker MP. Daytime naps, motor memory consolidation and regionally specific sleep spindles. PloS One 2007;2:e341. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000341.
- [67] Song S, Howard JH, Howard DV. Sleep does not benefit probabilistic motor sequence learning. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 2007;27:12475–83. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2062-07.2007.
- [68] Schendan HE, Searl MM, Melrose RJ, Stern CE. An FMRI study of the role of the medial temporal lobe in implicit and explicit sequence learning. Neuron 2003;37:1013–25.
- [69] Ostry DJ, Gribble PL. Sensory Plasticity in Human Motor Learning. Trends Neurosci 2016;39:114–23. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2015.12.006.
- [70] Ostry DJ, Darainy M, Mattar AAG, Wong J, Gribble PL. Somatosensory plasticity and motor learning. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 2010;30:5384–93. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4571-09.2010.
- [71] Arce-McShane FI, Hatsopoulos NG, Lee J-C, Ross CF, Sessle BJ. Modulation Dynamics in the Orofacial Sensorimotor Cortex during Motor Skill Acquisition. J Neurosci 2014;34:5985–97. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4367-13.2014.
- [72] Andrew D, Haavik H, Dancey E, Yielder P, Murphy B. Somatosensory evoked potentials show plastic changes following a novel motor training task with the thumb. Clin Neurophysiol Off J Int Fed Clin Neurophysiol 2015;126:575–80. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2014.05.020.
- [73] Vahdat S, Darainy M, Milner TE, Ostry DJ. Functionally specific changes in resting-state sensorimotor networks after motor learning. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 2011;31:16907– 15. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2737-11.2011.
- [74] Ma L, Narayana S, Robin DA, Fox PT, Xiong J. Changes occur in resting state network of motor system during 4 weeks of motor skill learning. NeuroImage 2011;58:226–33. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.06.014.
- [75] Gold JI, Watanabe T. Perceptual learning. Curr Biol CB 2010;20. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2009.10.066.
- [76] Reis J, Fritsch B. Modulation of motor performance and motor learning by transcranial direct current stimulation: Curr Opin Neurol 2011;24:590–6. doi:10.1097/WCO.0b013e32834c3db0.
- [77] Buch ER, Santarnecchi E, Antal A, Born J, Celnik PA, Classen J, et al. Effects of tDCS on motor learning and memory formation: A consensus and critical position paper. Clin Neurophysiol Off J Int Fed Clin Neurophysiol 2017;128:589–603. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2017.01.004.
- [78] Sohn MK, Kim BO, Song HT. Effect of Stimulation Polarity of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Non-dominant Hand Function. Ann Rehabil Med 2012;36:1. doi:10.5535/arm.2012.36.1.1.
- [79] Vines BW, Nair DG, Schlaug G. Contralateral and ipsilateral motor effects after transcranial direct current stimulation. Neuroreport 2006;17:671–4.

- [80] Vines BW, Cerruti C, Schlaug G. Dual-hemisphere tDCS facilitates greater improvements for healthy subjects' non-dominant hand compared to uni-hemisphere stimulation. BMC Neurosci 2008;9:103. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-9-103.
- [81] Stagg CJ, Jayaram G, Pastor D, Kincses ZT, Matthews PM, Johansen-Berg H. Polarity and timing-dependent effects of transcranial direct current stimulation in explicit motor learning. Neuropsychologia 2011;49:800–4. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2011.02.009.
- [82] Tecchio F, Zappasodi F, Assenza G, Tombini M, Vollaro S, Barbati G, et al. Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Enhances Procedural Consolidation. J Neurophysiol 2010;104:1134–40. doi:10.1152/jn.00661.2009.
- [83] Reis J, Schambra HM, Cohen LG, Buch ER, Fritsch B, Zarahn E, et al. Noninvasive cortical stimulation enhances motor skill acquisition over multiple days through an effect on consolidation. ProcNatlAcadSciUSA 2009;106:1590–5.
- [84] Schambra HM, Abe M, Luckenbaugh DA, Reis J, Krakauer JW, Cohen LG. Probing for hemispheric specialization for motor skill learning: a transcranial direct current stimulation study. J Neurophysiol 2011;106:652–61. doi:10.1152/jn.00210.2011.
- [85] Prichard G, Weiller C, Fritsch B, Reis J. Effects of Different Electrical Brain Stimulation Protocols on Subcomponents of Motor Skill Learning. Brain Stimulat 2014;7:532–40. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2014.04.005.
- [86] Tiffin J, Asher EJ. The Purdue pegboard; norms and studies of reliability and validity. J Appl Psychol 1948;32:234–47.
- [87] Kidgell DJ, Goodwill AM, Frazer AK, Daly RM. Induction of cortical plasticity and improved motor performance following unilateral and bilateral transcranial direct current stimulation of the primary motor cortex. BMC Neurosci 2013;14:64.
- [88] Hummel FC, Heise K, Celnik P, Floel A, Gerloff C, Cohen LG. Facilitating skilled right hand motor function in older subjects by anodal polarization over the left primary motor cortex. NeurobiolAging 2009.
- [89] Pixa NH, Steinberg F, Doppelmayr M. High-definition transcranial direct current stimulation to both primary motor cortices improves unimanual and bimanual dexterity. Neurosci Lett 2017;643:84–8. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2017.02.033.
- [90] Williams JA, Pascual-Leone A, Fregni F. Interhemispheric Modulation Induced by Cortical Stimulation and Motor Training. Phys Ther 2010;90:398–410. doi:10.2522/ptj.20090075.
- [91] Stagg CJ, Bachtiar V, Johansen-Berg H. The Role of GABA in Human Motor Learning. Curr Biol 2011;21:480–4. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2011.01.069.
- [92] Kessler SK, Minhas P, Woods AJ, Rosen A, Gorman C, Bikson M. Dosage considerations for transcranial direct current stimulation in children: a computational modeling study. PloS One 2013;8:e76112. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076112.
- [93] Gillick BT, Kirton A, Carmel JB, Minhas P, Bikson M. Pediatric stroke and transcranial direct current stimulation: methods for rational individualized dose optimization. Front Hum Neurosci 2014;8:739. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2014.00739.
- [94] Gillick BT, Feyma T, Menk J, Usset M, Vaith A, Wood TJ, et al. Safety and feasibility of transcranial direct current stimulation in pediatric hemiparesis: randomized controlled preliminary study. Phys Ther 2015;95:337–49. doi:10.2522/ptj.20130565.
- [95] Moliadze V, Schmanke T, Andreas S, Lyzhko E, Freitag CM, Siniatchkin M. Stimulation intensities of transcranial direct current stimulation have to be adjusted in children and

adolescents. Clin Neurophysiol Off J Int Fed Clin Neurophysiol 2015;126:1392–9. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2014.10.142.

- [96] Ciechanski P, Kirton A. Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation Can Enhance Motor Learning in Children. Cereb Cortex N Y N 1991 2016. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhw114.
- [97] Kirton A, Ciechanski P, Zewdie E, Andersen J, Nettel-Aguirre A, Carlson H, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation for children with perinatal stroke and hemiparesis. Neurology 2017;88:259–67. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000003518.
- [98] Mattai A, Miller R, Weisinger B, Greenstein D, Bakalar J, Tossell J, et al. Tolerability of transcranial direct current stimulation in childhood-onset schizophrenia. Brain Stimulat 2011;4:275–80. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2011.01.001.
- [99] Grecco LAC, Duarte NAC, Zanon N, Galli M, Fregni F, Oliveira CS. Effect of a single session of transcranial direct-current stimulation on balance and spatiotemporal gait variables in children with cerebral palsy: A randomized sham-controlled study. Braz J Phys Ther 2014;18:419–27.
- [100] San-Juan D, Calcáneo J de DDC, González-Aragón MF, Bermúdez Maldonado L, Avellán AM, Argumosa EVG, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation in adolescent and adult Rasmussen's encephalitis. Epilepsy Behav EB 2011;20:126–31. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2010.10.031.
- [101] Cosmo C, Baptista AF, de Sena EP. Contribution of transcranial direct current stimulation on inhibitory control to assess the neurobiological aspects of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2015;4:e56. doi:10.2196/resprot.4138.
- [102] Auvichayapat N, Rotenberg A, Gersner R, Ngodklang S, Tiamkao S, Tassaneeyakul W, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation for treatment of refractory childhood focal epilepsy. Brain Stimul 2013.
- [103] Young SJ, Bertucco M, Sheehan-Stross R, Sanger TD. Cathodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in Children With Dystonia A Pilot Open-Label Trial. JChild Neurol 2012.
- [104] Aree-uea B, Auvichayapat N, Janyacharoen T, Siritaratiwat W, Amatachaya A, Prasertnoo J, et al. Reduction of spasticity in cerebral palsy by anodal transcranial direct current stimulation. J Med Assoc Thail Chotmaihet Thangphaet 2014;97:954–62.
- [105] Grecco LAC, Duarte N de AC, Mendonça ME, Galli M, Fregni F, Oliveira CS. Effects of anodal transcranial direct current stimulation combined with virtual reality for improving gait in children with spastic diparetic cerebral palsy: A pilot, randomized, controlled, double-blind, clinical trial. Clin Rehabil 2015:0269215514566997.
- [106] Gillick B, Rich T, Nemanich S, Chen C-Y, Menk J, Mueller B, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation and constraint-induced therapy in cerebral palsy: A randomized, blinded, sham-controlled clinical trial. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 2018. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2018.02.001.
- [107] Peterchev AV, Wagner TA, Miranda PC, Nitsche MA, Paulus W, Lisanby SH, et al. Fundamentals of transcranial electric and magnetic stimulation dose: definition, selection, and reporting practices. Brain Stimulat 2012;5:435–53. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2011.10.001.
- [108] Liebetanz D, Koch R, Mayenfels S, König F, Paulus W, Nitsche MA. Safety limits of cathodal transcranial direct current stimulation in rats. Clin Neurophysiol 2009;120:1161–7. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2009.01.022.

- [109] Jackson MP, Truong D, Brownlow ML, Wagner JA, McKinley RA, Bikson M, et al. Safety parameter considerations of anodal transcranial Direct Current Stimulation in rats. Brain Behav Immun 2017;64:152–61. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2017.04.008.
- [110] Chhatbar PY, Chen R, Deardorff R, Dellenbach B, Kautz SA, George MS, et al. Safety and tolerability of transcranial direct current stimulation to stroke patients A phase I current escalation study. Brain Stimulat 2017;10:553–9. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2017.02.007.
- [111] Brunoni AR, Amadera J, Berbel B, Volz MS, Rizzerio BG, Fregni F. A systematic review on reporting and assessment of adverse effects associated with transcranial direct current stimulation. IntJNeuropsychopharmacol 2011:1–13.
- [112] Brunoni AR, Nitsche MA, Bolognini N, Bikson M, Wagner T, Merabet L, et al. Clinical Research with Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS): Challenges and Future Directions. Brain Stimulat 2012;5:175–95. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2011.03.002.
- [113] Guarienti F, Caumo W, Shiozawa P, Cordeiro Q, Boggio PS, Benseñor IM, et al. Reducing transcranial direct current stimulation-induced erythema with skin pretreatment: considerations for sham-controlled clinical trials. Neuromodulation J Int Neuromodulation Soc 2015;18:261–5. doi:10.1111/ner.12230.
- [114] Nitsche MA, Niehaus L, Hoffmann KT, Hengst S, Liebetanz D, Paulus W, et al. MRI study of human brain exposed to weak direct current stimulation of the frontal cortex. Clin Neurophysiol Off J Int Fed Clin Neurophysiol 2004;115:2419–23. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2004.05.001.
- [115] Iyer MB, Mattu U, Grafman J, Lomarev M, Sato S, Wassermann EM. Safety and cognitive effect of frontal DC brain polarization in healthy individuals. Neurology 2005;64:872–5. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000152986.07469.E9.
- [116] Dundas JE, Thickbroom GW, Mastaglia FL. Perception of comfort during transcranial DC stimulation: effect of NaCl solution concentration applied to sponge electrodes. Clin Neurophysiol Off J Int Fed Clin Neurophysiol 2007;118:1166–70. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2007.01.010.
- [117] Krishnan C, Santos L, Peterson MD, Ehinger M. Safety of Noninvasive Brain Stimulation in Children and Adolescents. Brain Stimul Basic Transl Clin Res Neuromodulation 2015;8:76–87. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2014.10.012.
- [118] Duarte N de AC, Grecco LAC, Galli M, Fregni F, Oliveira CS. Effect of transcranial direct-current stimulation combined with treadmill training on balance and functional performance in children with cerebral palsy: a double-blind randomized controlled trial. PloS One 2014;9:e105777. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0105777.
- [119] Grecco LAC, E Mendonça M, Duarte NAC, Zanon N, Fregni F, Oliveira CS. Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Combined with Treadmill Gait Training in Delayed Neuro-psychomotor Development. J Phys Ther Sci 2014;26:945–50. doi:10.1589/jpts.26.945.
- [120] Bhanpuri NH, Bertucco M, Young SJ, Lee AA, Sanger TD. Multiday Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Causes Clinically Insignificant Changes in Childhood Dystonia: A Pilot Study. J Child Neurol 2015;30:1604–15. doi:10.1177/0883073815575369.
- [121] Kiernan J, Rajakumar N. Barr's The Human Nervous System. 10th ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2014.
- [122] Rizzolatti G, Luppino G, Matelli M. The organization of the cortical motor system: new concepts. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 1998;106:283–96.

- [123] Dayan E, Cohen LG. Neuroplasticity subserving motor skill learning. Neuron 2011;72:443–54. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.10.008.
- [124] Dum RP, Strick PL. Frontal lobe inputs to the digit representations of the motor areas on the lateral surface of the hemisphere. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 2005;25:1375–86. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3902-04.2005.
- [125] Penfield W, Boldrey E. Somatic motor and sensory representation in the cerebral cortex of man as studied by electrical stimulation. Brain 1937;60:389–443.
- [126] Yousry TA, Schmid UD, Alkadhi H, Schmidt D, Peraud A, Buettner A, et al. Localization of the motor hand area to a knob on the precentral gyrus. A new landmark. Brain J Neurol 1997;120 (Pt 1):141–57.
- [127] Lemon RN, Griffiths J. Comparing the function of the corticospinal system in different species: organizational differences for motor specialization? Muscle Nerve 2005;32:261– 79. doi:10.1002/mus.20333.
- [128] McNeal DW, Darling WG, Ge J, Stilwell-Morecraft KS, Solon KM, Hynes SM, et al. Selective long-term reorganization of the corticospinal projection from the supplementary motor cortex following recovery from lateral motor cortex injury. J Comp Neurol 2010;518:586–621. doi:10.1002/cne.22218.
- [129] Buys EJ, Lemon RN, Mantel GW, Muir RB. Selective facilitation of different hand muscles by single corticospinal neurones in the conscious monkey. J Physiol 1986;381:529–49.
- [130] Schieber MH, Hibbard LS. How somatotopic is the motor cortex hand area? Science 1993;261:489–92.
- [131] Kandel E, Schwartz J, Jessell T, Siegelbaum S, Hudspeth AJ. Principles of Neural Science. 5th ed. The McGraw-Hill Companies; 2013.
- [132] Jaspers E, Byblow WD, Feys H, Wenderoth N. The Corticospinal Tract: A Biomarker to Categorize Upper Limb Functional Potential in Unilateral Cerebral Palsy. Front Pediatr 2015;3:112. doi:10.3389/fped.2015.00112.
- [133] Purves D, Augustine GJ, Fitzpatrick D, Katz LC, LaMantia A-S, McNamara JO, et al. The Premotor Cortex. Neurosci 2nd Ed 2001.
- [134] Friel KM, Chakrabarty S, Martin JH. Pathophysiological mechanisms of impaired limb use and repair strategies for motor systems after unilateral injury of the developing brain. Dev Med Child Neurol 2013;55 Suppl 4:27–31. doi:10.1111/dmcn.12303.
- [135] Nezu A, Kimura S, Uehara S, Kobayashi T, Tanaka M, Saito K. Magnetic stimulation of motor cortex in children: maturity of corticospinal pathway and problem of clinical application. Brain Dev 1997;19:176–80.
- [136] ten Donkelaar HJ, Lammens M, Wesseling P, Hori A, Keyser A, Rotteveel J. Development and malformations of the human pyramidal tract. J Neurol 2004;251:1429– 42. doi:10.1007/s00415-004-0653-3.
- [137] Rosenzweig ES, Brock JH, Culbertson MD, Lu P, Moseanko R, Edgerton VR, et al. Extensive spinal decussation and bilateral termination of cervical corticospinal projections in rhesus monkeys. JComp Neurol 2009;513:151–63.
- [138] Soteropoulos DS, Edgley SA, Baker SN. Lack of Evidence for Direct Corticospinal Contributions to Control of the Ipsilateral Forelimb in Monkey. J Neurosci 2011;31:11208– 19. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0257-11.2011.

- [139] Ziemann U, Ishii K, Borgheresi A, Yaseen Z, Battaglia F, Hallett M, et al. Dissociation of the pathways mediating ipsilateral and contralateral motor-evoked potentials in human hand and arm muscles. JPhysiol 1999;518 (Pt 3):895–906.
- [140] Purves D, Augustine GJ, Fitzpatrick D, Katz LC, LaMantia A-S, McNamara JO, et al. The Major Afferent Pathway for Mechanosensory Information: The Dorsal Column-Medial Lemniscus System. Neurosci 2nd Ed 2001.
- [141] Andersen RA. Multimodal integration for the representation of space in the posterior parietal cortex. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1997;352:1421–8. doi:10.1098/rstb.1997.0128.
- [142] Findlater SE, Desai JA, Semrau JA, Kenzie JM, Rorden C, Herter TM, et al. Central perception of position sense involves a distributed neural network - Evidence from lesionbehavior analyses. Cortex J Devoted Study Nerv Syst Behav 2016;79:42–56. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2016.03.008.
- [143] Kenzie JM, Girgulis KA, Semrau JA, Findlater SE, Desai JA, Dukelow SP. Lesion Sites Associated with Allocentric and Egocentric Visuospatial Neglect in Acute Stroke. Brain Connect 2015. doi:10.1089/brain.2014.0316.
- [144] Petrof I, Viaene AN, Sherman SM. Properties of the primary somatosensory cortex projection to the primary motor cortex in the mouse. J Neurophysiol 2015;113:2400–7. doi:10.1152/jn.00949.2014.
- [145] Catani M, Dell'acqua F, Vergani F, Malik F, Hodge H, Roy P, et al. Short frontal lobe connections of the human brain. Cortex J Devoted Study Nerv Syst Behav 2012;48:273–91. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2011.12.001.
- [146] Hikosaka O, Tanaka M, Sakamoto M, Iwamura Y. Deficits in manipulative behaviors induced by local injections of muscimol in the first somatosensory cortex of the conscious monkey. Brain Res 1985;325:375–80.
- [147] Brochier T, Boudreau MJ, Paré M, Smith AM. The effects of muscimol inactivation of small regions of motor and somatosensory cortex on independent finger movements and force control in the precision grip. Exp Brain Res 1999;128:31–40.
- [148] Monzée J, Lamarre Y, Smith AM. The effects of digital anesthesia on force control using a precision grip. J Neurophysiol 2003;89:672–83. doi:10.1152/jn.00434.2001.
- [149] Thompson A, Murphy D, Dell'Acqua F, Ecker C, McAlonan G, Howells H, et al. Impaired Communication Between the Motor and Somatosensory Homunculus Is Associated With Poor Manual Dexterity in Autism Spectrum Disorder. Biol Psychiatry 2017;81:211–9. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.06.020.
- [150] Lanciego JL, Luquin N, Obeso JA. Functional Neuroanatomy of the Basal Ganglia. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2012;2. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a009621.
- [151] Garraway WM, Akhtar AJ, Gore SM, Prescott RJ, Smith RG. Observer variation in the clinical assessment of stroke. Age Ageing 1976;5:233–40.
- [152] Carey LM, Matyas TA, Oke LE. Evaluation of impaired fingertip texture discrimination and wrist position sense in patients affected by stroke: comparison of clinical and new quantitative measures. JHand Ther 2002;15:71–82.
- [153] Lincoln N. The unreliability of sensory assessments 1991;5.
- [154] Coderre AM, Zeid AA, Dukelow SP, Demmer MJ, Moore KD, Demers MJ, et al. Assessment of Upper-Limb Sensorimotor Function of Subacute Stroke Patients Using Visually Guided Reaching. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2010.

- [155] Dukelow SP, Herter TM, Moore KD, Demers MJ, Glasgow JI, Bagg SD, et al. Quantitative assessment of limb position sense following stroke. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2010;24:178–87.
- [156] Little CE, Emery C, Scott SH, Meeuwisse W, Palacios-Derflingher L, Dukelow SP. Do children and adolescent ice hockey players with and without a history of concussion differ in robotic testing of sensory, motor and cognitive function? J Neuroengineering Rehabil 2016;13:89. doi:10.1186/s12984-016-0195-9.
- [157] Semrau JA, Herter TM, Scott SH, Dukelow SP. Robotic identification of kinesthetic deficits after stroke. Stroke J Cereb Circ 2013;44:3414–21. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.002058.
- [158] Scott SH. Apparatus for measuring and perturbing shoulder and elbow joint positions and torques during reaching. JNeurosciMethods 1999;89:119–27.
- [159] Maciejasz P, Eschweiler J, Gerlach-Hahn K, Jansen-Troy A, Leonhardt S. A survey on robotic devices for upper limb rehabilitation. J Neuroengineering Rehabil 2014;11:3. doi:10.1186/1743-0003-11-3.
- [160] Volpe BT, Huerta PT, Zipse JL, Rykman A, Edwards D, Dipietro L, et al. Robotic devices as therapeutic and diagnostic tools for stroke recovery. Arch Neurol 2009;66:1086– 90. doi:10.1001/archneurol.2009.182.
- [161] Semrau JA, Herter TM, Scott SH, Dukelow SP. Inter-rater reliability of kinesthetic measurements with the KINARM robotic exoskeleton. J Neuroengineering Rehabil 2017;14:42. doi:10.1186/s12984-017-0260-z.
- [162] Simo LS, Ghez C, Botzer L, Scheidt RA. A quantitative and standardized robotic method for the evaluation of arm proprioception after stroke. Conf Proc Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc Annu Conf 2011;2011:8227–30. doi:10.1109/IEMBS.2011.6092029.
- [163] Bosecker C, Dipietro L, Volpe B, Krebs HI. Kinematic robot-based evaluation scales and clinical counterparts to measure upper limb motor performance in patients with chronic stroke. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2010;24:62–9. doi:10.1177/1545968309343214.
- [164] Dukelow SP, Herter TM, Bagg SD, Scott SH. The independence of deficits in position sense and visually guided reaching following stroke. J Neuroengineering Rehabil 2012;9:72. doi:10.1186/1743-0003-9-72.
- [165] Kusoffsky A, Wadell I, Nilsson BY. The relationship between sensory impairment and motor recovery in patients with hemiplegia. ScandJRehabilMed 1982;14:27–32.
- [166] La Joie WJ, Reddy NM, Melvin JL. Somatosensory evoked potentials: their predictive value in right hemiplegia. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1982;63:223–6.
- [167] Wade DT, Langton-Hewer R, Wood VA, Skilbeck CE, Ismail HM. The hemiplegic arm after stroke: measurement and recovery. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1983;46:521–4.
- [168] Katrak P, Bowring G, Conroy P, Chilvers M, Poulos R, McNeil D. Predicting upper limb recovery after stroke: the place of early shoulder and hand movement. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1998;79:758–61.
- [169] Tyryshkin K, Coderre AM, Glasgow JI, Herter TM, Bagg SD, Dukelow SP, et al. A robotic object hitting task to quantify sensorimotor impairments in participants with stroke. J Neuroengineering Rehabil 2014;11:47. doi:10.1186/1743-0003-11-47.

- [170] Kuczynski AM, Dukelow SP, Semrau JA, Kirton A. Robotic Quantification of Position Sense in Children With Perinatal Stroke. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2016. doi:10.1177/1545968315624781.
- [171] Kuczynski AM, Semrau JA, Kirton A, Dukelow SP. Kinesthetic deficits after perinatal stroke: robotic measurement in hemiparetic children. J Neuroengineering Rehabil 2017;14:13. doi:10.1186/s12984-017-0221-6.
- [172] Kuczynski AM, Dukelow SP, Hodge JA, Carlson HL, Lebel C, Semrau JA, et al. Corticospinal tract diffusion properties and robotic visually guided reaching in children with hemiparetic cerebral palsy. Hum Brain Mapp 2018;39:1130–44. doi:10.1002/hbm.23904.
- [173] Kuczynski AM, Carlson HL, Lebel C, Hodge JA, Dukelow SP, Semrau JA, et al. Sensory tractography and robot-quantified proprioception in hemiparetic children with perinatal stroke. Hum Brain Mapp 2017. doi:10.1002/hbm.23530.
- [174] Logan LM, Semrau JA, Debert CT, Kenzie JM, Scott SH, Dukelow SP. Using Robotics to Quantify Impairments in Sensorimotor Ability, Visuospatial Attention, Working Memory, and Executive Function After Traumatic Brain Injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil 2017. doi:10.1097/HTR.00000000000349.
- [175] Little CE, Emery C, Black A, Scott SH, Meeuwisse W, Nettel-Aguirre A, et al. Testretest reliability of KINARM robot sensorimotor and cognitive assessment: in pediatric ice hockey players. J Neuroengineering Rehabil 2015;12:78. doi:10.1186/s12984-015-0070-0.
- [176] Shadmehr R, Mussa-Ivaldi FA. Adaptive representation of dynamics during learning of a motor task. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 1994;14:3208–24.
- [177] Goodbody SJ, Wolpert DM. Temporal and amplitude generalization in motor learning. J Neurophysiol 1998;79:1825–38. doi:10.1152/jn.1998.79.4.1825.
- [178] Doya K. What are the computations of the cerebellum, the basal ganglia and the cerebral cortex? Neural Netw Off J Int Neural Netw Soc 1999;12:961–74.
- [179] Singh K, Scott SH. A motor learning strategy reflects neural circuitry for limb control. Nat Neurosci 2003;6:399–403. doi:10.1038/nn1026.
- [180] Batcho CS, Gagné M, Bouyer LJ, Roy JS, Mercier C. Impact of online visual feedback on motor acquisition and retention when learning to reach in a force field. Neuroscience 2016;337:267–75. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.09.020.
- [181] Mineyko A, Kirton A. The black box of perinatal ischemic stroke pathogenesis. JChild Neurol 2011;26:1154–62.
- [182] Kirton A. Modeling developmental plasticity after perinatal stroke: defining central therapeutic targets in cerebral palsy. Pediatr Neurol 2013;48:81–94. doi:10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2012.08.001.
- [183] Kirton A, DeVeber G. Life after perinatal stroke. Stroke J Cereb Circ 2013;44:3265–71. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.113.000739.
- [184] Wolf SL, Winstein CJ, Miller JP, Thompson PA, Taub E, Uswatte G, et al. Retention of upper limb function in stroke survivors who have received constraint-induced movement therapy: the EXCITE randomised trial. Lancet Neurol 2008;7:33–40.
- [185] Reiss AP, Wolf SL, Hammel EA, McLeod EL, Williams EA. Constraint-Induced Movement Therapy (CIMT): Current Perspectives and Future Directions. Stroke Res Treat 2012;2012. doi:10.1155/2012/159391.

- [186] Chen Y-P, Pope S, Tyler D, Warren GL. Effectiveness of constraint-induced movement therapy on upper-extremity function in children with cerebral palsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Clin Rehabil 2014;28:939–53. doi:10.1177/0269215514544982.
- [187] Kirton A, Andersen J, Herrero M, Nettel-Aguirre A, Carsolio L, Damji O, et al. Brain stimulation and constraint for perinatal stroke hemiparesis: The PLASTIC CHAMPS Trial. Neurology 2016;86:1659–67. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000002646.
- [188] Lefaucheur J-P, André-Obadia N, Antal A, Ayache SS, Baeken C, Benninger DH, et al. Evidence-based guidelines on the therapeutic use of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS). Clin Neurophysiol 2014;125:2150–206. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2014.05.021.
- [189] Hsu WY, Cheng CH, Liao KK, Lee IH, Lin YY. Effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on motor functions in patients with stroke: a meta-analysis. Stroke 2012;43:1849–57.
- [190] Fregni F, Boggio PS, Mansur CG, Wagner T, Ferreira MJ, Lima MC, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation of the unaffected hemisphere in stroke patients. Neuroreport 2005;16:1551–5.
- [191] Lindenberg R, Renga V, Zhu LL, Betzler F, Alsop D, Schlaug G. Structural integrity of corticospinal motor fibers predicts motor impairment in chronic stroke. Neurology 2010;74:280–7.
- [192] Reis J, Robertson EM, Krakauer JW, Rothwell J, Marshall L, Gerloff C, et al. Consensus: Can transcranial direct current stimulation and transcranial magnetic stimulation enhance motor learning and memory formation? Brain Stimul 2008;1:363–9.
- [193] Nitsche MA, Schauenburg A, Lang N, Liebetanz D, Exner C, Paulus W, et al. Facilitation of implicit motor learning by weak transcranial direct current stimulation of the primary motor cortex in the human. JCogn Neurosci 2003;15:619–26.
- [194] Boggio PS, Castro LO, Savagim EA, Braite R, Cruz VC, Rocha RR, et al. Enhancement of non-dominant hand motor function by anodal transcranial direct current stimulation. Neurosci Lett 2006;404:232–6. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2006.05.051.
- [195] Ciechanski P, Kirton A. Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation Can Enhance Motor Learning in Children. Cereb Cortex 2016:1–10. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhw114.
- [196] Dayan E, Censor N, Buch ER, Sandrini M, Cohen LG. Noninvasive brain stimulation: from physiology to network dynamics and back. Nat Neurosci 2013;16:838–44. doi:10.1038/nn.3422.
- [197] Doppelmayr M, Pixa NH, Steinberg F. Cerebellar, but not Motor or Parietal, High-Density Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Facilitates Motor Adaptation. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 2016.
- [198] Oskoui M, Coutinho F, Dykeman J, Jetté N, Pringsheim T. An update on the prevalence of cerebral palsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dev Med Child Neurol 2013;55:509–19. doi:10.1111/dmcn.12080.
- [199] Kirton A. Advancing non-invasive neuromodulation clinical trials in children: Lessons from perinatal stroke. Eur J Paediatr Neurol EJPN Off J Eur Paediatr Neurol Soc 2016. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2016.07.002.

- [200] Kang N, Summers JJ, Cauraugh JH. Transcranial direct current stimulation facilitates motor learning post-stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2016;87:345–55. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2015-311242.
- [201] Elsner B, Kwakkel G, Kugler J, Mehrholz J. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) for improving capacity in activities and arm function after stroke: a network metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. J Neuroengineering Rehabil 2017;14:95. doi:10.1186/s12984-017-0301-7.
- [202] Keel JC, Smith MJ, Wassermann EM. A safety screening questionnaire for transcranial magnetic stimulation. Clin Neurophysiol Off J Int Fed Clin Neurophysiol 2001;112:720.
- [203] Gardner RA, Broman M. The Purdue pegboard: Normative data on 1334 school children. J Clin Child Psychol 1979;8:156–62. doi:10.1080/15374417909532912.
- [204] Elizabeth Reedman S, Beagley S, Sakzewski L, Boyd RN. The Jebsen Taylor Test of Hand Function: A Pilot Test-Retest Reliability Study in Typically Developing Children. Phys Occup Ther Pediatr 2015:1–13. doi:10.3109/01942638.2015.1040576.
- [205] Nissen MJ, Bullemer P. Attentional requirements of learning: Evidence from performance measures. Cognit Psychol 1987;19:1–32. doi:10.1016/0010-0285(87)90002-8.
- [206] Peirce JW. PsychoPy--Psychophysics software in Python. J Neurosci Methods 2007;162:8–13. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2006.11.017.
- [207] Zewdie E, Kirton A. TMS Basics: Single and Paired Pulse Neurophysiology. In: Kirton A, Gilbert DL, editors. Pediatr. Brain Stimul. Mapp. Modul. Dev. Brain. 1st ed., Elsevier; 2016, p. 475.
- [208] Caparelli-Daquer EM, Zimmermann TJ, Mooshagian E, Parra LC, Rice JK, Datta A, et al. A pilot study on effects of 4×1 high-definition tDCS on motor cortex excitability. Conf Proc Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc Annu Conf 2012;2012:735–8. doi:10.1109/EMBC.2012.6346036.
- [209] Villamar MF, Volz MS, Bikson M, Datta A, Dasilva AF, Fregni F. Technique and considerations in the use of 4x1 ring high-definition transcranial direct current stimulation (HD-tDCS). J Vis Exp JoVE 2013:e50309. doi:10.3791/50309.
- [210] Richardson J, Datta A, Dmochowski J, Parra LC, Fridriksson J. Feasibility of using highdefinition transcranial direct current stimulation (HD-tDCS) to enhance treatment outcomes in persons with aphasia. NeuroRehabilitation 2015;36:115–26. doi:10.3233/NRE-141199.
- [211] Alam M, Bikson M, Truong D. Spatial and polarity precision of High-Definition transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (HD-tDCS). Brain Stimulat 2014;7:e11. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2014.01.039.
- [212] Ambrus GG, Al-Moyed H, Chaieb L, Sarp L, Antal A, Paulus W. The fade-in Short stimulation – Fade out approach to sham tDCS – Reliable at 1 mA for naïve and experienced subjects, but not investigators. Brain Stimulat 2012;5:499–504. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2011.12.001.
- [213] Garvey MA, Kaczynski KJ, Becker DA, Bartko JJ. Subjective reactions of children to single-pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation. JChild Neurol 2001;16:891–4.
- [214] Thair H, Holloway AL, Newport R, Smith AD. Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS): A Beginner's Guide for Design and Implementation. Front Neurosci 2017;11. doi:10.3389/fnins.2017.00641.
- [215] Gualtieri CT, Johnson LG. Reliability and validity of a computerized neurocognitive test battery, CNS Vital Signs. ArchClinNeuropsychol 2006;21:623–43.

- [216] Antal A, Kincses TZ, Nitsche MA, Paulus W. Manipulation of phosphene thresholds by transcranial direct current stimulation in man. ExpBrain Res 2003;150:375–8.
- [217] Galea MP, Hammar I, Nilsson E, Jankowska E. Bilateral Postsynaptic Actions of Pyramidal Tract and Reticulospinal Neurons on Feline Erector Spinae Motoneurons. J Neurosci 2010;30:858–69. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4859-09.2010.
- [218] Imamizu H, Shimojo S. The Locus of Visual-Motor Learning at the Task or Manipulator Level: Implications From Internanual Transfer n.d.:15.
- [219] Anguera JA, Russell CA, Noll DC, Seidler RD. Neural correlates associated with intermanual transfer of sensorimotor adaptation. Brain Res 2007;1185:136–51. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2007.09.088.
- [220] Lee M, Hinder MR, Gandevia SC, Carroll TJ. The ipsilateral motor cortex contributes to cross-limb transfer of performance gains after ballistic motor practice. J Physiol 2010;588:201–12. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2009.183855.
- [221] Biabani M, Aminitehrani M, Zoghi M, Farrell M, Egan G, Jaberzadeh S. The effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on short-interval intracortical inhibition and intracortical facilitation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Rev Neurosci 2018;29:99– 114. doi:10.1515/revneuro-2017-0023.
- [222] Stagg CJ, Bachtiar V, Amadi U, Gudberg CA, Ilie AS, Sampaio-Baptista C, et al. Local GABA concentration is related to network-level resting functional connectivity. Elife 2014;3:e01465.
- [223] Pereira EAH, Raja K, Gangavalli R. Effect of Training on Interlimb Transfer of Dexterity Skills in Healthy Adults: Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2011;90:25–34. doi:10.1097/PHM.0b013e3181fc7f6f.
- [224] Hamoudi M, Schambra HM, Fritsch B, Schoechlin-Marx A, Weiller C, Cohen LG, et al. Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Enhances Motor Skill Learning but Not Generalization in Chronic Stroke. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2018:1545968318769164. doi:10.1177/1545968318769164.
- [225] Nojima I, Mima T, Koganemaru S, Thabit MN, Fukuyama H, Kawamata T. Human motor plasticity induced by mirror visual feedback. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 2012;32:1293–300. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5364-11.2012.
- [226] von Rein E, Hoff M, Kaminski E, Sehm B, Steele CJ, Villringer A, et al. Improving motor performance without training: The effect of combining mirror visual feedback with transcranial direct current stimulation. J Neurophysiol 2015:jn.00832.2014. doi:10.1152/jn.00832.2014.
- [227] Brain Development Cooperative Group. Total and Regional Brain Volumes in a Population-Based Normative Sample from 4 to 18 Years: The NIH MRI Study of Normal Brain Development. Cereb Cortex N Y NY 2012;22:1. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhr018.
- [228] Gillick BT, Friel KM, Menk J, Rudser K. Therapeutic Brain Stimulation Trials in Children With Cerebral Palsy. In: Kirton A, Gilbert DL, editors. Pediatr. Brain Stimul. Mapp. Modul. Dev. Brain. 1st ed., Elsevier; 2016, p. 475.
- [229] Ciechanski P, Cheng A, Lopushinsky S, Hecker K, Gan LS, Lang S, et al. Effects of transcranial direct-current stimulation on neurosurgical skill acquisition: a randomized controlled trial. World Neurosurg 2017. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2017.08.123.

- [230] Doppelmayr M, Pixa NH, Steinberg F. Cerebellar, but not Motor or Parietal, High-Density Anodal Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation Facilitates Motor Adaptation. J Int Neuropsychol Soc JINS 2016;22:928–36. doi:10.1017/S1355617716000345.
- [231] Cole L, Giuffre A, Ciechanski P, Nettel-Aguirre A, Carlson HL, Zewdie E, et al. Effects of High-Definition and Conventional Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation on Motor Learning in Children Under review.
- [232] Reis J, Fischer JT, Prichard G, Weiller C, Cohen LG, Fritsch B. Time- but not sleepdependent consolidation of tDCS-enhanced visuomotor skills. Cereb Cortex N Y N 1991 2015;25:109–17. doi:10.1093/cercor/bht208.
- [233] Sherrington C. On the proprioceptive system, especially in its reflex aspect. Brain 1907;29:467–82.
- [234] McCloskey DI. Kinesthetic sensibility. Physiol Rev 1978;58:763-820.
- [235] Gandevia SC, Refshauge KM, Collins DF. Proprioception: peripheral inputs and perceptual interactions. Adv Exp Med Biol 2002;508:61–8.
- [236] Reinkensmeyer DJ, Emken JL, Cramer SC. Robotics, motor learning, and neurologic recovery. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2004;6:497–525. doi:10.1146/annurev.bioeng.6.040803.140223.
- [237] Krakauer JW. Motor learning: Its relevance to stroke recovery and neurorehabilitation. Curr Opin Neurol 2006;19:84–90.
- [238] Nelson KB, Lynch JK. Stroke in newborn infants. Lancet Neurol 2004;3:150–8.
- [239] Kirton A. Advancing non-invasive neuromodulation clinical trials in children: Lessons from perinatal stroke. Eur J Paediatr Neurol EJPN Off J Eur Paediatr Neurol Soc 2016. doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2016.07.002.
- [240] Woods AJ, Antal A, Bikson M, Boggio PS, Brunoni AR, Celnik P, et al. A technical guide to tDCS, and related non-invasive brain stimulation tools. Clin Neurophysiol Off J Int Fed Clin Neurophysiol 2016;127:1031–48. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2015.11.012.
- [241] Semrau JA, Wang JC, Herter TM, Scott SH, Dukelow SP. Relationship between visuospatial neglect and kinesthetic deficits after stroke. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2015;29:318–28. doi:10.1177/1545968314545173.
- [242] Scott SH, Cluff T, Lowrey CR, Takei T. Feedback control during voluntary motor actions. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2015;33:85–94. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2015.03.006.
- [243] Cluff T, Scott SH. Rapid feedback responses correlate with reach adaptation and properties of novel upper limb loads. J Neurosci Off J Soc Neurosci 2013;33:15903–14. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0263-13.2013.
- [244] Crevecoeur F, Scott SH. Priors engaged in long-latency responses to mechanical perturbations suggest a rapid update in state estimation. PLoS Comput Biol 2013;9:e1003177. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003177.
- [245] Fink AJP, Croce KR, Huang ZJ, Abbott LF, Jessell TM, Azim E. Presynaptic inhibition of spinal sensory feedback ensures smooth movement. Nature 2014;509:43–8. doi:10.1038/nature13276.
- [246] Patton JL, Mussa-Ivaldi FA. Robot-assisted adaptive training: custom force fields for teaching movement patterns. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2004;51:636–46. doi:10.1109/TBME.2003.821035.
- [247] Friel KM, Lee P, Soles LV, Smorenburg ARP, Kuo H-C, Edwards DJ. Combined transcranial Direct Current Stimulation and robotic upper limb therapy improves upper limb

function in an adult with cerebral palsy. NeuroRehabilitation 2017. doi:10.3233/NRE-171455.

- [248] Moura RCF, Santos C, Collange Grecco L, Albertini G, Cimolin V, Galli M, et al. Effects of a single session of transcranial direct current stimulation on upper limb movements in children with cerebral palsy: A randomized, sham-controlled study. Dev Neurorehabilitation 2017;20:368–75. doi:10.1080/17518423.2017.1282050.
- [249] Middleton A, Fritz SL, Liuzzo DM, Newman-Norlund R, Herter TM. Using clinical and robotic assessment tools to examine the feasibility of pairing tDCS with upper extremity physical therapy in patients with stroke and TBI: a consideration-of-concept pilot study. NeuroRehabilitation 2014;35:741–54. doi:10.3233/NRE-141178.
- [250] Alves-Pinto A, Ehrlich S, Cheng G, Turova V, Blumenstein T, Lampe R. Effects of short-term piano training on measures of finger tapping, somatosensory perception and motor-related brain activity in patients with cerebral palsy. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 2017;13:2705–18. doi:10.2147/NDT.S145104.
- [251] Ciechanski P, Kirton A. Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation (tDCS): Principles and Emerging Applications in Children. In: Kirton A, Gilbert D, editors. Pediatr. Brain Stimul. Mapp. Modul. Dev. Brain. 1st ed., Elsevier; 2016, p. 475.
- [252] Naito E, Roland PE, Grefkes C, Choi HJ, Eickhoff S, Geyer S, et al. Dominance of the right hemisphere and role of area 2 in human kinesthesia. J Neurophysiol 2005;93:1020–34. doi:10.1152/jn.00637.2004.
- [253] Rosen DS, Erickson B, Kim YE, Mirman D, Hamilton RH, Kounios J. Anodal tDCS to Right Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex Facilitates Performance for Novice Jazz Improvisers but Hinders Experts. Front Hum Neurosci 2016;10. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2016.00579.
- [254] Simonetti D, Zollo L, Milighetti S, Miccinilli S, Bravi M, Ranieri F, et al. Literature Review on the Effects of tDCS Coupled with Robotic Therapy in Post Stroke Upper Limb Rehabilitation. Front Hum Neurosci 2017;11:268. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2017.00268.
- [255] Hesse S, Waldner A, Mehrholz J, Tomelleri C, Pohl M, Werner C. Combined transcranial direct current stimulation and robot-assisted arm training in subacute stroke patients: an exploratory, randomized multicenter trial. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2011;25:838–46. doi:10.1177/1545968311413906.
- [256] Giacobbe V, Krebs HI, Volpe BT, Pascual-Leone A, Rykman A, Zeiarati G, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) and robotic practice in chronic stroke: the dimension of timing. NeuroRehabilitation 2013;33:49–56. doi:10.3233/NRE-130927.
- [257] Ochi M, Saeki S, Oda T, Matsushima Y, Hachisuka K. Effects of anodal and cathodal transcranial direct current stimulation combined with robotic therapy on severely affected arms in chronic stroke patients. J Rehabil Med 2013;45:137–40. doi:10.2340/16501977-1099.
- [258] Kenzie JM, Semrau JA, Findlater SE, Yu AY, Desai JA, Herter TM, et al. Localization of Impaired Kinesthetic Processing Post-stroke. Front Hum Neurosci 2016;10:505. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2016.00505.
- [259] Kang EK, Paik N-J. Effect of a tDCS electrode montage on implicit motor sequence learning in healthy subjects. Exp Transl Stroke Med 2011;3.
- [260] Robertson EM. The Serial Reaction Time Task: Implicit Motor Skill Learning? J Neurosci 2007;27:10073–5. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2747-07.2007.

- [261] Kang J, Cai E, Han J, Tong Z, Li X, Sokhadze EM, et al. Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS) Can Modulate EEG Complexity of Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Front Neurosci 2018;12:201. doi:10.3389/fnins.2018.00201.
- [262] Grecco LAC, Oliveira CS, Duarte N de AC, Lima VLCC, Zanon N, Fregni F. Cerebellar transcranial direct current stimulation in children with ataxic cerebral palsy: A shamcontrolled, crossover, pilot study. Dev Neurorehabilitation 2017;20:142–8. doi:10.3109/17518423.2016.1139639.
- [263] López-Alonso V, Cheeran B, Fernández-del-Olmo M. Relationship Between Noninvasive Brain Stimulation-induced Plasticity and Capacity for Motor Learning. Brain Stimulat 2015;8:1209–19. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2015.07.042.

Appendix A: Copy Right Permissions

2018-06-19

Faculty of Graduate Studies University of Calgary

Re: Letter of Permission to Reuse Published Work

To whom it may concern,

I, Dr. Adam Kirton, give permission to Lauran Cole to reuse the following manuscripts that I have coauthored in her thesis titled "Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children."

Effects of High-Definition and Conventional Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation on Motor Learning in Children

Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children

Sincerely,

Adam Kirton
Faculty of Graduate Studies University of Calgary

Re: Letter of Permission to Reuse Published Work

To whom it may concern,

I, Adrianna Giuffre, give permission to Lauran Cole to reuse the following manuscripts that I have coauthored in her thesis titled "Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children."

Effects of High-Definition and Conventional Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation on Motor Learning in Children

Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children

Sincerely,

Adrianna Giuffre

Faculty of Graduate Studies University of Calgary

Re: Letter of Permission to Reuse Published Work

To whom it may concern,

I, Dr. Patrick Ciechanski, give permission to Lauran Cole to reuse the following manuscripts that I have co-authored in her thesis titled "Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children."

Effects of High-Definition and Conventional Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation on Motor Learning in Children

Sincerely,

Patrick Ciechanski

Faculty of Graduate Studies University of Calgary

Re: Letter of Permission to Reuse Published Work

To whom it may concern,

I, Dr. Helen Carlson, give permission to Lauran Cole to reuse the following manuscripts that I have coauthored in her thesis titled "Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children."

Effects of High-Definition and Conventional Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation on Motor Learning in Children

Sincerely,

Helen Carlson

Faculty of Graduate Studies University of Calgary

Re: Letter of Permission to Reuse Published Work

To whom it may concern,

I, Dr. Hsing-Ching Kuo, give permission to Lauran Cole to reuse the following manuscripts that I have coauthored in her thesis titled "Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children."

Effects of High-Definition and Conventional Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation on Motor Learning in Children

Sincerely,

Hsing-Ching Kuo

Faculty of Graduate Studies University of Calgary

Re: Letter of Permission to Reuse Published Work

To whom it may concern,

I, Dr. Ephrem Zewdie, give permission to Lauran Cole to reuse the following manuscripts that I have coauthored in her thesis titled "Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children."

Effects of High-Definition and Conventional Transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation on Motor Learning in Children

Sincerely,

Ephrem Zewdie

Faculty of Graduate Studies University of Calgary

Re: Letter of Permission to Reuse Published Work

To whom it may concern,

I, Dr. Sean Dukelow, give permission to Lauran Cole to reuse the following manuscripts that I have coauthored in her thesis titled "Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children."

Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children

Sincerely,

Sean Dukelow

Faculty of Graduate Studies University of Calgary

Re: Letter of Permission to Reuse Published Work

To whom it may concern,

I, Dr. Alberto Nettel-Aguirre, give permission to Lauran Cole to reuse the following manuscripts that I have co-authored in her thesis titled "Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children."

Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children

Sincerely,

Alberto Nettel-Aguirre

Faculty of Graduate Studies University of Calgary

Re: Letter of Permission to Reuse Published Work

To whom it may concern,

I, Megan Metzler, give permission to Lauran Cole to reuse the following manuscripts that I have coauthored in her thesis titled "Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children."

Sensorimotor robotic measures of tDCS and HD-tDCS enhanced motor learning in children

Sincerely,

Megan Metzler